
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
NOVEMBER 8, 2022 

6 P.M. 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to order and welcome by Chairman Tate 
 
2. Announcements 

(A)  Chairman Tate Farewell  Message 
 

3. Moment of Silence 
 

4. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

5. Public Hearing(s) – None 
 

6. Public Comment Period 
 

7. Additions to agenda 
 

8. Adjustments to and approval of the agenda 
 

9. Reports/Presentations  
 

10. Old Business 
(A) Discussion regarding the contract for architectural services for 

Highlands Pre-K – County Manager Derek Roland 
 

11. New Business 
(A) Resolution for Operation Green Light honoring veterans – 

Veteran Services Director Leigh Tabor-Holbrooks 
(B) Consideration for release of performance guarantee for Phase I 

development for Gemstone Village Subdivision – Planning 
Director Joe Allen 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
(C) Consideration for release of performance guarantee for Phase II 

development for Gemstone Village Subdivision – Planning 
Director Joe Allen 

(D) Discussion on Sutton Broadcasting and Blue Ridge 
Broadcasting subleases for Cowee Bald – Emergency Services 
Director Warren Cabe 

(E) Resolution to apply for public transportation program funds – 
Macon Transit Director Darlene Asher 

(F) Site approval for pickleball courts at Macon County Recreation 
Park – Parks and Recreation Director Seth Adams 

(G) Resolution to exempt engineering services for groundwater 
monitoring and reporting for the Solid Waste Department from 
the provisions of Article 3D of Chapter 143 of the North 
Carolina General Statutes – Solid Waste  Environmental Field 
Specialist Jamie Picou 

(H) Resolution to exempt engineering services associated with the 
proposed turn lane required by NCDOT for the future Carson 
Convenience Center from the provisions of Article 3D of 
Chapter 143 of the North Carolina General Statutes – Solid 
Waste  Environmental Field Specialist Jamie Picou 

(I) Results and recommendation regarding the Request for 
Proposal for engineering services for the Solid Waste 
Department – Solid Waste Environmental Field Specialist 
Jamie Picou 

     
12. Consent Agenda – Attachment #12 

All items below are considered routine and will be enacted by one motion.  No 
separate discussion will be held except on request of a member of the Board of 
Commissioners. 
(A) Minutes of the October 11, 2022 regular meeting and the 

October 18, 2022 joint meeting with the Macon County Board of 
Education 

(B) Budget Amendments #86-98 
(C) Macon County Transit Driver Handbook 
(D) Scaly Mountain Recreation Agreement FY 22-23 
(E) Tax releases for the month of October in the amount of $682.34 
(F) Delinquent Tax Relief in the amount of $35,775.46 
(G) Monthly ad valorem tax collection report – no action necessary 

 
13. Appointments 

(A) Planning Board – 2 seats 
 

14. Closed session as allowed under NCGS   
 

15. Adjourn 



MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
CATEGORY – OLD BUSINESS 

 
 
MEETING DATE:  November 8, 2022  
 
10(A).   Mr. Roland will provide an update on the contract for architectural 

services for the Highlands Pre-K project (Derek Roland).  A copy of the 

draft contract and an email from Mr. Roland with requested changes is 

attached. 

 
 
 
 
         



Tammy Keezer

From: Derek Roland <droland@maconnc.org>
Sent: Friday, November 04, 2022 2:36 PM
To: 'Emily Kite'; 'Lori Hall'
Cc: 'Paul Boney'; 'Eric Ridenour'; tkeezer@maconnc.org
Subject: RE: Macon County Schools Highlands K-12

Emily, 
 
I hope you are doing well.  Macon County is requesting the following changes to the agreement prior to presenting the 
same to the Board of County Commissioners on November 8th:  
 

 Section 1.1.1.   Add the following after "see Exhibit A."  All phases in the Scope of Services 
atttached hereto as Exhibit A shall be approved separately by the Macon County Board 
of Commissioners." 

 Exhibit A, under fee.  delete "Approved Phases by BOCC:" and instead have that say: 
Each phase of this contract shall be separately voted upon and  approved by Resolution 
of the Macon County Board of Commissioners.  After payment in full of any previously 
approved and completed phase,  Macon County may elect to terminate this contract at 
any time and upon such election, no further compensation shall be due Architect. 

 Include School Board as a party to the agreement  
 Section 11.8.2. Change NTE acronym to state “Not to exceed” 

 
Please contact me with any questions.   
 
 
Regards, 

 
 
Derek C. Roland 
Macon County Manager 
5 W. Main St.  
 Franklin, NC 28734 
(828)‐349‐2022 
 



 AIA
®

 Document B101™ – 2017  

Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect 

 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

1 

 

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 

The author of this document 

has added information 

needed for its completion. 

The author may also have 

revised the text of the 

original AIA standard form. 

An Additions and Deletions 

Report that notes added 

information as well as 

revisions to the standard 

form text is available from 

the author and should be 

reviewed. 

This document has important 

legal consequences. 

Consultation with an 

attorney is encouraged with 

respect to its completion 

or modification. 

 

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 

portion of this AIA®  Document 

to another electronic file is 

prohibited and constitutes a 

violation of copyright laws 

as set forth in the footer of 

this document. 

AGREEMENT made as of the «Twenty-Seventh» day of «October» in the year «Two Thousand Twenty-Two» 

(In words, indicate day, month and year.) 
 

BETWEEN the Architect’s client identified as the Owner: 

(Name, legal status, address and other information) 
 

«Macon County Board of Commissioners  »«  » 

«5 West Main Street  » 

«Franklin, NC  28734»«  » 

 

and the Architect: 

(Name, legal status, address and other information) 
 

«LS3P ASSOCIATES LTD.  »«  » 

«2 West Washington Street, Suite 600 

Greenville, SC  29601» 

 

for the following Project: 

(Name, location and detailed description) 
 

«Macon County Schools – Highlands School» 

«545 Pierson Drive 

Highlands, NC  28741  » 

«LS3P Project:  3201-221600  » 

 

The Owner and Architect agree as follows:   



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

2 

 

TABLE OF ARTICLES 
 
1 INITIAL INFORMATION 
 
2 ARCHITECT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
3 SCOPE OF ARCHITECT’S BASIC SERVICES 
 
4 SUPPLEMENTAL AND ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 
5 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
6 COST OF THE WORK 
 
7 COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES 
 
8 CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
 
9 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION 
 
10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
11 COMPENSATION 
 
12 SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
13 SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT 
 

 

ARTICLE 1   INITIAL INFORMATION 
§ 1.1 This Agreement is based on the Initial Information set forth in this Section 1.1. 

(For each item in this section, insert the information or a statement such as “not applicable” or “unknown at time 
of execution.”) 
 

§ 1.1.1 The Owner’s program for the Project: 

 (Insert the Owner’s program, identify documentation that establishes the Owner’s program, or state the manner in 
which the program will be developed.) 
 

«See Exhibit A.  » 

 

§ 1.1.2 The Project’s physical characteristics: 

(Identify or describe pertinent information about the Project’s physical characteristics, such as size; location; 
dimensions; geotechnical reports; site boundaries; topographic surveys; traffic and utility studies; availability of 
public and private utilities and services; legal description of the site, etc.) 
 

«The project will be located on the existing Highlands School Campus.  » 

 

§ 1.1.3 The Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work, as defined in Section 6.1: 

(Provide total and, if known, a line item breakdown.) 
 

See Exhibit A.  » 

 

§ 1.1.4 The Owner’s anticipated design and construction milestone dates: 

 

.1 Design phase milestone dates, if any:  See Exhibit A. 

 

«  » 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

3 

 

 

.2 Construction commencement date: 

 

«  » 

          

.3 Substantial Completion date or dates: 

 

«  » 

  

.4 Other milestone dates: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.1.5 The Owner intends the following procurement and delivery method for the Project: 

(Identify method such as competitive bid or negotiated contract, as well as any requirements for accelerated or fast-
track design and construction, multiple bid packages, or phased construction.) 
 

«Design-Bid-Build or CM at Risk.  To be determined by the Owner. » 

 

§ 1.1.6 The Owner’s anticipated Sustainable Objective for the Project: 

(Identify and describe the Owner’s Sustainable Objective for the Project, if any.) 
 

«Follow the Codes and Laws of the State of North Carolina.  » 

   

 

§ 1.1.6.1 If the Owner identifies a Sustainable Objective, the Owner and Architect shall complete and incorporate 

AIA Document E204™–2017, Sustainable Projects Exhibit, into this Agreement to define the terms, conditions and 

services related to the Owner’s Sustainable Objective. If E204–2017 is incorporated into this agreement, the Owner 

and Architect shall incorporate the completed E204–2017 into the agreements with the consultants and contractors 

performing services or Work in any way associated with the Sustainable Objective. 
 

§ 1.1.7 The Owner identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 5.3: 

(List name, address, and other contact information.) 
 

«Derek Roland  » 

«Macon County Manager  » 

5 West Main Street 

Franklin, NC  28734« 

Tel:  828.349.2025 

 

§ 1.1.8 The persons or entities, in addition to the Owner’s representative, who are required to review the Architect’s 

submittals to the Owner are as follows: 

(List name, address, and other contact information.) 
 

«Owner will address  » 

 

§ 1.1.9 The Owner shall retain the following consultants and contractors: 

(List name, legal status, address, and other contact information.) 
 

.1 Geotechnical Engineer: 

 

« To be determined as authorized by the Owner. »«  » 

 

.2 Civil Engineer: 

 

«To be retained by LS3P.   » 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

4 

 

.3 Other, if any: 

 (List any other consultants and contractors retained by the Owner.) 
 

«  » 

 

§ 1.1.10 The Architect identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 2.3: 

(List name, address, and other contact information.) 
 

«Paul Davis Boney, FAIA, Senior Vice President  » 

LS3P ASSOCIATES LTD.  »«  » 

«227 West Trade Street, Suite 700  » 

«Charlotte, NC  28202 Tel:  910.520.0812 

«Email:  paulboney@ls3p.com  » 

 

§ 1.1.11 The Architect shall retain the consultants identified in Sections 1.1.11.1 and 1.1.11.2: 

(List name, legal status, address, and other contact information.) 
 

§ 1.1.11.1 Consultants retained under Basic Services: 

 

.1 Structural Engineer: 

 

«ARP Engineering  »«  » 

«P.O. Box 587  » 

«Monroe, NC  28111«  » 

 

.2 Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing Engineer: 

 

«CMTA of Kentucky, Inc.  »«  » 

«8801 J M Keynes Drive, Suite 240  » 

«Charlotte, NC  28262«  » 

 

.3 Civil Engineer: 

 

«WGLA Engineering, PLLC  »«  » 

«724 5th Avenue West  » 

«Hendersonville, NC  28739» 

 
.4 Cost Consultant: 

 

«McDonough Bolyard Peck, Inc. d/b/a MBP  »«  » 

«301 McCullough Drive  » 

«Charlotte, NC  28262«  » 

 

 

§ 1.1.11.2 Consultants retained under Supplemental Services: 

 

«None unless authorized in writing by Owner.  » 

 

§ 1.1.12 Other Initial Information on which the Agreement is based: 

 

«  » 

 

§ 1.2 The Owner and Architect may rely on the Initial Information. Both parties, however, recognize that the Initial 

Information may materially change and, in that event, the Owner and the Architect shall appropriately adjust the 

Architect’s services, schedule for the Architect’s services, and the Architect’s compensation. The Owner shall adjust 

the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work and the Owner’s anticipated design and construction milestones, as 

necessary, to accommodate material changes in the Initial Information. 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

5 

 

§ 1.3 The parties shall agree upon protocols governing the transmission and use of Instruments of Service or any 

other information or documentation in digital form. The parties will use AIA Document E203™–2013, Building 

Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, to establish the protocols for the development, use, transmission, 

and exchange of digital data. 

 

§ 1.3.1 Any use of, or reliance on, all or a portion of a building information model without agreement to protocols 

governing the use of, and reliance on, the information contained in the model and without having those protocols set 

forth in AIA Document E203™–2013, Building Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, and the requisite 

AIA Document G202™–2013, Project Building Information Modeling Protocol Form, shall be at the using or 

relying party’s sole risk and without liability to the other party and its contractors or consultants, the authors of, or 

contributors to, the building information model, and each of their agents and employees. 

 

ARTICLE 2   ARCHITECT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
§ 2.1 The Architect shall provide professional services as set forth in this Agreement. The Architect represents that it 

is properly licensed in the jurisdiction where the Project is located to provide the services required by this 

Agreement, or shall cause such services to be performed by appropriately licensed design professionals. 

 

§ 2.2 The Architect shall perform its services consistent with the professional skill and care ordinarily provided by 

architects practicing in the same or similar locality under the same or similar circumstances. The Architect shall 

perform its services as expeditiously as is consistent with such professional skill and care and the orderly progress of 

the Project. 

 

§ 2.3 The Architect shall identify a representative authorized to act on behalf of the Architect with respect to the 

Project. 

 

§ 2.4 Except with the Owner’s knowledge and consent, the Architect shall not engage in any activity, or accept any 

employment, interest or contribution that would reasonably appear to compromise the Architect’s professional 

judgment with respect to this Project. 

 

§ 2.5 The Architect shall maintain the following insurance until termination of this Agreement. If any of the 

requirements set forth below are in addition to the types and limits the Architect normally maintains, the Owner 

shall pay the Architect as set forth in Section 11.9. 

 

§ 2.5.1 Commercial General Liability with policy limits of not less than «ONE MILLION and NO /100 DOLLARS  

» ($ «1,000,000.00» ) for each occurrence and «TWO MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ «2,000,000.00  » ) in 

the aggregate for bodily injury and property damage. 

 

§ 2.5.2 Automobile Liability covering vehicles owned, and non-owned vehicles used, by the Architect with policy 

limits of not less than «ONE MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ «1,000,000.00  » ) combined single limit for 

per accident for bodily injury, death of any person, and property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance 

and use of those motor vehicles, along with any other statutorily required automobile coverage. 

 

§ 2.5.3 The Architect may achieve the required limits and coverage for Commercial General Liability and 

Automobile Liability through a combination of primary and excess or umbrella liability insurance, provided such 

primary and excess or umbrella liability insurance policies result in the same or greater coverage as the coverages 

required under Sections 2.5.1 and 2.5.2, and in no event shall any excess or umbrella liability insurance provide 

narrower coverage than the primary policy. The excess policy shall not require the exhaustion of the underlying 

limits only through the actual payment by the underlying insurers. 

 

§ 2.5.4 Workers’ Compensation at statutory limits. 

 

§ 2.5.5 Employers’ Liability with policy limits not less than «ONE MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ 

«1,000,000.00» ) each accident, «ONE MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ «1,000,000.00» ) each employee, 

and «ONE MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ «1,000,000.00» ) policy limit. 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

6 

 

§ 2.5.6 Professional Liability covering negligent acts, errors and omissions in the performance of professional 

services with policy limits of not less than «ONE MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ «1,000,000.00  » ) per 

claim and «ONE MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS» ($ «1,000,000.00» ) in the aggregate. 

 

§ 2.5.7 Additional Insured Obligations. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Architect shall cause the primary 

and excess or umbrella polices for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability to include the Owner as 

an additional insured for claims caused in whole or in part by the Architect’s negligent acts or omissions. The 

additional insured coverage shall be primary and non-contributory to any of the Owner’s insurance policies and shall 

apply to both ongoing and completed operations. 

 

§ 2.5.8 The Architect shall provide certificates of insurance to the Owner that evidence compliance with the 

requirements in this Section 2.5. 

 

ARTICLE 3   SCOPE OF ARCHITECT’S BASIC SERVICES 
§ 3.1 The Architect’s Basic Services consist of those described in this Article 3 and include usual and customary 

structural, mechanical, and electrical engineering services. Services not set forth in this Article 3 are Supplemental 

or Additional Services. 

 

§ 3.1.1 The Architect shall manage the Architect’s services, research applicable design criteria, attend Project 

meetings, communicate with members of the Project team, and report progress to the Owner. 

 

§ 3.1.2 The Architect shall coordinate its services with those services provided by the Owner and the Owner’s 

consultants. The Architect shall be entitled to rely on, and shall not be responsible for, the accuracy, completeness, 

and timeliness of, services and information furnished by the Owner and the Owner’s consultants. The Architect shall 

provide prompt written notice to the Owner if the Architect becomes aware of any error, omission, or inconsistency 

in such services or information. 

 

§ 3.1.3 As soon as practicable after the date of this Agreement, the Architect shall submit for the Owner’s approval a 

schedule for the performance of the Architect’s services. The schedule initially shall include anticipated dates for the 

commencement of construction and for Substantial Completion of the Work as set forth in the Initial Information. 

The schedule shall include allowances for periods of time required for the Owner’s review, for the performance of 

the Owner’s consultants, and for approval of submissions by authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. Once 

approved by the Owner, time limits established by the schedule shall not, except for reasonable cause, be exceeded 

by the Architect or Owner. With the Owner’s approval, the Architect shall adjust the schedule, if necessary, as the 

Project proceeds until the commencement of construction. 

 

§ 3.1.4 The Architect shall not be responsible for an Owner’s directive or substitution, or for the Owner’s acceptance 

of non-conforming Work, made or given without the Architect’s written approval. 

 

§ 3.1.5 The Architect shall contact governmental authorities required to approve the Construction Documents and 

entities providing utility services to the Project. The Architect shall respond to applicable design requirements 

imposed by those authorities and entities. 

 

§ 3.1.6 The Architect shall assist the Owner in connection with the Owner’s responsibility for filing documents 

required for the approval of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. 

 

§ 3.2 Schematic Design Phase Services 
§ 3.2.1 The Architect shall review the program and other information furnished by the Owner, and shall review 

laws, codes, and regulations applicable to the Architect’s services. 

 

§ 3.2.2 The Architect shall prepare a preliminary evaluation of the Owner’s program, schedule, budget for the Cost 

of the Work, Project site, the proposed procurement and delivery method, and other Initial Information, each in 

terms of the other, to ascertain the requirements of the Project. The Architect shall notify the Owner of (1) any 

inconsistencies discovered in the information, and (2) other information or consulting services that may be 

reasonably needed for the Project. 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

7 

 

§ 3.2.3 The Architect shall present its preliminary evaluation to the Owner and shall discuss with the Owner 

alternative approaches to design and construction of the Project. The Architect shall reach an understanding with the 

Owner regarding the requirements of the Project. 

 

§ 3.2.4 Based on the Project requirements agreed upon with the Owner, the Architect shall prepare and present, for 

the Owner’s approval, a preliminary design illustrating the scale and relationship of the Project components. 

 

§ 3.2.5 Based on the Owner’s approval of the preliminary design, the Architect shall prepare Schematic Design 

Documents for the Owner’s approval. The Schematic Design Documents shall consist of drawings and other 

documents including a site plan, if appropriate, and preliminary building plans, sections and elevations; and may 

include some combination of study models, perspective sketches, or digital representations. Preliminary selections 

of major building systems and construction materials shall be noted on the drawings or described in writing. 

 

§ 3.2.5.1 The Architect shall consider sustainable design alternatives, such as material choices and building 

orientation, together with other considerations based on program and aesthetics, in developing a design that is 

consistent with the Owner’s program, schedule and budget for the Cost of the Work. The Owner may obtain more 

advanced sustainable design services as a Supplemental Service under Section 4.1.1. 

 

§ 3.2.5.2 The Architect shall consider the value of alternative materials, building systems and equipment, together 

with other considerations based on program and aesthetics, in developing a design for the Project that is consistent 

with the Owner’s program, schedule, and budget for the Cost of the Work. 

 

§ 3.2.6 The Architect shall submit to the Owner an estimate of the Cost of the Work prepared in accordance with 

Section 6.3. 

 

§ 3.2.7 The Architect shall submit the Schematic Design Documents to the Owner, and request the Owner’s 

approval. 

 

§ 3.3 Design Development Phase Services 
§ 3.3.1 Based on the Owner’s approval of the Schematic Design Documents, and on the Owner’s authorization of 

any adjustments in the Project requirements and the budget for the Cost of the Work, the Architect shall prepare 

Design Development Documents for the Owner’s approval. The Design Development Documents shall illustrate and 

describe the development of the approved Schematic Design Documents and shall consist of drawings and other 

documents including plans, sections, elevations, typical construction details, and diagrammatic layouts of building 

systems to fix and describe the size and character of the Project as to architectural, structural, mechanical and 

electrical systems, and other appropriate elements. The Design Development Documents shall also include outline 

specifications that identify major materials and systems and establish, in general, their quality levels. 

 

§ 3.3.2 The Architect shall update the estimate of the Cost of the Work prepared in accordance with Section 6.3. 
 

§ 3.3.3 The Architect shall submit the Design Development Documents to the Owner, advise the Owner of any 

adjustments to the estimate of the Cost of the Work, and request the Owner’s approval. 
 
§ 3.4 Construction Documents Phase Services 
§ 3.4.1 Based on the Owner’s approval of the Design Development Documents, and on the Owner’s authorization of 

any adjustments in the Project requirements and the budget for the Cost of the Work, the Architect shall prepare 

Construction Documents for the Owner’s approval. The Construction Documents shall illustrate and describe the 

further development of the approved Design Development Documents and shall consist of Drawings and 

Specifications setting forth in detail the quality levels and performance criteria of materials and systems and other 

requirements for the construction of the Work. The Owner and Architect acknowledge that, in order to perform the 

Work, the Contractor will provide additional information, including Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and 

other similar submittals, which the Architect shall review in accordance with Section 3.6.4. 

 

§ 3.4.2 The Architect shall incorporate the design requirements of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 

the Project into the Construction Documents. 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

8 

 

§ 3.4.3 During the development of the Construction Documents, the Architect shall assist the Owner in the 

development and preparation of (1) procurement information that describes the time, place, and conditions of 

bidding, including bidding or proposal forms; (2) the form of agreement between the Owner and Contractor; and (3) 

the Conditions of the Contract for Construction (General, Supplementary and other Conditions). The Architect shall 

also compile a project manual that includes the Conditions of the Contract for Construction and Specifications, and 

may include bidding requirements and sample forms. 

 

§ 3.4.4 The Architect shall update the estimate for the Cost of the Work prepared in accordance with Section 6.3. 

 

§ 3.4.5 The Architect shall submit the Construction Documents to the Owner, advise the Owner of any adjustments 

to the estimate of the Cost of the Work, take any action required under Section 6.5, and request the Owner’s 

approval. 

 

§ 3.5 Procurement Phase Services 
§ 3.5.1 General 
The Architect shall assist the Owner in establishing a list of prospective contractors. Following the Owner’s 

approval of the Construction Documents, the Architect shall assist the Owner in (1) obtaining either competitive 

bids or negotiated proposals; (2) confirming responsiveness of bids or proposals; (3) determining the successful bid 

or proposal, if any; and, (4) awarding and preparing contracts for construction. 

 
§ 3.5.2 Competitive Bidding 
§ 3.5.2.1 Bidding Documents shall consist of bidding requirements and proposed Contract Documents. 
 

§ 3.5.2.2 The Architect shall assist the Owner in bidding the Project by: 

.1 facilitating the distribution of Bidding Documents to prospective bidders; 

.2 organizing and conducting a pre-bid conference for prospective bidders; 

.3 preparing responses to questions from prospective bidders and providing clarifications and 

interpretations of the Bidding Documents to the prospective bidders in the form of addenda; and, 

.4 organizing and conducting the opening of the bids, and subsequently documenting and distributing 

the bidding results, as directed by the Owner. 

 

§ 3.5.2.3 If the Bidding Documents permit substitutions, upon the Owner’s written authorization, the Architect shall, 

as an Additional Service, consider requests for substitutions and prepare and distribute addenda identifying approved 

substitutions to all prospective bidders. 
 

§ 3.5.3 Negotiated Proposals 
§ 3.5.3.1   Proposal Documents shall consist of proposal requirements and proposed Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.5.3.2 The Architect shall assist the Owner in obtaining proposals by: 

.1 facilitating the distribution of Proposal Documents for distribution to prospective contractors and 

requesting their return upon completion of the negotiation process; 

.2 organizing and participating in selection interviews with prospective contractors; 

.3 preparing responses to questions from prospective contractors and providing clarifications and 

interpretations of the Proposal Documents to the prospective contractors in the form of addenda; and, 

.4 participating in negotiations with prospective contractors, and subsequently preparing a summary 

report of the negotiation results, as directed by the Owner. 

 

§ 3.5.3.3 If the Proposal Documents permit substitutions, upon the Owner’s written authorization, the Architect 

shall, as an Additional Service, consider requests for substitutions and prepare and distribute addenda identifying 

approved substitutions to all prospective contractors. 

 

§ 3.6 Construction Phase Services 
§ 3.6.1 General 
§ 3.6.1.1 The Architect shall provide administration of the Contract between the Owner and the Contractor as set 

forth below and in AIA Document A201™–2017, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction. If the Owner 

and Contractor modify AIA Document A201–2017, those modifications shall not affect the Architect’s services 

under this Agreement unless the Owner and the Architect amend this Agreement. 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

9 

 

 
§ 3.6.1.2 The Architect shall advise and consult with the Owner during the Construction Phase Services. The 

Architect shall have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in this Agreement. The 

Architect shall not have control over, charge of, or responsibility for the construction means, methods, techniques, 

sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work, nor shall the 

Architect be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the requirements of the 

Contract Documents. The Architect shall be responsible for the Architect’s negligent acts or omissions, but shall not 

have control over or charge of, and shall not be responsible for, acts or omissions of the Contractor or of any other 

persons or entities performing portions of the Work. 
 
§ 3.6.1.3  Subject to Section 4.2 and except as provided in Section 3.6.6.5, the Architect’s responsibility to provide 

Construction Phase Services commences with the award of the Contract for Construction and terminates on the date 

the Architect issues the final Certificate for Payment. 

 
§ 3.6.2 Evaluations of the Work 
§ 3.6.2.1 The Architect shall visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, or as otherwise 

required in Section 4.2.3, to become generally familiar with the progress and quality of the portion of the Work 

completed, and to determine, in general, if the Work observed is being performed in a manner indicating that the 

Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with the Contract Documents. However, the Architect shall not 

be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. On 

the basis of the site visits, the Architect shall keep the Owner reasonably informed about the progress and quality of 

the portion of the Work completed, and promptly report to the Owner (1) known deviations from the Contract 

Documents, (2) known deviations from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor, and (3) 

defects and deficiencies observed in the Work. 

 
§ 3.6.2.2 The Architect has the authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever 

the Architect considers it necessary or advisable, the Architect shall have the authority to require inspection or 

testing of the Work in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents, whether or not the Work is 

fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith 

either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Architect to the 

Contractor, Subcontractors, suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons or entities performing portions of 

the Work. 

 

§ 3.6.2.3 The Architect shall interpret and decide matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the 

Contract Documents on written request of either the Owner or Contractor. The Architect’s response to such requests 

shall be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness. 

 

§ 3.6.2.4  Interpretations and decisions of the Architect shall be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably 

inferable from, the Contract Documents and shall be in writing or in the form of drawings. When making such 

interpretations and decisions, the Architect shall endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and 

Contractor, shall not show partiality to either, and shall not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions 

rendered in good faith. The Architect’s decisions on matters relating to aesthetic effect shall be final if consistent 

with the intent expressed in the Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.6.2.5  Unless the Owner and Contractor designate another person to serve as an Initial Decision Maker, as that 

term is defined in AIA Document A201–2017, the Architect shall render initial decisions on Claims between the 

Owner and Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.6.3 Certificates for Payment to Contractor 
§ 3.6.3.1 The Architect shall review and certify the amounts due the Contractor and shall issue certificates in such 

amounts. The Architect’s certification for payment shall constitute a representation to the Owner, based on the 

Architect’s evaluation of the Work as provided in Section 3.6.2 and on the data comprising the Contractor’s 

Application for Payment, that, to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, the Work has 

progressed to the point indicated, the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents, and that the 

Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified. The foregoing representations are subject to (1) an 

evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract Documents upon Substantial Completion, (2) results of 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

10 

 

subsequent tests and inspections, (3) correction of minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to 

completion, and (4) specific qualifications expressed by the Architect. 
 

§ 3.6.3.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment shall not be a representation that the Architect has (1) made 

exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work, (2) reviewed construction 

means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies of requisitions received from 

Subcontractors and suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor’s right to 

payment, or (4) ascertained how or for what purpose the Contractor has used money previously paid on account of 

the Contract Sum. 

 
§ 3.6.3.3 The Architect shall maintain a record of the Applications and Certificates for Payment. 
 
§ 3.6.4 Submittals 
§ 3.6.4.1 The Architect shall review the Contractor’s submittal schedule and shall not unreasonably delay or 

withhold approval of the schedule. The Architect’s action in reviewing submittals shall be taken in accordance with 

the approved submittal schedule or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with reasonable promptness 

while allowing sufficient time, in the Architect’s professional judgment, to permit adequate review. 

 
§ 3.6.4.2 The Architect shall review and approve, or take other appropriate action upon, the Contractor’s submittals 

such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, but only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance 

with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Review of such submittals is 

not for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other information such as dimensions, 

quantities, and installation or performance of equipment or systems, which are the Contractor’s responsibility. The 

Architect’s review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or construction means, methods, techniques, 

sequences or procedures. The Architect’s approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of 

which the item is a component. 
 
§ 3.6.4.3 If the Contract Documents specifically require the Contractor to provide professional design services or 

certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials, or equipment, the Architect shall specify the 

appropriate performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Architect shall review and take 

appropriate action on Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by the 

Contractor’s design professional, provided the submittals bear such professional’s seal and signature when 

submitted to the Architect. The Architect’s review shall be for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 

information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Architect shall be entitled to 

rely upon, and shall not be responsible for, the adequacy and accuracy of the services, certifications, and approvals 

performed or provided by such design professionals. 

 

§ 3.6.4.4 Subject to Section 4.2, the Architect shall review and respond to requests for information about the 

Contract Documents. The Architect shall set forth, in the Contract Documents, the requirements for requests for 

information. Requests for information shall include, at a minimum, a detailed written statement that indicates the 

specific Drawings or Specifications in need of clarification and the nature of the clarification requested. The 

Architect’s response to such requests shall be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon, or otherwise with 

reasonable promptness. If appropriate, the Architect shall prepare and issue supplemental Drawings and 

Specifications in response to the requests for information. 

 
§ 3.6.4.5 The Architect shall maintain a record of submittals and copies of submittals supplied by the Contractor in 

accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.6.5 Changes in the Work 
§ 3.6.5.1 The Architect may order minor changes in the Work that are consistent with the intent of the Contract 

Documents and do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Sum or an extension of the Contract Time. Subject to 

Section 4.2, the Architect shall prepare Change Orders and Construction Change Directives for the Owner’s 

approval and execution in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.6.5.2 The Architect shall maintain records relative to changes in the Work. 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

11 

 

§ 3.6.6 Project Completion 
§ 3.6.6.1 The Architect shall: 

.1 conduct inspections to determine the date or dates of Substantial Completion and the date of final 

completion; 

.2 issue Certificates of Substantial Completion; 

.3 forward to the Owner, for the Owner’s review and records, written warranties and related documents 

required by the Contract Documents and received from the Contractor; and, 

.4 issue a final Certificate for Payment based upon a final inspection indicating that, to the best of the 

Architect’s knowledge, information, and belief, the Work complies with the requirements of the 

Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.6.6.2 The Architect’s inspections shall be conducted with the Owner to check conformance of the Work with the 

requirements of the Contract Documents and to verify the accuracy and completeness of the list submitted by the 

Contractor of Work to be completed or corrected. 

 

§ 3.6.6.3 When Substantial Completion has been achieved, the Architect shall inform the Owner about the balance 

of the Contract Sum remaining to be paid the Contractor, including the amount to be retained from the Contract 

Sum, if any, for final completion or correction of the Work. 

 

§ 3.6.6.4 The Architect shall forward to the Owner the following information received from the Contractor: (1) 

consent of surety or sureties, if any, to reduction in or partial release of retainage or the making of final payment; (2) 

affidavits, receipts, releases and waivers of liens, or bonds indemnifying the Owner against liens; and (3) any other 

documentation required of the Contractor under the Contract Documents. 

 

§ 3.6.6.5 Upon request of the Owner, and prior to the expiration of one year from the date of Substantial 

Completion, the Architect shall, without additional compensation, conduct a meeting with the Owner to review the 

facility operations and performance. 

 

ARTICLE 4   SUPPLEMENTAL AND ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
§ 4.1 Supplemental Services 
§ 4.1.1 The services listed below are not included in Basic Services but may be required for the Project. The 

Architect shall provide the listed Supplemental Services only if specifically designated in the table below as the 

Architect’s responsibility, and the Owner shall compensate the Architect as provided in Section 11.2. Unless 

otherwise specifically addressed in this Agreement, if neither the Owner nor the Architect is designated, the parties 

agree that the listed Supplemental Service is not being provided for the Project. 

(Designate the Architect’s Supplemental Services and the Owner’s Supplemental Services required for the Project 
by indicating whether the Architect or Owner shall be responsible for providing the identified Supplemental Service. 
Insert a description of the Supplemental Services in Section 4.1.2 below or attach the description of services as an 
exhibit to this Agreement.) 
 

Supplemental Services Responsibility 
(Architect, Owner, or not provided) 

§ 4.1.1.1 Programming Architect  

§ 4.1.1.2 Multiple preliminary designs Architect 

§ 4.1.1.3 Measured drawings Owner 

§ 4.1.1.4 Existing facilities surveys Owner 

§ 4.1.1.5 Site evaluation and planning Architect 

§ 4.1.1.6 Building Information Model management 

 responsibilities  
Architect 

§ 4.1.1.7 Development of Building Information Models for 

 post construction use 
Architect 

§ 4.1.1.8 Civil engineering Architect 

§ 4.1.1.9 Landscape design Architect 

§ 4.1.1.10 Architectural interior design Architect 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

12 

 

Supplemental Services Responsibility 
(Architect, Owner, or not provided) 

§ 4.1.1.11 Value analysis Architect 

§ 4.1.1.12 Detailed cost estimating beyond that 

 required in Section 6.3 
Owner 

§ 4.1.1.13 On-site project representation One (1) visit per week 

§ 4.1.1.14 Conformed documents for construction Contractor 

§ 4.1.1.15 As-designed record drawings Contractor 

§ 4.1.1.16 As-constructed record drawings Contractor 

§ 4.1.1.17 Post-occupancy evaluation Architect 

§ 4.1.1.18 Facility support services Owner 

§ 4.1.1.19 Tenant-related services N/A 

§ 4.1.1.20 Architect’s coordination of the Owner’s 

 consultants 
Architect / Owner 

§ 4.1.1.21 Telecommunications/data design Architect – conduit only 

§ 4.1.1.22 Security evaluation and planning Architect – conduit only 

§ 4.1.1.23 Commissioning Third Party 

§ 4.1.1.24 Sustainable Project Services pursuant to Section 

 4.1.3 
N/A 

§ 4.1.1.25 Fast-track design services Architect – additional services 

§ 4.1.1.26 Multiple bid packages Architect 

§ 4.1.1.27 Historic preservation Owner 

§ 4.1.1.28 Furniture, furnishings, and equipment design Owner 

§ 4.1.1.29 Other services provided by specialty Consultants Owner 

§ 4.1.1.30 Other Supplemental Services Owner 

  

 

§ 4.1.2 Description of Supplemental Services 
§ 4.1.2.1 A description of each Supplemental Service identified in Section 4.1.1 as the Architect’s responsibility is 

provided below. 

(Describe in detail the Architect’s Supplemental Services identified in Section 4.1.1 or, if set forth in an exhibit, 
identify the exhibit. The AIA publishes a number of Standard Form of Architect’s Services documents that can be 
included as an exhibit to describe the Architect’s Supplemental Services.) 
 

«None unless authorized in writing by Owner.  » 

 

§ 4.1.2.2 A description of each Supplemental Service identified in Section 4.1.1 as the Owner’s responsibility is 

provided below. 

(Describe in detail the Owner’s Supplemental Services identified in Section 4.1.1 or, if set forth in an exhibit, 
identify the exhibit.) 
 

«None unless authorized in writing by Owner.  » 

 

§ 4.1.3 If the Owner identified a Sustainable Objective in Article 1, the Architect shall provide, as a Supplemental 

Service, the Sustainability Services required in AIA Document E204™–2017, Sustainable Projects Exhibit, attached 

to this Agreement. The Owner shall compensate the Architect as provided in Section 11.2. 
 

§ 4.2 Architect’s Additional Services 
The Architect may provide Additional Services after execution of this Agreement without invalidating the 

Agreement. Except for services required due to the fault of the Architect, any Additional Services provided in 

accordance with this Section 4.2 shall entitle the Architect to compensation pursuant to Section 11.3 and an 

appropriate adjustment in the Architect’s schedule. 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

13 

 

 

§ 4.2.1 Upon recognizing the need to perform the following Additional Services, the Architect shall notify the 

Owner with reasonable promptness and explain the facts and circumstances giving rise to the need. The Architect 

shall not proceed to provide the following Additional Services until the Architect receives the Owner’s written 

authorization: 

.1 Services necessitated by a change in the Initial Information, previous instructions or approvals given 

by the Owner, or a material change in the Project including size, quality, complexity, the Owner’s 

schedule or budget for Cost of the Work, or procurement or delivery method; 
.2 Services necessitated by the enactment or revision of codes, laws, or regulations, including changing 

or editing previously prepared Instruments of Service; 

.3 Changing or editing previously prepared Instruments of Service necessitated by official 

interpretations of applicable codes, laws or regulations that are either (a) contrary to specific 

interpretations by the applicable authorities having jurisdiction made prior to the issuance of the 

building permit, or (b) contrary to requirements of the Instruments of Service when those Instruments 

of Service were prepared in accordance with the applicable standard of care; 

.4 Services necessitated by decisions of the Owner not rendered in a timely manner or any other failure 

of performance on the part of the Owner or the Owner’s consultants or contractors; 

.5 Preparing digital models or other design documentation for transmission to the Owner’s consultants 

and contractors, or to other Owner-authorized recipients; 

.6 Preparation of design and documentation for alternate bid or proposal requests proposed by the 

Owner; 

.7 Preparation for, and attendance at, a dispute resolution proceeding or legal proceeding, except where 

the Architect is party thereto; 

.8 Evaluation of the qualifications of entities providing bids or proposals; 

.9 Consultation concerning replacement of Work resulting from fire or other cause during construction; 

or, 

.10 Assistance to the Initial Decision Maker, if other than the Architect. 
 

§ 4.2.2 To avoid delay in the Construction Phase, the Architect shall provide the following Additional Services, 

notify the Owner with reasonable promptness, and explain the facts and circumstances giving rise to the need. If, 

upon receipt of the Architect’s notice, the Owner determines that all or parts of the services are not required, the 

Owner shall give prompt written notice to the Architect of the Owner’s determination. The Owner shall compensate 

the Architect for the services provided prior to the Architect’s receipt of the Owner’s notice. 

.1 Reviewing a Contractor’s submittal out of sequence from the submittal schedule approved by the 

Architect; 

.2 Responding to the Contractor’s requests for information that are not prepared in accordance with the 

Contract Documents or where such information is available to the Contractor from a careful study 

and comparison of the Contract Documents, field conditions, other Owner-provided information, 

Contractor-prepared coordination drawings, or prior Project correspondence or documentation; 

.3 Preparing Change Orders and Construction Change Directives that require evaluation of Contractor’s 

proposals and supporting data, or the preparation or revision of Instruments of Service; 

.4 Evaluating an extensive number of Claims as the Initial Decision Maker; or, 

.5 Evaluating substitutions proposed by the Owner or Contractor and making subsequent revisions to 

Instruments of Service resulting therefrom. 

 

§ 4.2.3 The Architect shall provide Construction Phase Services exceeding the limits set forth below as Additional 

Services. When the limits below are reached, the Architect shall notify the Owner: 

.1 «two» ( «2» ) reviews of each Shop Drawing, Product Data item, sample and similar submittals of the 

Contractor 

.2 «one» ( «1» ) site visit per week to the site by the Architect during construction 

.3 «one» ( «1» ) inspections for any portion of the Work to determine whether such portion of the Work 

is substantially complete in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents 

.4 «one» ( «1» ) inspections for any portion of the Work to determine final completion. 

 

§ 4.2.4 Except for services required under Section 3.6.6.5 and those services that do not exceed the limits set forth in 

Section 4.2.3, Construction Phase Services provided more than 60 days after (1) the date of Substantial Completion 

of the Work or (2) the initial date of Substantial Completion identified in the agreement between the Owner and 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

14 

 

Contractor, whichever is earlier, shall be compensated as Additional Services to the extent the Architect incurs 

additional cost in providing those Construction Phase Services. 

 

§ 4.2.5 If the services covered by this Agreement have not been completed within «forty-eight» ( «48» ) months of 

the date of this Agreement, through no fault of the Architect, extension of the Architect’s services beyond that time 

shall be compensated as Additional Services. 

 

ARTICLE 5   OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
§ 5.1 Unless otherwise provided for under this Agreement, the Owner shall provide information in a timely manner 

regarding requirements for and limitations on the Project, including a written program, which shall set forth the 

Owner’s objectives; schedule; constraints and criteria, including space requirements and relationships; flexibility; 

expandability; special equipment; systems; and site requirements. 
 

§ 5.2 The Owner shall establish the Owner’s budget for the Project, including (1) the budget for the Cost of the 

Work as defined in Section 6.1; (2) the Owner’s other costs; and, (3) reasonable contingencies related to all of these 

costs. The Owner shall update the Owner’s budget for the Project as necessary throughout the duration of the Project 

until final completion. If the Owner significantly increases or decreases the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the 

Work, the Owner shall notify the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall thereafter agree to a corresponding 

change in the Project’s scope and quality. 
 

§ 5.3 The Owner shall identify a representative authorized to act on the Owner’s behalf with respect to the Project. 

The Owner shall render decisions and approve the Architect’s submittals in a timely manner in order to avoid 

unreasonable delay in the orderly and sequential progress of the Architect’s services. 
 

§ 5.4 The Owner shall furnish surveys to describe physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for 

the site of the Project, and a written legal description of the site. The surveys and legal information shall include, as 

applicable, grades and lines of streets, alleys, pavements and adjoining property and structures; designated wetlands; 

adjacent drainage; rights-of-way, restrictions, easements, encroachments, zoning, deed restrictions, boundaries and 

contours of the site; locations, dimensions, and other necessary data with respect to existing buildings, other 

improvements and trees; and information concerning available utility services and lines, both public and private, 

above and below grade, including inverts and depths. All the information on the survey shall be referenced to a 

Project benchmark. 
 

§ 5.5 The Owner shall furnish services of geotechnical engineers, which may include test borings, test pits, 

determinations of soil bearing values, percolation tests, evaluations of hazardous materials, seismic evaluation, 

ground corrosion tests and resistivity tests, including necessary operations for anticipating subsoil conditions, with 

written reports and appropriate recommendations. 

 

§ 5.6 The Owner shall provide the Supplemental Services designated as the Owner’s responsibility in Section 4.1.1. 

 

§ 5.7 If the Owner identified a Sustainable Objective in Article 1, the Owner shall fulfill its responsibilities as 

required in AIA Document E204™–2017, Sustainable Projects Exhibit, attached to this Agreement. 
 

§ 5.8 The Owner shall coordinate the services of its own consultants with those services provided by the Architect. 

Upon the Architect’s request, the Owner shall furnish copies of the scope of services in the contracts between the 

Owner and the Owner’s consultants. The Owner shall furnish the services of consultants other than those designated 

as the responsibility of the Architect in this Agreement, or authorize the Architect to furnish them as an Additional 

Service, when the Architect requests such services and demonstrates that they are reasonably required by the scope 

of the Project. The Owner shall require that its consultants and contractors maintain insurance, including 

professional liability insurance, as appropriate to the services or work provided. 

 

§ 5.9 The Owner shall furnish tests, inspections and reports required by law or the Contract Documents, such as 

structural, mechanical, and chemical tests, tests for air and water pollution, and tests for hazardous materials. 
 

§ 5.10 The Owner shall furnish all legal, insurance and accounting services, including auditing services, that may be 

reasonably necessary at any time for the Project to meet the Owner’s needs and interests. 
 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

15 

 

§ 5.11 The Owner shall provide prompt written notice to the Architect if the Owner becomes aware of any fault or 

defect in the Project, including errors, omissions or inconsistencies in the Architect’s Instruments of Service. 

 

§ 5.12 The Owner shall include the Architect in all communications with the Contractor that relate to or affect the 

Architect’s services or professional responsibilities. The Owner shall promptly notify the Architect of the substance 

of any direct communications between the Owner and the Contractor otherwise relating to the Project. 

Communications by and with the Architect’s consultants shall be through the Architect. 

 

§ 5.13 Before executing the Contract for Construction, the Owner shall coordinate the Architect’s duties and 

responsibilities set forth in the Contract for Construction with the Architect’s services set forth in this Agreement. 

The Owner shall provide the Architect a copy of the executed agreement between the Owner and Contractor, 

including the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction. 

 

§ 5.14 The Owner shall provide the Architect access to the Project site prior to commencement of the Work and 

shall obligate the Contractor to provide the Architect access to the Work wherever it is in preparation or progress. 

 
§ 5.15 Within 15 days after receipt of a written request from the Architect, the Owner shall furnish the requested 

information as necessary and relevant for the Architect to evaluate, give notice of, or enforce lien rights. 

 

ARTICLE 6   COST OF THE WORK 
§ 6.1 For purposes of this Agreement, the Cost of the Work shall be the total cost to the Owner to construct all 

elements of the Project designed or specified by the Architect and shall include contractors’ general conditions costs, 

overhead and profit. The Cost of the Work also includes the reasonable value of labor, materials, and equipment, 

donated to, or otherwise furnished by, the Owner. The Cost of the Work does not include the compensation of the 

Architect; the costs of the land, rights-of-way, financing, or contingencies for changes in the Work; or other costs 

that are the responsibility of the Owner. 

 

§ 6.2 The Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work is provided in Initial Information, and shall be adjusted 

throughout the Project as required under Sections 5.2, 6.4 and 6.5. Evaluations of the Owner’s budget for the Cost of 

the Work, and the preliminary estimate of the Cost of the Work and updated estimates of the Cost of the Work, 

prepared by the Architect, represent the Architect’s judgment as a design professional. It is recognized, however, 

that neither the Architect nor the Owner has control over the cost of labor, materials, or equipment; the Contractor’s 

methods of determining bid prices; or competitive bidding, market, or negotiating conditions. Accordingly, the 

Architect cannot and does not warrant or represent that bids or negotiated prices will not vary from the Owner’s 

budget for the Cost of the Work, or from any estimate of the Cost of the Work, or evaluation, prepared or agreed to 

by the Architect. 

 

§ 6.3 In preparing estimates of the Cost of Work, the Architect shall be permitted to include contingencies for 

design, bidding, and price escalation; to determine what materials, equipment, component systems, and types of 

construction are to be included in the Contract Documents; to recommend reasonable adjustments in the program 

and scope of the Project; and to include design alternates as may be necessary to adjust the estimated Cost of the 

Work to meet the Owner’s budget. The Architect’s estimate of the Cost of the Work shall be based on current area, 

volume or similar conceptual estimating techniques. If the Owner requires a detailed estimate of the Cost of the 

Work, the Architect shall provide such an estimate, if identified as the Architect’s responsibility in Section 4.1.1, as 

a Supplemental Service. 

 

§ 6.4 If, through no fault of the Architect, the Procurement Phase has not commenced within 90 days after the 

Architect submits the Construction Documents to the Owner, the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work shall be 

adjusted to reflect changes in the general level of prices in the applicable construction market. 

 

§ 6.5 If at any time the Architect’s estimate of the Cost of the Work exceeds the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the 

Work, the Architect shall make appropriate recommendations to the Owner to adjust the Project’s size, quality, or 

budget for the Cost of the Work, and the Owner shall cooperate with the Architect in making such adjustments. 

 

§ 6.6 If the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work at the conclusion of the Construction Documents Phase 

Services is exceeded by the lowest bona fide bid or negotiated proposal, the Owner shall 

.1 give written approval of an increase in the budget for the Cost of the Work; 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

16 

 

.2 authorize rebidding or renegotiating of the Project within a reasonable time; 

.3 terminate in accordance with Section 9.5; 

.4 in consultation with the Architect, revise the Project program, scope, or quality as required to reduce 

the Cost of the Work; or, 

.5 implement any other mutually acceptable alternative. 

 

§ 6.7 If the Owner chooses to proceed under Section 6.6.4, the Architect shall modify the Construction Documents 

as necessary to comply with the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work at the conclusion of the Construction 

Documents Phase Services, or the budget as adjusted under Section 6.6.1. If the Owner requires the Architect to 

modify the Construction Documents because the lowest bona fide bid or negotiated proposal exceeds the Owner’s 

budget for the Cost of the Work due to market conditions the Architect could not reasonably anticipate, the Owner 

shall compensate the Architect for the modifications as an Additional Service pursuant to Section 11.3; otherwise 

the Architect’s services for modifying the Construction Documents shall be without additional compensation. In any 

event, the Architect’s modification of the Construction Documents shall be the limit of the Architect’s responsibility 

under this Article 6. 

 

ARTICLE 7   COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES 
§ 7.1 The Architect and the Owner warrant that in transmitting Instruments of Service, or any other information, the 

transmitting party is the copyright owner of such information or has permission from the copyright owner to 

transmit such information for its use on the Project. 

 

§ 7.2 The Architect and the Architect’s consultants shall be deemed the authors and owners of their respective 

Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and shall retain all common law, statutory and 

other reserved rights, including copyrights. Submission or distribution of Instruments of Service to meet official 

regulatory requirements or for similar purposes in connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication 

in derogation of the reserved rights of the Architect and the Architect’s consultants. 
 

§ 7.3 The Architect grants to the Owner a nonexclusive license to use the Architect’s Instruments of Service solely 

and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, maintaining, altering and adding to the Project, provided that the 

Owner substantially performs its obligations under this Agreement, including prompt payment of all sums due 

pursuant to Article 9 and Article 11. The Architect shall obtain similar nonexclusive licenses from the Architect’s 

consultants consistent with this Agreement. The license granted under this section permits the Owner to authorize 

the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and suppliers, as well as the Owner’s consultants and separate 

contractors, to reproduce applicable portions of the Instruments of Service, subject to any protocols established 

pursuant to Section 1.3, solely and exclusively for use in performing services or construction for the Project. If the 

Architect rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause as provided in Section 9.4, the license granted in this 

Section 7.3 shall terminate. 

 

§ 7.3.1 In the event the Owner uses the Instruments of Service without retaining the authors of the Instruments of 

Service, the Owner releases the Architect and Architect’s consultant(s) from all claims and causes of action arising 

from such uses. The Owner, to the extent permitted by law, further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 

Architect and its consultants from all costs and expenses, including the cost of defense, related to claims and causes 

of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and expenses arise from the Owner’s use of 

the Instruments of Service under this Section 7.3.1. The terms of this Section 7.3.1 shall not apply if the Owner 

rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause under Section 9.4. 

 

§ 7.4 Except for the licenses granted in this Article 7, no other license or right shall be deemed granted or implied 

under this Agreement. The Owner shall not assign, delegate, sublicense, pledge or otherwise transfer any license 

granted herein to another party without the prior written agreement of the Architect. Any unauthorized use of the 

Instruments of Service shall be at the Owner’s sole risk and without liability to the Architect and the Architect’s 

consultants. 

 

§ 7.5 Except as otherwise stated in Section 7.3, the provisions of this Article 7 shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

17 

 

ARTICLE 8   CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
§ 8.1 General 
§ 8.1.1 The Owner and Architect shall commence all claims and causes of action against the other and arising out of 

or related to this Agreement, whether in contract, tort, or otherwise, in accordance with the requirements of the 

binding dispute resolution method selected in this Agreement and within the period specified by applicable law, but 

in any case not more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. The Owner and Architect 

waive all claims and causes of action not commenced in accordance with this Section 8.1.1. 

 

§ 8.1.2 To the extent damages are covered by property insurance, the Owner and Architect waive all rights against 

each other and against the contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of the other for damages, except such 

rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance as set forth in AIA Document A201–2017, General 

Conditions of the Contract for Construction. The Owner or the Architect, as appropriate, shall require of the 

contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of any of them, similar waivers in favor of the other parties 

enumerated herein. 

 

§ 8.1.3 The Architect and Owner waive consequential damages for claims, disputes, or other matters in question, 

arising out of or relating to this Agreement. This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential 

damages due to either party’s termination of this Agreement, except as specifically provided in Section 9.7. 

 

§ 8.2 Mediation 
§ 8.2.1 Any claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be subject to 

mediation as a condition precedent to binding dispute resolution. If such matter relates to or is the subject of a lien 

arising out of the Architect’s services, the Architect may proceed in accordance with applicable law to comply with 

the lien notice or filing deadlines prior to resolution of the matter by mediation or by binding dispute resolution. 

 
§ 8.2.2 The Owner and Architect shall endeavor to resolve claims, disputes and other matters in question between 

them by mediation, which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered under the NC Rules for 

Mediated Settlement Conference and other Settlement Procedures in Superior Court. A request for mediation shall 

be made in writing, delivered to the other party to this Agreement, and filed with the person or entity administering 

the mediation. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of a complaint or other appropriate demand for 

binding dispute resolution but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of binding dispute resolution 

proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed 

for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court order. If an arbitration proceeding is stayed pursuant to this 

section, the parties may nonetheless proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) and agree upon a schedule for later 

proceedings. 

 
§ 8.2.3 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place 

where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall 

be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
 

§ 8.2.4 If the parties do not resolve a dispute through mediation in section 8.2.2 above, the method of binding 

dispute resolution shall be Litigation in Macon County, North Carolina, Superior Court.  

(Check the appropriate box.) 
 

[ « X » ] Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction 

 

If the Owner and Architect do not select a method of binding dispute resolution, or do not subsequently agree in 

writing to a binding dispute resolution method other than litigation, the dispute will be resolved in a court of 

competent jurisdiction. 

 

§ 8.3 Arbitration 
§ 8.3.1 If the parties have selected arbitration as the method for binding dispute resolution in this Agreement, any 

claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this Agreement subject to, but not resolved by, 

mediation shall be subject to arbitration, which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by 

the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules in effect on the 

date of this Agreement. A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to this 

Agreement, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

18 

 

 

§ 8.3.1.1 A demand for arbitration shall be made no earlier than concurrently with the filing of a request for 

mediation, but in no event shall it be made after the date when the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based 

on the claim, dispute or other matter in question would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. For statute 

of limitations purposes, receipt of a written demand for arbitration by the person or entity administering the 

arbitration shall constitute the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the claim, dispute or other 

matter in question. 

 

§ 8.3.2 The foregoing agreement to arbitrate, and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity 

duly consented to by parties to this Agreement, shall be specifically enforceable in accordance with applicable law 

in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

 

§ 8.3.3 The award rendered by the arbitrator(s) shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance 

with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

 

§ 8.3.4 Consolidation or Joinder 
§ 8.3.4.1 Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any 

other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration 

permits consolidation; (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions of law or fact; 

and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s). 

 

§ 8.3.4.2 Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a 

common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, 

provided that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an 

additional person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question 

not described in the written consent. 

 

§ 8.3.4.3 The Owner and Architect grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under this 

Section 8.3, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights of joinder and consolidation as the Owner and 

Architect under this Agreement. 

 

§ 8.4 The provisions of this Article 8 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 9   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION 
§ 9.1 If the Owner fails to make payments to the Architect in accordance with this Agreement, such failure shall be 

considered substantial nonperformance and cause for termination or, at the Architect’s option, cause for suspension 

of performance of services under this Agreement. If the Architect elects to suspend services, the Architect shall give 

seven days’ written notice to the Owner before suspending services. In the event of a suspension of services, the 

Architect shall have no liability to the Owner for delay or damage caused the Owner because of such suspension of 

services. Before resuming services, the Owner shall pay the Architect all sums due prior to suspension and any 

expenses incurred in the interruption and resumption of the Architect’s services. The Architect’s fees for the 

remaining services and the time schedules shall be equitably adjusted. 

 

§ 9.2 If the Owner suspends the Project, the Architect shall be compensated for services performed prior to notice of 

such suspension. When the Project is resumed, the Architect shall be compensated for expenses incurred in the 

interruption and resumption of the Architect’s services. The Architect’s fees for the remaining services and the time 

schedules shall be equitably adjusted. 

 

§ 9.3 If the Owner suspends the Project for more than 90 cumulative days for reasons other than the fault of the 

Architect, the Architect may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than seven days’ written notice.  

 

§ 9.4 Either party may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice should the other party 

fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party initiating 

the termination. 

 

§ 9.5 The Owner may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice to the Architect for the 

Owner’s convenience and without cause. 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

19 

 

 

§ 9.6 If the Owner terminates this Agreement for its convenience pursuant to Section 9.5, or the Architect terminates 

this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect for services performed prior to 

termination, Reimbursable Expenses incurred, and costs attributable to termination, including the costs attributable 

to the Architect’s termination of consultant agreements. 

 

§ 9.7 In addition to any amounts paid under Section 9.6, if the Owner terminates this Agreement for its convenience 

pursuant to Section 9.5, or the Architect terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.3, the Owner shall pay to 

the Architect the following fees: 

(Set forth below the amount of any termination or licensing fee, or the method for determining any termination or 
licensing fee.) 
 

.1 Termination Fee: 

 

«$0.00  » 

 

.2 Licensing Fee if the Owner intends to continue using the Architect’s Instruments of Service: 
 

«By Owner  » 

 

§ 9.8 Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement shall terminate one year from the date of 

Substantial Completion. 

 

§ 9.9 The Owner’s rights to use the Architect’s Instruments of Service in the event of a termination of this 

Agreement are set forth in Article 7 and Section 9.7. 

 
ARTICLE 10   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
§ 10.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located, excluding that 

jurisdiction’s choice of law rules. If the parties have selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, 

the Federal Arbitration Act shall govern Section 8.3. 

 

§ 10.2 Terms in this Agreement shall have the same meaning as those in AIA Document A201–2017, General 

Conditions of the Contract for Construction. 

 
§ 10.3 The Owner and Architect, respectively, bind themselves, their agents, successors, assigns, and legal 

representatives to this Agreement. Neither the Owner nor the Architect shall assign this Agreement without the 

written consent of the other, except that the Owner may assign this Agreement to a lender providing financing for 

the Project if the lender agrees to assume the Owner’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, including any 

payments due to the Architect by the Owner prior to the assignment. 

 
§ 10.4 If the Owner requests the Architect to execute certificates, the proposed language of such certificates shall be 

submitted to the Architect for review at least 14 days prior to the requested dates of execution. If the Owner requests 

the Architect to execute consents reasonably required to facilitate assignment to a lender, the Architect shall execute 

all such consents that are consistent with this Agreement, provided the proposed consent is submitted to the 

Architect for review at least 14 days prior to execution. The Architect shall not be required to execute certificates or 

consents that would require knowledge, services, or responsibilities beyond the scope of this Agreement. 

 

§ 10.5 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor 

of, a third party against either the Owner or Architect. 
 
§ 10.6 Unless otherwise required in this Agreement, the Architect shall have no responsibility for the discovery, 

presence, handling, removal or disposal of, or exposure of persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances in any 

form at the Project site. 

 
§ 10.7 The Architect shall have the right to include photographic or artistic representations of the design of the 

Project among the Architect’s promotional and professional materials. The Architect shall be given reasonable 

access to the completed Project to make such representations. However, the Architect’s materials shall not include 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

20 

 

the Owner’s confidential or proprietary information if the Owner has previously advised the Architect in writing of 

the specific information considered by the Owner to be confidential or proprietary. The Owner shall provide 

professional credit for the Architect in the Owner’s promotional materials for the Project. This Section 10.7 shall 

survive the termination of this Agreement unless the Owner terminates this Agreement for cause pursuant to Section 

9.4. 
 
§ 10.8 If the Architect or Owner receives information specifically designated as “confidential” or “business 

proprietary,” the receiving party shall keep such information strictly confidential and shall not disclose it to any 

other person except as set forth in Section 10.8.1. This Section 10.8 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

 

§ 10.8.1 The receiving party may disclose “confidential” or “business proprietary” information after 7 days’ notice 

to the other party, when required by law, arbitrator’s order, or court order, including a subpoena or other form of 

compulsory legal process issued by a court or governmental entity, or to the extent such information is reasonably 

necessary for the receiving party to defend itself in any dispute. The receiving party may also disclose such 

information to its employees, consultants, or contractors in order to perform services or work solely and exclusively 

for the Project, provided those employees, consultants and contractors are subject to the restrictions on the 

disclosure and use of such information as set forth in this Section 10.8. 

 

§ 10.9 The invalidity of any provision of the Agreement shall not invalidate the Agreement or its remaining 

provisions. If it is determined that any provision of the Agreement violates any law, or is otherwise invalid or 

unenforceable, then that provision shall be revised to the extent necessary to make that provision legal and 

enforceable. In such case the Agreement shall be construed, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to give effect to 

the parties’ intentions and purposes in executing the Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 11   COMPENSATION 
§ 11.1 For the Architect’s Basic Services described under Article 3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect as 

follows: 

 

.1 Stipulated Sum 

 (Insert amount) 
 

«$329,255.00» 
 

.2 Percentage Basis 

 (Insert percentage value) 
 

«  » 

 

.3 Other 

 (Describe the method of compensation) 
 

«  » 

 

§ 11.2 For the Architect’s Supplemental Services designated in Section 4.1.1 and for any Sustainability Services 

required pursuant to Section 4.1.3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect as follows: 

(Insert amount of, or basis for, compensation. If necessary, list specific services to which particular methods of 
compensation apply.) 
 

«  » 

 

§ 11.3 For Additional Services that may arise during the course of the Project, including those under Section 4.2, the 

Owner shall compensate the Architect as follows: 

(Insert amount of, or basis for, compensation.) 
 

«  » 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

21 

 

§ 11.4 Compensation for Supplemental and Additional Services of the Architect’s consultants when not included in 

Section 11.2 or 11.3, shall be the amount invoiced to the Architect plus «  » percent ( «  »%), or as follows: 

(Insert amount of, or basis for computing, Architect’s consultants’ compensation for Supplemental or Additional 
Services.) 
 

«  » 

 

§ 11.5 When compensation for Basic Services is based on a stipulated sum or a percentage basis, the proportion of 

compensation for each phase of services shall be as follows: 

 

Phase I and Phase III 
Schematic Design Phase «ten  » percent  ( «10  » %) 

Design Development Phase «fifteen  » percent  ( «15  » %) 

Construction Documents 

Phase 

«thirty-five  » percent  ( «35  » %) 

Procurement Phase «five  » percent  ( « 5 »   %) 

Construction Phase «thirty » percent  ( «30  » %) 

Close-out   «five  »  « 5 »    

Total Basic Compensation  one hundred  percent  ( 100  %) 

 

§ 11.6 When compensation identified in Section 11.1 is on a percentage basis, progress payments for each phase of 

Basic Services shall be calculated by multiplying the percentages identified in this Article by the Owner’s most 

recent budget for the Cost of the Work. Compensation paid in previous progress payments shall not be adjusted 

based on subsequent updates to the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work. 

 

§ 11.6.1 When compensation is on a percentage basis and any portions of the Project are deleted or otherwise not 

constructed, compensation for those portions of the Project shall be payable to the extent services are performed on 

those portions. The Architect shall be entitled to compensation in accordance with this Agreement for all services 

performed whether or not the Construction Phase is commenced. 

 

§ 11.7 The hourly billing rates for services of the Architect and the Architect’s consultants are set forth below. The 

rates shall be adjusted in accordance with the Architect’s and Architect’s consultants’ normal review practices. 

(If applicable, attach an exhibit of hourly billing rates or insert them below.) 
 

«See Exhibit C.  » 

 

Employee or Category Rate ($0.00) 
    

 

§ 11.8 Compensation for Reimbursable Expenses 
§ 11.8.1 Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to compensation for Basic, Supplemental, and Additional Services 

and include expenses incurred by the Architect and the Architect’s consultants directly related to the Project, as 

follows: 

.1 Printing, reproductions, plots, and standard form documents; 

.2 Expense of overtime work requiring higher than regular rates, if authorized in advance by the Owner; 

 

§ 11.8.2 For Reimbursable Expenses the compensation shall be the expenses incurred by the Architect and the 

Architect’s consultants plus «zero» percent ( «0» %) of the expenses incurred. 

 

 NTE $10,000.00 
 

§ 11.9 Architect’s Insurance. If the types and limits of coverage required in Section 2.5 are in addition to the types 

and limits the Architect normally maintains, the Owner shall pay the Architect for the additional costs incurred by 

the Architect for the additional coverages as set forth below: 

(Insert the additional coverages the Architect is required to obtain in order to satisfy the requirements set forth in 
Section 2.5, and for which the Owner shall reimburse the Architect.) 
 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

22 

 

«  » 

 

§ 11.10 Payments to the Architect 
§ 11.10.1 Initial Payments 
§ 11.10.1.1 An initial payment of «zero» ($ «0  » ) shall be made upon execution of this Agreement and is the 

minimum payment under this Agreement. It shall be credited to the Owner’s account in the final invoice. 

 

§ 11.10.1.2 If a Sustainability Certification is part of the Sustainable Objective, an initial payment to the Architect of 

«N/A» ($ «N/A» ) shall be made upon execution of this Agreement for registration fees and other fees payable to the 

Certifying Authority and necessary to achieve the Sustainability Certification. The Architect’s payments to the 

Certifying Authority shall be credited to the Owner’s account at the time the expense is incurred. 

 
§ 11.10.2 Progress Payments 
§ 11.10.2.1 Unless otherwise agreed, payments for services shall be made monthly in proportion to services 

performed. Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Architect’s invoice. Amounts unpaid «forty-

five» (45) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the 

legal rate prevailing from time to time at the principal place of business of the Architect. 

(Insert rate of monthly or annual interest agreed upon.) 
 

«1.5  » % « per month » 

 

§ 11.10.2.2 The Owner shall not withhold amounts from the Architect’s compensation to impose a penalty or 

liquidated damages on the Architect, or to offset sums requested by or paid to contractors for the cost of changes in 

the Work, unless the Architect agrees or has been found liable for the amounts in a binding dispute resolution 

proceeding. 

 

§ 11.10.2.3 Records of Reimbursable Expenses, expenses pertaining to Supplemental and Additional Services, and 

services performed on the basis of hourly rates shall be available to the Owner at mutually convenient times. 

 

ARTICLE 12   SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Special terms and conditions that modify this Agreement are as follows: 

(Include other terms and conditions applicable to this Agreement.) 
 

«  » 

 

ARTICLE 13   SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT 
§ 13.1 This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Owner and the Architect and 

supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral. This Agreement may be 

amended only by written instrument signed by both the Owner and Architect. 

 

§ 13.2 This Agreement is comprised of the following documents identified below: 

.1 AIA Document B101™–2017, Standard Form Agreement Between Owner and Architect 

.2 Exhibits:   

   Exhibit A – Scope of Services 

  Exhibit B - Project Schedule 

  Exhibit C - Hourly Rates  » 

 

.3 Other documents: 

 (List other documents, if any, forming part of the Agreement.) 
 

«» 

 

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above. 

 

 

 

 



 

AIA Document B101™ – 2017. Copyright © 1974, 1978, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. 

The “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used 

without permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 17:20:30 ET on 11/16/2021 under Order No.6419130350 which expires on 

12/31/2021, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms 

of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 

User Notes:  (1514951736) 

 

23 

 

       

OWNER (Signature)  ARCHITECT (Signature) 

James P. Tate  
Chairman 

Macon County Board of Commissioners  »«  »  

«Paul Davis Boney, FAIA 

 Vice Chair | Senior Vice President | K12 Practice 

Leader | Principal» 

(Printed name and title)  (Printed name, title, and license number, if required) 
 



EXHIBIT A  
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Highlands School Project  
October 27, 2022 

 

Design two (2) pre-k classrooms along the elementary wing of the school.  Approximately 1,200 square 

foot each classroom. 

Provide a minimum of 2,700 square foot playground directly adjacent to the two (2) new pre-k 

classrooms. 

Expansion of the Media Center. 

Outdoor learning/reading area off the Media Center. 

Renovation for maker’s spaces in Home Economics as well as the Wood Shop wing. 

Addition of a minimum of four (4) new classrooms to the Middle School building. 

Projected Budget = $ 4,703,641 

 

Fee  

 $329,255.00 

 Approved Phases by BOCC:   

Schematic Design Phase:  10% (per pg. 21 of AIA contract) 

Design Development Phase:  15% (per pg. 21 of AIA contract)  

Construction Documents Phase: 35% (per pg. 21 of AIA contract) 

Procurement Phase:   5% (per pg. 21 of AIA contract) 

Construction Phase:   30% (per pg. 21 of AIA contract) 

Close-Out:    5% (per pg. 21 of AIA contract) 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



EXHIBIT B 
PROJECT SCHEDULE 
Highlands School Project 

October 27, 2022 

 

 

Classroom Addition & Cafeteria/Kitchen Renovations 

• Begin Design 

15 November 2022 

 

• Schematic Design Submittal 

20 December 2022 

 

• Design Development Submittal 

1 February 2023 

 

• Construction Documents Submittal 

15 April 2023 

 

• Bids Received 

25 May 2023 

 

• Award Contracts and Groundbreaking 

1 July 2023  

 

• Complete Construction 

1 July 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT C 
HOURLY RATES and OWNER RESPONSIBILITIES 

Highlands School Project 
October 27, 2022 

 

Hourly Rates: Any LS3P hourly rates for additional services must be authorized in advance by 

Owner. 

 

2022 LS3P Architects Hourly Bill-Out Rates (Subject to Change on an Annual Basis): 

Principal in Charge   $180.00/hr. 

Project Architect  $140.00/hr.  

Design Staff   $115.00/hr. 

Interior Designer  $105.00/hr.  

Administrative Staff  $100.00/hr. 

 

Owner Responsibilities.  The following are necessary services that must be completed and shall be the 
responsibility of Owner:  
 

▪ Topographical Survey 

▪ Geotechnical Engineering and Special Inspections 

 
 
Optional Additional Services and Special Consultants not included in Basic Services but may be 
provided for additional fee if completed by Architect upon approval by the Owner 

▪ Additional services shall be billed as a factor of 1.0. 

▪ Outsourced Professional Renderings or highly rendered images, models, or mockups (Basic 

renderings for use in study and development of the project design are included in basic services 

fee, but finish quality renderings for use in special presentations, outreach, fundraising, etc., are 

not included.) 

▪ Special Consultants outside of the services consultants listed in this proposal. 

▪ Interior Design other than Architectural Finishes. (FF&E) 

▪ Third Party Acoustical Consulting, Acoustical Modeling, Acoustical Testing  

▪ Daylighting Modeling or Energy Modeling 

▪ Audio Visual Equipment 

▪ Environmental Assessments / Environmental Impact Statements 

▪ Permitting and review fees 

▪ Life Cycle Cost Analyses 

▪ Multiple designs documented in construction documents (Minor bid alternates for budget control 

to be included) 

▪ LEED or other green building certification  

▪ Specialty envelope consultants 

▪ Commissioning Services  

▪ Coordination with additional owner third-party consultants.  

 



MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

CATEGORY – NEW BUSINESS 

 

 

MEETING DATE:  November 8, 2022  

 

11(A).      Veteran Services Director Leigh Tabor-Holbrooks will present a 

resolution designating Macon County as a Green Light for Veterans County 

and declaring November 7 through November 11, 2022 (Veterans Day) as 

time to salute and honor the service and sacrifice of our men and women in 

uniform transitioning from Active Service. 

 

11(B).     Planning Director Joe Allen will be requesting approval for release 

of the remaining performance guarantee being held by Macon County in 

conjunction with Phase I development at Gemstone Village Subdivision.  

The original performance guarantee was in the amount of $617,119, which 

was 125% of estimated cost to install utilities and roads.  On July 22, 2022, 

Macon County released $373,117 of the performance guarantee, and Snobar 

LLC is requesting release of the remaining balance of $244,002.  A letter is 

attached indicating completion of the work as well as other supporting 

documentation.  Mr. Allen will be present to answer any questions. 

 

11(C).   Mr. Allen will be also requesting approval for release of a 

performance guarantee being held by Macon County in conjunction with 

Phase II development at Gemstone Village Subdivision.  The original 

performance guarantee was in the amount of $735,922.50, which was 125% 

of estimated cost to install utilities and roads.  On October 26, 2022, Joanne 

Snider with Snobar, LLC stated she was going to put Phase II on hold and 

requested release of the cash bond.  See attached supporting documentation.  

Mr. Allen will be present to answer any questions.  

 

11(D).  Emergency Services Director Warren Cabe will discuss agreements 

approved in December 2021 for Sutton Broadcasting and Blue Ridge 

Broadcasting to occupy space at the Cowee Bald communications site.  

These agreements had a term of one year.  Both agencies have been 



requested to appear and present their proposals for renewal or extensions for 

year 2022 forward.  Copies of the existing subleases without term dates are 

attached.  Mr. Cabe will be present to answer any questions. 

 

11(E).  Transit Director Darlene Asher will present a Resolution to apply for 

public transportation program funds (Section 5311 including ADTAP, 5310, 

5339, 5307, and applicable State funding, or combination thereof) for the FY 

24 budget year.  A public hearing was held at the board’s regular meeting on 

September 13, 2022 and approval to submit applications and apply for 

funding was granted, leaving the resolution to be approved.  A copy of the 

resolution is attached.  Ms. Asher will be present to answer any questions. 

 

11(F).  Parks and Recreations Director Seth Adams is requesting approval of 

the proposed site for the location of pickleball courts at the Macon County 

Recreation Park softball field.  A copy of the proposed site plan is attached 

and has been approved by the Recreation Commission.  Mr. Adams will be 

present to answer any questions. 

 

11(G).  In the absence of Solid Waste Director Chris Stahl, Environmental 

Field Specialist Jamie Picou will present a Resolution to exempt engineering 

services for groundwater monitoring and reporting for the Solid Waste 

Department from the provisions of Article 3D of Chapter 143 of the North 

Carolina General Statutes.  As the Board may recall, Bunnell-Lammons 

Engineering (BLE) was previously approved for consulting services related 

to the semi-annual groundwater monitoring program at all of the Macon 

County landfills.  The County previously used REI Consultants for these 

services, but that company was acquired by Pace Labs in 2018.  Pace Labs 

provides sample collection and analytical services, but not evaluation and 

reporting services.  While our primary contact with REIC remained with 

Pace, and intended to continue to provide these services, he was unable to do 

so.  As BLE has been bringing our groundwater reporting into compliance, 

they also discovered that it is time to update the status of our Corrective 

Action Plan due to exceedances of certain Volatile Organic Compounds 

(VOCs) present in compliance wells down gradient of Phase I, Cell I.  The 

original Corrective Action Plan was approved by NCDEQ in 2010, and 

implemented in 2012.  An updated report of the status of corrective actions 

taken was submitted in 2017, and is once again due in 2022.  Additional 

information on this project is available upon request.   

 

 



Therefore, Mr. Stahl is requesting that the Macon County Board of 

Commissioners adopt the attached Resolution and authorize the County 

Manager to execute the attached contract with BLE to produce and submit a 

Corrective Action Evaluation Report to NCDEQ on behalf of Macon 

County.  Ms. Picou will be present to answer any questions. 

 

11(H).   Ms. Picou will present a Resolution to exempt engineering services 

associated with the proposed turn lane required by NCDOT for the future 

Carson Convenience Center from the provisions of Article 3D of Chapter 

143 of the NCGS.  According to Mr. Stahl, the Solid Waste Department has 

finally come to agreement with NCDOT regarding ingress/egress 

requirements at the future Carson Convenience Center (Old Cartoogechaye 

School) site, and has asked McGill Associates to provide a scope of services 

and contract for the permitting and construction of the required turn lane on 

eastbound Hwy 64 into the site.  Mr. Stahl is requesting that the Macon 

County Board of Commissioners adopt the attached resolution exempting 

the provisions of Article 3D of Chapter 143 of the North Carolina General 

Statutes; and, authorize the County Manager to execute the attached contract 

with McGill Associates so that we may complete this phase of the Center 

relocation project.  Ms. Picou will be present to answer any questions.  

 

11(I).  Ms. Picou will present the results and recommendation regarding the 

Request for Proposal for Engineering Services for the Solid Waste 

Department.  The Macon County Solid Waste Department has issued a 

Request for Proposal from engineering firms for services at the Macon 

County MSW Landfill.  The purpose of this request is in regard to the 

remaining capacity (or lack thereof) at the landfill.  The Board has been 

briefed previously on the drastic increase in disposal rate since the beginning 

of the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent housing boom in Macon County.  

Per regulation, the Macon County landfill has to provide an annual update 

on the remaining landfill capacity each year to NCDEQ.  In 2021, the survey 

and evaluation determined five (5) years of remaining capacity in Phase III, 

Cell I.  However, the capacity analysis conducted in May of 2022 

determined a remaining capacity of just over two (2) years.  There are 

several factors that contributed to the consumption of airspace; none of 

which are result of operational deficiencies of landfill staff; and Mr. Stahl 

will be happy to discuss those with the Board at your pleasure.  However, 

the impact of the current capacity status is such that the Department does not 

have time to develop the next Cell in Phase III before capacity is exceeded.  

In seeking options for Macon County to provide uninterrupted landfill 



services to our residents, Mr. Stahl spoke with Allen Gaither; Regional 

Engineer, NCDEQ SWS; regarding the feasibility of retracting the notice of 

closure letter submitted for Phases I & II of the Macon County MSW 

Landfill.  As a result, a RFQ was developed for Engineering services to 

assist Macon County in obtaining a major modification to our landfill 

permit, which includes re-opening of Phase II, and applying for a vertical 

expansion based on 3:1 outer slopes rather than the existing 4:1 outer slopes.  

Additionally, a vertical expansion will be requested in Phase III, Cell I.  This 

expansion will basically allow us to overfill the slopes in the Cell that will 

eventually be tied to future landfill cells, essentially borrowing space that 

would eventually be filled after additional cell development.  It is estimated 

that these actions; once permitted; will increase the existing capacity life 

from 2-years, to approximately 6-years.  This not only grants us needed time 

for additional Cell development, but also allows us to repay the current 

landfill debt service in full before any need to borrow funds for cell 

construction.  Finally, and if we can complete this process quickly enough, 

we may be able to re-enter closure of Phases I & II and the same time we 

contract for construction of Phase III, Cell II.  This could potentially save 

several hundred thousand dollars by transferring soil excavated from cell 

construction directly to the closed Phases for cap construction.  It is 

anticipated that these services will cost approximately $100,000.00 - 

$150,000.00, which is about 5-8% the cost of constructing four years of 

airspace in the landfill.  Therefore, Mr. Stahl requests that the board approve 

the recommendation of the Review Committee and authorize the County 

Manager and Solid Waste Director to negotiate and execute a contract with 

the recommended consulting firm to begin the permitting process as soon as 

possible; and, with the understanding that the Finance Director will pre-audit 

the contract verifying sufficient funds are available for the project. 

 

 



Supporting Operation Green Light for Veterans  
 

 
WHEREAS, the residents of __Macon__ County have great respect, admiration, and the utmost 
gratitude for all of the men and women who have selflessly served our country and this 
community in the Armed Forces; and  

 
WHEREAS, the contributions and sacrifices of the men and women who served in the Armed 
Forces have been vital in maintaining the freedoms and way of life enjoyed by our citizens; and  

 
WHEREAS, __Macon_ County seeks to honor these individuals who have paid the high price 
for freedom by placing themselves in harm’s way for the good of all; and 

 
 

WHEREAS, Veterans continue to serve our community in the American Legion, Veterans of 
Foreign Wars, religious groups, civil service, and by functioning as County Veteran Service 
Officers in 29 states to help fellow former service members access more than $52 billion in 
federal health, disability and compensation benefits each year; and 

 
WHEREAS, approximately 200,000 service members transition to civilian communities 
annually; and  

 
WHEREAS, an estimated 20 percent increase of service members will transition to civilian life 
in the near future; and  

 
WHEREAS, studies indicate that 44-72 percent of service members experience high levels of 
stress during transition from military to civilian life; and 

 
WHEREAS, Active Military Service Members transitioning from military service are at a high 
risk for suicide during their first year after military service; and  
 
WHEREAS, the National Association of Counties encourages all counties, parishes and 
boroughs to recognize Operation Green Light for Veterans; and 

 
WHEREAS, the __Macon_ County appreciates the sacrifices of our United State Military 
Personnel and believes specific recognition should be granted; therefore be it 
 
RESOLVED, with designation as a Green Light for Veterans County, __Macon_ County hereby 
declares from November 7th through Veterans Day, November 11th 2022 a time to salute and 
honor the service and sacrifice of our men and women in uniform transitioning from Active 
Service; therefore, be it further 
 
RESOLVED, that in observance of Operation Green Light, __Macon_ County encourages its 
citizens in patriotic tradition to recognize the importance of honoring all those who made 
immeasurable sacrifices to preserve freedom by displaying a green light in a window of their 
place of business or residence. 















 
1 

 

  

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF MACON 
 
 

USE OF SPACE ON COMMUNICATIONS TOWER AND USE OF  
ASSOCIATED TRANSMITTER BUILDING SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 

AMENDMENT 
 
 
This Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use of Associated Transmitter Building 
Sublease Agreement Amendment is made and entered into this the ___ day of ___________, 
20__, by and between Macon County, North Carolina, a North Carolina County and Body Politic 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Sublessor”), and Sutton Radiocasting Corporation, a South 
Carolina Business Corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “Sublessee”). 
 
THAT WHEREAS, Sublessee presently holds the Federal Communication Commission (FCC) 
licenses for Class A FM Station WNCC-FM (FCC Facility Identification Number 14551) 
assigned to the community of Franklin, North Carolina, FM Translator Station W285FD (FCC 
Facility Identification Number 155806) assigned to the community of Franklin, North Carolina 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Stations”); and 
 
WHEREAS, Sublessor presently has a Lease with the United States of America, acting through 
the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture, for the Cowee Bald Communications site as shown 
therein, a copy of said Lease is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if more 
fully set forth herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, Sublessee desires to obtain from Sublessor, a use of space on communications tower 
and use of associated transmitter building sublease agreement from the Sublessor which will 
permit the location of the antenna and the use of the associated transmitter building for the Stations 
at Cowee Bald Communications site as referenced in the Lease above referenced; and 
 
WHEREAS, Sublessor is willing to enter this Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use 
of Associated Transmitter Building Sublease Agreement with Sublessee, subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth hereinbelow. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms and conditions contained 
herein, the parties hereto do agree as follows: 
 



 
2 

 

  

1. SUBLEASEHOLD INTEREST. Sublessor sublets to Sublessee, and the Sublessee 
subleases from Sublessor the following: 

 
A. Those sections of the Tower (which Tower is colored in yellow on the Cowee 

Bald Communication Site Plan attached to the Lease Agreement referenced above) 
which are not being used by either Macon County or Jackson County and which 
are necessary for operation by Lessee's Stations and such related equipment as is 
required for the efficient and effective operation of the Stations, and which are 
specifically approved of by Sublessor and, to the extent necessary, which are 
specifically approved of in writing by the United State of America, acting 
through the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture. Such rights of use by 
Sublessee shall be non- exclusive and shall in no way interfere with the broadcast 
signals or other rights of existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications Site; 

 
B. The non-exclusive right-of-way space on said Tower and non-exclusive right-of-

way space to and from the Transmitter Building (which Building is numbered 
“1" and is colored in orange on the Cowee Bald Communication Site Plan 
attached to the Lease Agreement referenced above) for the connection, and 
passage by cables, wires and transmission lines and any transmission equipment 
required for the operation of the Stations. Such rights of use by Sublessee shall 
be non-exclusive and shall in no way interfere with the broadcast signal or rights 
of existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications Site; 

 
C. The non-exclusive access to said Tower and said Transmitter Building for the 

purpose of operating broadcast equipment owned or operated by Lessee located 
there. Such rights of use by Sublessee shall be non-exclusive and shall in no way 
interfere with the broadcast signal or other rights of existing users of the Cowee 
Bald Communications Site; 

 
D. Sublessor and Sublessee recognize and agree that the Cowee Bald 

Communication Site is primarily an emergency communication site and as such, 
Sublessor specifically reserves the right to cancel this Use of Space on 
Communications Tower and Use of Associated Transmitter Building Sublease 
Agreement, without liability, should it hereafter determine within its discretion 
the need to do so in order to maintain and use the Cowee Bald Communication 
Site as an emergency communications site.  Sublessor reserves the right to cancel 
this Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use of Associated Transmitter 
Building Sublease Agreement without liability should it determine within its 
discretion that the use made or to be made by Sublessee interferes or will 
interfere with the rights of existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications 
Site; 

 
E. If Sublessee does cause inference with the broadcast signal of existing users of 

the Cowee Bald Communications Site, then Sublessor Lessee shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use 



 
3 

 

  

of Associated Transmitter Building Sublease Agreement; 
 

F. Sublessee shall operate its Station in full compliance with all FCC Rules and 
Regulations; 

 
G. It is agreed and understood that Sublessee shall, at its sole cost, undertake a tower 

study/engineering study prior making any significant changes to the site equipment such 
as new antennae, new transmitters, etc.,  hereunder to determine if the same will 
interfere with the broadcast signal of existing users of the Cowee Bald 
Communications Site. The same must show that all planned use by Sublessee 
hereunder will not interfere with the broadcast signal of existing users of the 
Cowee Bald Communications Site. A copy of the same shall be delivered unto 
Sublessor upon completion. All use by Sublessee hereunder must be in full 
compliance with FCC Rules and Regulations, all other State and Federal 
Regulations, and approved by the United States Forestry Service if such approval 
is necessary; 

 
2. TERM OF SUBLEASE. Upon all the terms and conditions of this Sublease, Sublessee 

shall have and hold the non-exclusive rights provided for herein for the period extending 
from the date hereof to and including midnight, on ________________, 20__, unless this 
Sublease is sooner terminated as specifically hereinafter provided. Prior to the end of the 
Term of this Sublease, Sublessee shall cause all of its fixtures and property to be removed 
from the subleased premises at its sole expense and shall cause any and all repairs that 
are necessary to retore the subleased premises to the conditions which existed 
immediately preceding the beginning of this sublease, reasonable wear and tear excepted; 

 
3. RENT. Sublessee will continue to pay the Sublessor rent in the amount of $500.00 per 

month on the first date of each month, during the term of this lease. The parties hereto 
do understand and agree that the United States Forest Service reserves the right to change 
what it charges unto Macon County in connection with its Lease with the United States 
of America as above-referenced. As a consequence, the parties hereto agree that the 
monthly rent of $500.00 per month provided for herein may be and shall be adjusted 
upward during the term hereof in the event that the United States Forest Service or other 
agent of the United States of America assesses a fee to Macon County for the use by 
Sublessee hereunder which exceeds the sum of $6,000.00 per year.  In this event, the 
monthly rental to be paid by Sublessee hereunder shall be increased by 1/12 of the 
amount that the annual sum assessed to Macon County for the use of the Sublessee 
hereunder which exceeds $6,000.00 per year.  

 
4. ASSIGNMENT. The Sublessee shall have no right to assign this Sublease and its rights 

under the Sublease to any affiliate or subsidiary of the Sublessee or subsequent owner of 
Lessee's Stations, without the consent of Sublessor and the United States of America, 
acting through the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture; 

 
5. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE. Sublessee shall be responsible for all maintenance 



 
4 

 

  

and repair of the Tower and the Tower supporting structures and the Transmitter Building 
to be used hereunder by the Sublessee; 

 
6. PAYMENT OF TAXES. Sublessee shall be responsible for the payment of any personal 

property taxes imposed against the fixtures or equipment on the subleased premises 
which are owned by Sublessee; 

 
7. UTILITIES. Sublessor shall pay when due all electric and other utility charges made 

against the subleased premises during the term of this sublease; 
8. 

INSURANCE. Sublessor shall maintain adequate insurance coverage against fire, storm 
or other casualty loss or damage to Sublessor's property, as well as liability insurance 
against personal injury or property damage. Such insurance shall specifically provide for 
coverage for the repair and replacement of all structures, machinery and equipment 
owned by Sublessor located on or adjacent to, the Tower. 

 
Sublessee shall maintain adequate insurance coverage against fire, storm or other casualty 
loss or damage to Sublessee's property, as well as general liability insurance against 
personal injury of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). Evidence of said 
insurance shall be provided to Sublessor upon request of Sublessor. Failure to maintain said 
general liability policy by Sublessee shall result in the immediate termination of this 
Lease; 

 
9. DAMAGE TO OR DESTRUCTION OF THE TOWER. If the Tower subject to this 

Sublease    or any part thereof, or any equipment thereon shall be wholly or materially 
damaged or destroyed, at the sole option of the Sublessor, the Sublessor may repair, restore 
and/or replace the same, at the expense of Sublessor, to the condition which existed 
immediately prior to the occurrence of such casualty. 

 
However, in the event the damage to the Tower subject to this Sublease or any part thereof, 
or any equipment thereon, cannot be repaired within sixty (60) days (as reasonably 
estimated by Sublessor as soon as practicable after the occurrence of such damage) 
Sublessor may terminate this Lease as of the date of such damage; 

 
10. EMINENT  DOMAIN. If the Tower subject to this Sublease and/or the Transmitter 

Building Parcel subleased hereunder shall be appropriated or taken under the power of 
eminent domain by any public or quasi-public authority, this Sublease shall be 
terminated as of the date of such taking and Sublessee shall thereupon be released from 
any further liability hereunder. The date of such taking shall be the date on which legal 
title shall vest in the condemning authority; 

11.  ACCESS TO LEASED PREMISES. It is mutually understood and agreed between the 
parties that Macon County, Jackson County and Sublessee may maintain broadcast 
apparatus on the Tower subject to this Sublease. Sublessor, Sublessee and all others 



 
5 

 

  

having the right to use such Tower shall have the right to non-exclusive access to such 
Tower for the purpose of operating, maintaining, inspecting and repairing such broadcast 
apparatus; 

12.   USE OF TOWER. Sublessee shall not take any action which will cause or permit electrical 
interference to the broadcast signal of any existing electronic communications apparatus 
on   the Tower subject to this Sublease or otherwise interfere with the broadcast signal or 
rights of any of the existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications Site. Sublessee 
shall be liable to Sublessor and shall indemnify Sublessor for any loss or damage to 
Sublessor's equipment, or for destructive electrical interference to the communications 
signals of Sublessor, consequential or otherwise, occasioned by, growing out of, or 
arising from any act or failure to act by Sublessee, its agents or employees, including such 
acts or failures to act which Lessee shall suffer to exist or continue to exist on the real 
property of Sublessor or such Tower. 

Any breach by Sublessee of Sublessor's right of use of the Tower as defined herein, shall 
confer upon the Sublessor the right to immediately terminate this Sublease without 
liability. Such rights shall be in addition to, and exclusive of such other rights contained 
in this Sublease or such rights at law or equity which Sublessor may possess. 

13. INDEMNIFICATION OF PARTIES. Sublessor shall have no liability for any loss or 
damage due to personal injury, property damage, libel or slander, or electrical 
interference, caused by Sublessee its agents, or employees, and Sublessee will indemnify 
and save Sublessor harmless from any loss, damage or liability, consequential or 
otherwise occasioned by, growing out of, or arising, or resulting in connection with, 
Sublessee or any act or failure to act by Sublessee, its agents, or employees. Sublessee 
shall have no liability for any loss or damage due to personal injury, property damage, 
libel or slander, or electrical interference caused by Sublessor; 

14.    AUTHORIZATION. Sublessor and Sublessee respectively represent and warrant to the    other 
that all necessary approvals and/or corporate action has been duly taken to authorize the 
execution and delivery of this Sublease and the performance or observance of the provisions 
of this Sublease. Additionally, Sublessor represents and warrants to the Sublessee that the 
necessary consent and/or approval of this Sublease have been obtained from the United 
States of America, acting through the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture, owner 
of the real property in which such tower and transmitter building parcel are situate. Absence 
of the landowner's consent and/or approval at any time during the Term shall grant the 
Sublessor and the Sublessee the right to immediately terminate the Lease without further 
liability; 

15.     NO WAIVER. Failure or delay on the part of either Sublessor or Sublessee to exercise any 
right, power, or privilege hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof; 

16. NOTICE. Any and all notices, demands or other communications required by this Lease 
or  by law, or desired to be given hereunder, by any party shall be in writing and shall be 
validly given or made to another party if served either personally or if deposited in the 
United States mail, certified, postage prepaid, return receipt requested. If such notice, 
demand or other communication be given by mail, such shall be conclusively deemed 



 
6 

 

  

given as of the date shown on the return receipt if the same is deposited in the United 
States mail addressed to the party to whom such notice, demand or other communication 
is to be given as hereinafter set forth: 

 
If to Lessor: 
Macon County 
Attention: County Manager 
5 West Main Street Franklin, North Carolina 28734 
  
If to Lessee: 
Georgia-Carolina Radiocasting Companies  
Attention: Douglas M. Sutton, Jr. 
Post Office Drawer E  
Toccoa, Georgia 30577 

 
Any party hereto may change its address for the purpose of receiving notice, demands and 
other communications as herein provided by a written notice given in the manner aforesaid 
to the other party or parties hereto; 

 
17. AGENTS AND PARTIES. From time to time Lessor or Lessee by notice as aforesaid may 

appoint one or more agents to act for them; 
 
18. ATTACHMENTS, SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS. All Exhibits, Appendices and 

Schedules attached to this Lease shall be deemed part of this Lease and incorporated herein, 
where applicable, as if fully set forth herein. 

 
19. THAT THE LEASE BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ACTING 

THROUGH THE FOREST SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, AND 
MACON COUNTY, AND THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS THEREOF, A COPY OF 
SAID LEASE BEING ATTACHED HERETO ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY 
REFERENCE AS IF MORE FULLY SET FORTH HEREIN. TO THE EXTENT THAT 
ANY OF THE FOREGOING TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS USE OFSPACE 
ON COMMUNICATIONS TOWER AND USE OF ASSOCIATED TRANSMITTER 
BUILDING SUBLEASE AGREEMENT CONFLICT WITH OR ARE INCONSISTENT 
WITH SAID LEASE AGREEMENT, THEN THE TERMS OF SAID LEASE 
AGREEMENT SHALL PREVAIL, IT BEING THE SPECIFIC INTENT OF BOTH 
PARTIES HERETO NOT TO SUBLEASE INCONSISTENTLY WITH SAID LEASE. 

 
20.             ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE SUBLESSEE. 
  

a. All development, operation and maintenance by Sublessee of the authorized facility, 
improvements, and equipment located on the property shall be in accordance with 
stipulations in the communications site plan approved by the Authorized Officer of the 
United States Forest Service. If required by Authorized Officer of the United States 
Forest Service, all plans for development, layout, construction, or alteration of 



 
7 

 

  

improvements on the property, as well as revisions of such plans, must be prepared by 
a licensed engineer, architect, and/or landscape architect. Such plans must be approved 
in writing by the Authorized Officer of the United States Forest Service before 
commencement of any work. After completion, as-built plans, maps, surveys, or other 
similar information will be provided to the Authorized Officer of the United States 
Forest Service and appended to the communications site plan; 

 
b. The Sublessee will comply with applicable Federal, State, county, and municipal 

laws, regulations and standards for public health and safety, environmental 
protection, siting, construction, operation, and maintenance in exercising the rights 
granted by this Sublease. The obligations of the Sublessee under this lease are not 
contingent upon any duty of the Authorized Officer of the United States Forest 
Service, or other agent of the United States, to inspect the premises. A failure by the 
United States, or other governmental officials, to inspect is not a defense to 
noncompliance with any of the terms or conditions of this lease. Sublessee waives all 
defenses of laches or estoppel against the United States. The Sublessee shall at all 
times keep the title of the United States to the property free and clear of all liens and 
encumbrances; 

 
c. Use of communications equipment is contingent upon the possession of a valid 

Federal Communication Commission (FCC) or Director of Telecommunications 
Management/Interdepartmental Radio Advisory Committee (DTM/IRAC) 
authorization, and the operation of the equipment is in strict compliance with 
applicable requirements of FCC or IRAC. A copy of each applicable license or 
authorization shall at all times be maintained by the Sublessee for each transmitter 
being operated. The Sublessee shall provide the Authorized Officer of the United 
States Forest Service, and the Sublessor, when requested, with current copies of all 
licenses for equipment in or on facilities covered by this lease; 

 
d. The Sublessee shall ensure that equipment within its facility operates in a manner 

which will not cause harmful interference with the operation of existing equipment 
on or adjacent to the communications site. If the Authorized Officer of the United 
States Forest Service or authorized official of the Federal Communication 
Commission (FCC) determines that the Sublessee’s use interferes with existing 
equipment, the Sublessee will promptly take the necessary steps to eliminate or 
reduce the harmful interference to the satisfaction of the Authorized Officer of the 
United States Forest Service or FCC official; 

 
e. When requested by the Authorized Officer of the United States Forest Service, the 

Sublessee will furnish technical information concerning the equipment located on the 
property; 
 

21.      OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 

The provisions of Paragraph “V. OTHER PROVISIONS” as contained in the Lease  



 
8 

 

  

between Macon County and the United States of America, acting through the Forest 
Service, Department of Agriculture, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference, shall apply to the Sublessee named herein and Sublessee shall at all 
times be bound by, subject to and comply with the same. 

 
22. LIABILITIES. 
 

a. The Sublessee assumes all risk of loss to the authorized improvements by Sublessee; 
 

b. The Sublessee shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws, 
regulations, and standards, including but not limited to, the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 
42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq., the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Control, and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq., and other relevant environmental laws, as well 
as public health and safety laws and other laws relating to the siting, construction, 
operation and maintenance of any facility, improvement, or equipment on the 
property made by Lessee or its agents hereunder; 

 
c. The Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold the United States harmless for any 

violations incurred under any such laws and regulations or for judgments, claims, or 
demands assessed against the United States in connection with the Sublessee's use or 
occupancy of the property. The Sublessee’s indemnification of the United States shall 
include any loss of personal injury, loss of life or damage to property in connection 
with the occupancy or use of the property during the term of this Sublease. 
Indemnification shall include, but is not limited to, the value of resources damaged 
or destroyed; the costs of restoration, cleanup, or other mitigation; fire suppression or 
other types of abatement costs; third party claims and judgments; and all 
administrative, interest, and other legal costs. This paragraph shall survive the 
termination or revocation of this lease, regardless of cause; 

 
d. The United States Forest Service has no duty, either before or during this Sublease 

term, to inspect the property or to warn of hazards and, if the United States Forest 
Service inspects the property, it shall incur no additional duty nor any liability for 
hazards not identified or discovered through such inspections. This paragraph shall 
survive the termination or revocation of this lease, regardless of cause; 

 
e. The Sublessee has an affirmative duty to protect from damage the land, property, and 

interests of the United States; 
 

f. In the event of any breach of the sublease by the Sublessee, the Authorized Officer of 
the United States Forest Service may, on reasonable notice cure the breach for the 
account at the expense of the Sublessee. If the United States Forest Service at any 
time pays any sum of money or does any act which will require payment of money, 
or incurs any expense, including reasonable attorney's fees, in instituting, prosecuting, 
and/or defending any action or proceeding to enforce the United States rights 



 
9 

 

  

hereunder, the sum or sums so paid by the United States, with all interests, costs and 
damages shall, at the election of the Forest Service, be deemed to be additional rental 
hereunder and shall be due from the Sublessee to the United States Forest Service on 
the first day of the month following such election; 

 
23. COUNTERPARTS. This Sublease may be signed by any number of counterparts with the 

same effect as if the signature of each such counterpart were upon the same instrument. 
 
24. HEADINGS. The headings of the paragraphs of this Sublease are inserted as a matter of 

convenience and for reference purposes only and in no way define, limit or describe the 
scope of this Sublease or the intent of any paragraph hereof. 

 
25. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Sublease is the only Agreement between the parties hereto 

and contains all of the terms and conditions agreed upon with respect to the subject matter 
hereof. 

 
26. MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT. No amendment, change or modification of this 

Sublease shall be effective unless in writing stating that it amends this document and signed 
by each of the parties hereto. 

 
27. GOVERNING LAW. This Sublease shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 

State of North Carolina. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Sublease as of the day and year first 
above written. 
 
SUBLESSOR: Macon County 
 
By:  __________________________ 
            

                  Derek Roland, Manager 
 
 
 

SUBLESSEE: Sutton Radiocasting Corporation  
 

By:  _________________________ 



 
1 

 

  

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF MACON 

 

 
USE OF SPACE ON COMMUNICATIONS TOWER AND USE OF  

ASSOCIATED TRANSMITTER BUILDING SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 

AMENDMENT 

 

 

This Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use of Associated Transmitter Building 

Sublease Agreement Amendment is made and entered into this the ___ day of _________, 20__, 

by and between Macon County, North Carolina, a North Carolina County and Body Politic 

(hereinafter referred to as the “Sublessor”), and Blue Ridge Broadcasting Corporation, a North 

Carolina non-profit corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “Sublessee”). 

 

THAT WHEREAS, Sublessee presently holds the Federal Communication Commission (FCC) 

license for FM Translator Station W267AD (FCC Facility Identification Number 30442) 

assigned to the community of Cherokee, North Carolina (hereinafter referred to as the “Station”); 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Sublessor presently has a Lease with the United States of America, acting through 

the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture, for the Cowee Bald Communications site as shown 

therein, a copy of said Lease is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if more 

fully set forth herein; and 

 

WHEREAS, Sublessee desires to obtain from Sublessor, a use of space on communications tower 

and use of associated transmitter building sublease agreement from the Sublessor which will 

permit the location of the antenna and the use of the associated transmitter building for the Station 

at Cowee Bald Communications site as referenced in the Lease above referenced; and 

 

WHEREAS, Sublessor is willing to enter this Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use 

of Associated Transmitter Building Sublease Agreement with Sublessee, subject to the terms and 

conditions set forth hereinbelow. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms and conditions contained 

herein, the parties hereto do agree as follows: 

 



 
2 

 

  

1. SUBLEASEHOLD INTEREST. Sublessor sublets to Sublessee, and the Sublessee 

subleases from Sublessor the following: 

 

A. Those sections of the Tower (which Tower is colored in yellow on the Cowee 

Bald Communication Site Plan attached to the Lease Agreement referenced above) 

which are not being used by either Macon County or Jackson County and which 

are necessary for operation by Lessee's Station and such related equipment as is 

required for the efficient and effective operation of the Station, and which are 

specifically approved of by Sublessor and, to the extent necessary, which are 

specifically approved of in writing by the United State of America, acting 

through the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture. Such rights of use by 

Sublessee shall be non- exclusive and shall in no way interfere with the broadcast 

signals or other rights of existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications Site; 

 

B. The non-exclusive right-of-way space on said Tower and non-exclusive right-of-

way space to and from the Transmitter Building (which Building is numbered 

“1" and is colored in orange on the Cowee Bald Communication Site Plan 

attached to the Lease Agreement referenced above) for the connection, and 

passage by cables, wires and transmission lines and any transmission equipment 

required for the operation of the Station. Such rights of use by Sublessee shall be 

non-exclusive and shall in no way interfere with the broadcast signal or rights of 

existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications Site; 

 

C. The non-exclusive access to said Tower and said Transmitter Building for the 

purpose of operating broadcast equipment owned or operated by Lessee located 

there. Such rights of use by Sublessee shall be non-exclusive and shall in no way 

interfere with the broadcast signal or other rights of existing users of the Cowee 

Bald Communications Site; 

 

D. Sublessor and Sublessee recognize and agree that the Cowee Bald 

Communication Site is primarily an emergency communication site and as such, 

Sublessor specifically reserves the right to cancel this Use of Space on 

Communications Tower and Use of Associated Transmitter Building Sublease 

Agreement, without liability, should it hereafter determine within its discretion 

the need to do so in order to maintain and use the Cowee Bald Communication 

Site as an emergency communications site. Sublessor reserves the right to cancel 

this Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use of Associated Transmitter 

Building Sublease Agreement without liability should it determine within its 

discretion that the use made or to be made by Sublessee interferes or will 

interfere with the rights of existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications 

Site; 

 

E. If Sublessee does cause inference with the broadcast signal of existing users of 

the Cowee Bald Communications Site, then Sublessor Lessee shall have the right 

to immediately terminate this Use of Space on Communications Tower and Use 



 
3 

 

  

of Associated Transmitter Building Sublease Agreement; 

 

F. Sublessee shall operate its Station in full compliance with all FCC Rules and 

Regulations; 

 

G. It is agreed and understood that Sublessee shall, at its sole cost, undertake a tower 

study/engineering study prior making any significant changes to the site equipment such 

as new antennae, new transmitters, etc. hereunder to determine if the same will interfere 

with the broadcast signal of existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications 

Site. The same must show that all planned use by Sublessee hereunder will not 

interfere with the broadcast signal of existing users of the Cowee Bald 

Communications Site. A copy of the same shall be delivered unto Sublessor upon 

completion. All use by Sublessee hereunder must be in full compliance with FCC 

Rules and Regulations, all other State and Federal Regulations, and approved by 

the United States Forestry Service if such approval is necessary; 

 

2. TERM OF SUBLEASE. Upon all the terms and conditions of this Sublease, Sublessee 

shall have and hold the non-exclusive rights provided for herein for the period extending 

from the date hereof to and including midnight, on ___________, 20__, unless this Sublease 

is sooner terminated as specifically hereinafter provided. Prior to the end of the Term of 

this Sublease, Sublessee shall cause all of its fixtures and property to be removed from 

the subleased premises at its sole expense and shall cause any and all repairs that are 

necessary to restore the subleased premises to the conditions which existed immediately 

preceding the beginning of this sublease, reasonable wear and tear excepted; 

 

3. RENT. Sublessee will continue to pay the Sublessor rent in the amount of $250.00 per 

month on the first date of each month, during the term of this lease. The parties hereto 

do understand and agree that the United States Forest Service reserves the right to change 

what it charges unto Macon County in connection with its Lease with the United States 

of America as above-referenced. As a consequence, the parties hereto agree that the 

monthly rent of $250.00 per month provided for herein may be and shall be adjusted 

upward during the term hereof in the event that the United States Forest Service or other 

agent of the United States of America assesses a fee to Macon County for the use by 

Sublessee hereunder which exceeds the sum of $6,000.00 per year.  In this event, the 

monthly rental to be paid by Sublessee hereunder shall be increased by 1/12 of the 

amount that the annual sum assessed to Macon County for the use of the Sublessee 

hereunder which exceeds $6,000.00 per year.  

 
4. ASSIGNMENT. The Sublessee shall have no right to assign this Sublease and its rights 

under the Sublease to any affiliate or subsidiary of the Sublessee or subsequent owner of 

Lessee's Station, without the consent of Sublessor and the United States of America, acting 

through the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture; 

 

5. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE. Sublessee shall be responsible for all maintenance 

and repair of the Tower and the Tower supporting structures and the Transmitter Building 



 
4 

 

  

to be used hereunder by the Sublessee; 

 

6. PAYMENT OF TAXES. Sublessee shall be responsible for the payment of any personal 

property taxes imposed against the fixtures or equipment on the subleased premises 

which are owned by Sublessee; 

 
7. UTILITIES. Sublessor shall pay when due all electric and other utility charges made 

against the subleased premises during the term of this sublease; 

8. 

INSURANCE. Sublessor shall maintain adequate insurance coverage against fire, storm 

or other casualty loss or damage to Sublessor's property, as well as liability insurance 

against personal injury or property damage. Such insurance shall specifically provide for 

coverage for the repair and replacement of all structures, machinery and equipment 

owned by Sublessor located on or adjacent to, the Tower. 

 

Sublessee shall maintain adequate insurance coverage against fire, storm or other casualty 

loss or damage to Sublessee's property, as well as general liability insurance against 

personal injury of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). Evidence of said 

insurance shall be provided to Sublessor upon request of Sublessor. Failure to maintain said 

general liability policy by Sublessee shall result in the immediate termination of this 

Lease; 

 

9. DAMAGE TO OR DESTRUCTION OF THE TOWER. If the Tower subject to this 

Sublease    or any part thereof, or any equipment thereon shall be wholly or materially 

damaged or destroyed, at the sole option of the Sublessor, the Sublessor may repair, restore 

and/or replace the same, at the expense of Sublessor, to the condition which existed 

immediately prior to the occurrence of such casualty. 

 

However, in the event the damage to the Tower subject to this Sublease or any part thereof, 

or any equipment thereon, cannot be repaired within sixty (60) days (as reasonably 

estimated by Sublessor as soon as practicable after the occurrence of such damage) 

Sublessor may terminate this Lease as of the date of such damage; 

 

10. EMINENT  DOMAIN. If the Tower subject to this Sublease and/or the Transmitter 

Building Parcel subleased hereunder shall be appropriated or taken under the power of 

eminent domain by any public or quasi-public authority, this Sublease shall be 

terminated as of the date of such taking and Sublessee shall thereupon be released from 

any further liability hereunder. The date of such taking shall be the date on which legal 

title shall vest in the condemning authority; 

11. ACCESS TO LEASED PREMISES. It is mutually understood and agreed between the 

parties that Macon County, Jackson County and Sublessee may maintain broadcast 

apparatus on the Tower subject to this Sublease. Sublessor, Sublessee and all others 

having the right to use such Tower shall have the right to non-exclusive access to such 



 
5 

 

  

Tower for the purpose of operating, maintaining, inspecting and repairing such broadcast 

apparatus; 

12.  USE OF TOWER. Sublessee shall not take any action which will cause or permit electrical 

interference to the broadcast signal of any existing electronic communications apparatus 

on   the Tower subject to this Sublease or otherwise interfere with the broadcast signal or 

rights of any of the existing users of the Cowee Bald Communications Site. Sublessee 

shall be liable to Sublessor and shall indemnify Sublessor for any loss or damage to 

Sublessor's equipment, or for destructive electrical interference to the communications 

signals of Sublessor, consequential or otherwise, occasioned by, growing out of, or 

arising from any act or failure to act by Sublessee, its agents or employees, including such 

acts or failures to act which Lessee shall suffer to exist or continue to exist on the real 

property of Sublessor or such Tower. 

Any breach by Sublessee of Sublessor's right of use of the Tower as defined herein, shall 

confer upon the Sublessor the right to immediately terminate this Sublease without 

liability. Such rights shall be in addition to, and exclusive of such other rights contained 

in this Sublease or such rights at law or equity which Sublessor may possess. 

13. INDEMNIFICATION OF PARTIES. Sublessor shall have no liability for any loss or 

damage due to personal injury, property damage, libel or slander, or electrical 

interference, caused by Sublessee its agents, or employees, and Sublessee will indemnify 

and save Sublessor harmless from any loss, damage or liability, consequential or 

otherwise occasioned by, growing out of, or arising, or resulting in connection with, 

Sublessee or any act or failure to act by Sublessee, its agents, or employees. Sublessee 

shall have no liability for any loss or damage due to personal injury, property damage, 

libel or slander, or electrical interference caused by Sublessor; 

14.    AUTHORIZATION. Sublessor and Sublessee respectively represent and warrant to the    other 

that all necessary approvals and/or corporate action has been duly taken to authorize the 

execution and delivery of this Sublease and the performance or observance of the provisions 

of this Sublease. Additionally, Sublessor represents and warrants to the Sublessee that the 

necessary consent and/or approval of this Sublease have been obtained from the United 

States of America, acting through the Forest Service, Department of Agriculture, owner 

of the real property in which such tower and transmitter building parcel are situate. Absence 

of the landowner's consent and/or approval at any time during the Term shall grant the 

Sublessor and the Sublessee the right to immediately terminate the Lease without further 

liability; 

15.     NO WAIVER. Failure or delay on the part of either Sublessor or Sublessee to exercise any 

right, power, or privilege hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof; 

16. NOTICE. Any and all notices, demands or other communications required by this Lease 

or  by law, or desired to be given hereunder, by any party shall be in writing and shall be 

validly given or made to another party if served either personally or if deposited in the 

United States mail, certified, postage prepaid, return receipt requested. If such notice, 

demand or other communication be given by mail, such shall be conclusively deemed 

given as of the date shown on the return receipt if the same is deposited in the United 



 
6 

 

  

States mail addressed to the party to whom such notice, demand or other communication 

is to be given as hereinafter set forth: 

 

If to Lessor: 

Macon County 

Attention: County Manager 

5 West Main Street Franklin, North Carolina 28734 

  

If to Lessee: 

Billy Graham Evangelistic Association  

Attention: Justin T. Arnot, General Counsel 

1 Billy Graham Parkway 

Charlotte, NC 28201 

 

Any party hereto may change its address for the purpose of receiving notice, demands and 

other communications as herein provided by a written notice given in the manner aforesaid 

to the other party or parties hereto; 

 

17. AGENTS AND PARTIES. From time to time Lessor or Lessee by notice as aforesaid may 

appoint one or more agents to act for them; 

 

18. ATTACHMENTS, SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS. All Exhibits, Appendices and 

Schedules attached to this Lease shall be deemed part of this Lease and incorporated herein, 

where applicable, as if fully set forth herein. 

 

19. THAT THE LEASE BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ACTING 

THROUGH THE FOREST SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, AND 

MACON COUNTY, AND THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS THEREOF, A COPY OF 

SAID LEASE BEING ATTACHED HERETO ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY 

REFERENCE AS IF MORE FULLY SET FORTH HEREIN. TO THE EXTENT THAT 

ANY OF THE FOREGOING TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS USE OFSPACE 

ON COMMUNICATIONS TOWER AND USE OF ASSOCIATED TRANSMITTER 

BUILDING SUBLEASE AGREEMENT CONFLICT WITH OR ARE INCONSISTENT 

WITH SAID LEASE AGREEMENT, THEN THE TERMS OF SAID LEASE 

AGREEMENT SHALL PREVAIL, IT BEING THE SPECIFIC INTENT OF BOTH 

PARTIES HERETO NOT TO SUBLEASE INCONSISTENTLY WITH SAID LEASE. 

 

20.             ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE SUBLESSEE. 

  

a. All development, operation and maintenance by Sublessee of the authorized facility, 

improvements, and equipment located on the property shall be in accordance with 

stipulations in the communications site plan approved by the Authorized Officer of the 

United States Forest Service. If required by Authorized Officer of the United States 

Forest Service, all plans for development, layout, construction, or alteration of 

improvements on the property, as well as revisions of such plans, must be prepared by 



 
7 

 

  

a licensed engineer, architect, and/or landscape architect. Such plans must be approved 

in writing by the Authorized Officer of the United States Forest Service before 

commencement of any work. After completion, as-built plans, maps, surveys, or other 

similar information will be provided to the Authorized Officer of the United States 

Forest Service and appended to the communications site plan; 

 

b. The Sublessee will comply with applicable Federal, State, county, and municipal 

laws, regulations and standards for public health and safety, environmental 

protection, siting, construction, operation, and maintenance in exercising the rights 

granted by this Sublease. The obligations of the Sublessee under this lease are not 

contingent upon any duty of the Authorized Officer of the United States Forest 

Service, or other agent of the United States, to inspect the premises. A failure by the 

United States, or other governmental officials, to inspect is not a defense to 

noncompliance with any of the terms or conditions of this lease. Sublessee waives all 

defenses of laches or estoppel against the United States. The Sublessee shall at all 

times keep the title of the United States to the property free and clear of all liens and 

encumbrances; 

 

c. Use of communications equipment is contingent upon the possession of a valid 

Federal Communication Commission (FCC) or Director of Telecommunications 

Management/Interdepartmental Radio Advisory Committee (DTM/IRAC) 

authorization, and the operation of the equipment is in strict compliance with 

applicable requirements of FCC or IRAC. A copy of each applicable license or 

authorization shall at all times be maintained by the Sublessee for each transmitter 

being operated. The Sublessee shall provide the Authorized Officer of the United 

States Forest Service, and the Sublessor, when requested, with current copies of all 

licenses for equipment in or on facilities covered by this lease; 

 

d. The Sublessee shall ensure that equipment within its facility operates in a manner 

which will not cause harmful interference with the operation of existing equipment 

on or adjacent to the communications site. If the Authorized Officer of the United 

States Forest Service or authorized official of the Federal Communication 

Commission (FCC) determines that the Sublessee’s use interferes with existing 

equipment, the Sublessee will promptly take the necessary steps to eliminate or 

reduce the harmful interference to the satisfaction of the Authorized Officer of the 

United States Forest Service or FCC official; 

 

e. When requested by the Authorized Officer of the United States Forest Service, the 

Sublessee will furnish technical information concerning the equipment located on the 

property; 

 

21.      OTHER PROVISIONS. 

 

The provisions of Paragraph “V. OTHER PROVISIONS” as contained in the Lease  

between Macon County and the United States of America, acting through the Forest 



 
8 

 

  

Service, Department of Agriculture, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference, shall apply to the Sublessee named herein and Sublessee shall at all 

times be bound by, subject to and comply with the same. 

 

22. LIABILITIES. 

 

a. The Sublessee assumes all risk of loss to the authorized improvements by Sublessee; 

 

b. The Sublessee shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws, 

regulations, and standards, including but not limited to, the Federal Water Pollution 

Control Act, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 

42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq., the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Control, and 

Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq., and other relevant environmental laws, as well 

as public health and safety laws and other laws relating to the siting, construction, 

operation and maintenance of any facility, improvement, or equipment on the 

property made by Lessee or its agents hereunder; 

 

c. The Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold the United States harmless for any 

violations incurred under any such laws and regulations or for judgments, claims, or 

demands assessed against the United States in connection with the Sublessee's use or 

occupancy of the property. The Sublessee’s indemnification of the United States shall 

include any loss of personal injury, loss of life or damage to property in connection 

with the occupancy or use of the property during the term of this Sublease. 

Indemnification shall include, but is not limited to, the value of resources damaged 

or destroyed; the costs of restoration, cleanup, or other mitigation; fire suppression or 

other types of abatement costs; third party claims and judgments; and all 

administrative, interest, and other legal costs. This paragraph shall survive the 

termination or revocation of this lease, regardless of cause; 

 

d. The United States Forest Service has no duty, either before or during this Sublease 

term, to inspect the property or to warn of hazards and, if the United States Forest 

Service inspects the property, it shall incur no additional duty nor any liability for 

hazards not identified or discovered through such inspections. This paragraph shall 

survive the termination or revocation of this lease, regardless of cause; 

 

e. The Sublessee has an affirmative duty to protect from damage the land, property, and 

interests of the United States; 

 

f. In the event of any breach of the sublease by the Sublessee, the Authorized Officer of 

the United States Forest Service may, on reasonable notice cure the breach for the 

account at the expense of the Sublessee. If the United States Forest Service at any 

time pays any sum of money or does any act which will require payment of money, 

or incurs any expense, including reasonable attorney's fees, in instituting, prosecuting, 

and/or defending any action or proceeding to enforce the United States rights 

hereunder, the sum or sums so paid by the United States, with all interests, costs and 



 
9 

 

  

damages shall, at the election of the Forest Service, be deemed to be additional rental 

hereunder and shall be due from the Sublessee to the United States Forest Service on 

the first day of the month following such election; 

 

23. COUNTERPARTS. This Sublease may be signed by any number of counterparts with the 

same effect as if the signature of each such counterpart were upon the same instrument. 

 

24. HEADINGS. The headings of the paragraphs of this Sublease are inserted as a matter of 

convenience and for reference purposes only and in no way define, limit or describe the 

scope of this Sublease or the intent of any paragraph hereof. 

 

25. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Sublease is the only Agreement between the parties hereto 

and contains all of the terms and conditions agreed upon with respect to the subject matter 

hereof. 

 

26. MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT. No amendment, change or modification of this 

Sublease shall be effective unless in writing stating that it amends this document and signed 

by each of the parties hereto. 

 

27. GOVERNING LAW. This Sublease shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 

State of North Carolina. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Sublease as of the day and year first 

above written. 

 

SUBLESSOR: Macon County 

 
By:  __________________________ 

 

            Derek Roland, Manager 

 

 
 

 

SUBLESSEE: Blue Ridge Broadcasting Corporation  

 

By:  _________________________ 



 1 Revised 02-21-22 

 

 
 

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM RESOLUTION 

 

FY 2024 RESOLUTION 

 

Section 5311 (including ADTAP), 5310, 5339, 5307 and applicable State funding, or combination thereof. 

 

 

Applicant seeking permission to apply for Public Transportation Program funding, enter into agreement with 

the North Carolina Department of Transportation, provide the necessary assurances and the required local 

match. 

 

A motion was made by (Board Member’s Name)       and seconded by (Board Member’s Name or N/A, if not 

required)       for the adoption of the following resolution, and upon being put to a vote was duly adopted. 

 

WHEREAS, Article 2B of Chapter 136 of the North Carolina General Statutes and the Governor of 

North Carolina have designated the North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT) as the 

agency responsible for administering federal and state public transportation funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the North Carolina Department of Transportation will apply for a grant from the US 

Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration and receives funds from the North 

Carolina General Assembly to provide assistance for rural public transportation projects; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the purpose of these transportation funds is to provide grant monies to local agencies for 

the provision of rural, small urban, and urban public transportation services consistent with the policy 

requirements of each funding source for planning, community and agency involvement, service design, 

service alternatives, training and conference participation, reporting and other requirements (drug and 

alcohol testing policy and program, disadvantaged business enterprise program, and fully allocated 

costs analysis); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the funds applied for may be Administrative, Operating, Planning, or Capital funds and 

will have different percentages of federal, state, and local funds. 

 

 WHEREAS, non-Community Transportation applicants may apply for funding for “purchase-of-

service” projects under the Capital Purchase of Service budget, Section 5310 program. 

 

WHEREAS, (Legal Name of Applicant)        hereby assures and certifies that it will provide the 

required local matching funds; that its staff has the technical capacity to implement and manage the 

project(s), prepare required reports, obtain required training, attend meetings and conferences; and 

agrees to comply with the federal and state statutes, regulations, executive orders, Section 5333 (b) 

Warranty, and all administrative requirements related to the applications made to and grants received 

from the Federal Transit Administration, as well as the provisions of Section 1001 of Title 18, U. S. C. 

 



 2 Revised 02-21-22 

 

WHEREAS, the applicant has or will provide all annual certifications and assurances to the  

State of North Carolina required for the project;  

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that the (Authorized Official’s Title)*       of (Name of Applicant’s 

Governing Body)        is hereby authorized to submit grant application (s) for federal and state funding in 

response to NCDOT’s calls for projects, make the necessary assurances and certifications and be 

empowered to enter into an agreement with the NCDOT to provide rural, small urban, and urban public 

transportation services. 

I (Certifying Official’s Name)*        (Certifying Official’s Title)        do hereby certify that the above is a true 

and correct copy of an excerpt from the minutes of a meeting of the (Name of Applicant’s Governing Board)       

duly held on the       day of      ,      . 

       

 

 

Signature of Certifying Official 

 

*Note that the authorized official, certifying official, and notary public should be three separate individuals. 

 

 

Seal Subscribed and sworn to me 

(date)  

 

 

 

Notary Public * 

 

 

Printed Name and Address        

 

My commission expires 

(date)  

 

 

 

 

Affix Notary Seal Here 



 





 

   

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION EXEMPTING ENGINEERING SERVICES F O R  G R O U N D W A T E R  

M O N I T O R I N G  A N D  R E P O R T I N G  F O R  T H E  S O L I D  W A S T E  

D E P A R T M E N T ,  MACON COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, FROM THE PROVISIONS 

OF ARTICLE 3D OF CHAPTER 143 OF THE NORTH CAROLINA GENERAL 

STATUTES 
 

 
WHEREAS, Article   3D of Chapter 143 of   the   North   Carolina   General   Statutes 

establishes a general public policy regarding procurement of engineering services; and 

 
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statutes Section 143-64.32 provides: 

 
"Units of local government or the North Carolina Department of Transportation may in 

writing exempt   particular projects from the provisions of this Article in the case of proposed projects 

w h e r e  an estimated professional fee is in an amount l e s s  than fifty thousand d o l l a r s  

($50,000)"; and 

 
WHEREAS, Macon County is now in need of engineering services for the groundwater 

monitoring program in Macon County, North Carolina; and 

 
WHEREAS, the estimated professional engineering fee for these services in Macon County, 

North Carolina is in an amount less than fifty thousand ($50,000) dollars. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF MACON that the proposed engineering services 

for the Solid Waste Department Convenience Center site development is hereby exempted in writing 

from the provisions of Article 3D of Chapter 1 4 3  of North Carolina G e n e r a l  S t a t u t e s  

p u r s u a n t  to the provisions of N.C.  Gen. Stat. §143-64.32. 

 
Adopted this 8th day of November, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
James Tate, Chairman 

Macon County Board of Commissioners 

 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
Clerk to the Board 

 

(COUNTY SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

   

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION EXEMPTING ENGINEERING SERVICES F O R  T H E  S O L I D  W A S T E  

D E P A R T M E N T ,  D E S I G N  A N D  N O R T H  C A R O L I N A  D E P A R T M E N T  O F  

T R A N S P O R T A T I O N  P E R M I T T I N G  A N D  C O N S T R U C T I O N  

M A I N T E N A N C E ,  MACON COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, FROM THE PROVISIONS 

OF ARTICLE 3D OF CHAPTER 143 OF THE NORTH CAROLINA GENERAL STATUTES 
 

 
WHEREAS, Article   3D of Chapter 143 of   the   North   Carolina   General   Statutes 

establishes a general public policy regarding procurement of engineering services; and 

 
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statutes Section 143-64.32 provides: 

 
"Units of local government or the North Carolina Department of Transportation may in writing 

exempt   particular projects from the provisions of this Article in the case of proposed projects w h e r e  an 

estimated professional fee is in an amount l e s s  than fifty thousand d o l l a r s  ($50,000)"; and 

 
WHEREAS, Macon County is now in need of engineering services for the design and permitting of 

a deceleration lane at the future Carson Convenience Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, the estimated professional engineering fee for these services in Macon County, 

North Carolina is in an amount less than fifty thousand ($50,000) dollars. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OF THE COUNTY OF MACON that the proposed engineering services for the Solid Waste 

Department Convenience Center site development is hereby exempted in writing from the provisions of 

Article 3D of Chapter 1 4 3  of North Carolina G e n e r a l  S t a t u t e s  p u r s u a n t  to the provisions of 

N.C.  Gen. Stat. §143-64.32. 

 
Adopted this 8th day of November, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
James Tate, Chairman 

Macon County Board of Commissioners 

 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
Clerk to the Board 

 

(COUNTY SEAL) 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

To:  Macon County Board of Commissioners 

 

From:  Chris Stahl, Director of Solid Waste Management 

 

RE:  Solid Waste Agenda Item – Approval of Recommendation of RFQ #03-4712q 

 

On October 10, 2022, Macon County posted a Request for Qualifications for engineering services related to a 

major modification to the Macon County MSW Landfill – Permit #57-03.  This modification is required by 

NCDEQ when the owner increases the capacity in a landfill by more than 10 percent.  The nature of the 

increase via vertical expansion is explained in the body of the Board Agenda Item submitted on November 1, 

2022.  The request period ended at 4:00pm on November 3, 2022. 

 

Only one Statement of Qualifications was submitted by McGill Associates/Bunnell Lammons Engineering.  

After review, the submittal was found to be responsive to all requirements of the RFQ.  Therefore, it is the 

recommendation of the Review Committee that the Macon County Board of Commissioners approve McGill 

Associates/BLE to provide engineering services for the re-permitting of the Macon County MSW Landfill 

based on a major modification of the Landfill; and, authorize the County Manager to negotiate and enter into 

a contract(s) with McGill Associates/BLE for the same.BOC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Macon County Department of Solid Waste Management 
109 Sierra Drive, Franklin, North Carolina 28734  

Phone: (828) 349-2100; Fax: (828) 349-2185 

Email: cstahl@maconnc.org 

 

 

mailto:cstahl@maconnc.org


Macon County
Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical 
Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County 
MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)



A Introductory Letter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1–2

B Experience of Firm and References . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3–10

C  Team Organization, Management,  
and General Qualifications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .11–15

D Individual Qualifications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16–21

E Insurance Requirements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22–24

F Proposed Schedule  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

G Non-Collusion Affidavit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26–28

H Proposed Hourly Rates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29–31

Table of Contents

PREPARED FOR

Lindsay Leopard 
Accountant / Purchasing Agent
Macon County Finance Department
5 West Main Street
Franklin, NC 28734

PREPARED BY

McGill Associates, PA
55 Broad Street
Asheville, NC 28801
828.252.0575
mcgillassociates.com



November 3, 2022

Lindsay Leopard 
Accountant / Purchasing Agent
Macon County Finance Department
5 West Main Street
Franklin, NC 28734

RE:	 Statement	of	Qualifications
  Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon 

County	MSW	Landfill	(RFQ	No.	03-4712q)

Dear Lindsay Leopard:

McGill	is	Macon	County’s	partner	for	solid	waste	projects,	and	our	team	of	professionals	is	uniquely	
qualified	to	provide	outstanding	assistance	to	the	County.	McGill,	along	with	our	team	member	—	
Bunnell	Lammons	Engineering	(BLE)	—	have	extensive	experience	in	solid	waste	engineering	design	
and	permitting,	as	well	as	familiarity	with	Macon	County	and	are	in	close	proximity	to	the	landfill	site.

McGill	was	founded	in	1984	on	principles	of	service	and	client	loyalty,	which	continue	to	drive	
our	organization	today.	We	develop	strong	working	relationships	with	our	clients,	earning	their	
confidence	and	respect	by	exhibiting	professionalism,	personal	integrity,	innovation,	and	character.	
We	would	be	pleased	to	work	with	Macon	County	to	provide	the	services	outlined	in	the	Request	
for	Qualifications	(RFQ).	For	this	SOQ,	we	have	compiled	our	solid	waste	team	to	provide	the	services	
requested,	as	outlined	herein,	including	these	unique	qualifications:

• McGill	has	been	associated	with	the	Macon	County	MSW	Landfill	since	1995	and	was	involved	
in	the	original	permitting	and	design	of	phase	2.

• McGill	has	over	38	years	of	professional	engineering	services	experience.	We	have	completed	
numerous	solid	waste	projects	that	include	landfill	closure	design,	permitting,	bidding	and	
award, and construction phase assistance for both MSW and construction and demolition 
waste	landfills.	

• To supplement our team of experts, we have chosen to team with BLE for geotechnical 
services	and	Ed	Holmes	&	Associates	Land	Surveyors	for	surveying,	utilizing	staff	that	have	
previously	worked	with	Macon	County	on	this	project.	BLE	was	founded	in	1996	and	provides	
quality	environmental,	geotechnical,	geological	soil	testing,	and	construction	materials	
engineering	services	to	clients.	BLE	is	dedicated	to	the	pursuit	of	technical	excellence	with	
uncompromising commitment to business and personal ethics and will provide geotechnical 
and	geological	stability	analysis	expertise	to	our	team.

Shaping Communities Together

MCGILL ASSOCIATES 55 BROAD STREET, ASHEVILLE, NC 28801 / 828.252.0575 / MCGILLASSOCIATES.COM



• Our	additional	solid	waste	services	include	master	planning,	landfill	gas-to-energy	facilities,	
transfer	stations,	material	recovery	facilities	and	recycling	centers,	financial	analysis,	capital	
improvement planning, environmental assessments, preliminary engineering, cost estimating, 
permitting	and	regulatory	compliance,	constructability	review,	pre-bidding	services,	bidding	
and	contracting	services,	and	construction	administration	and	observation.		

• We have the knowledge, experience, and necessary resources needed to complete projects on 
time	and	within	budget.	We	are	confident	that	our	qualifications,	knowledge	of	North	Carolina	
solid	waste	regulations,	and	overall	approach	are	reflective	of	our	ability	to	successfully	perform	
the	needed	engineering	services	within	the	County’s	time	frame	and	budget.

• Our	team	is	well-rounded	and	comprehensive.	Due	to	the	complexity	of	solid	waste	initiatives,	
we recognize the importance of clear lines of communication and immediate access to the 
necessary	resources.	Mark	Cathey,	Solid	Waste	Practice	Area	Lead,	who	has	more	than	26	
years of solid waste experience in North Carolina, will be the primary point of contact for 
communication	with	the	County.

Finally, and perhaps the most important factor, is our sincere desire to continue our working 
relationship	with	Macon	County.	We	pride	ourselves	on	long-term	client	relationships	that	are	
maintained	and	upheld	by	our	responsiveness	and	quality	of	work	product	provided.	Our	team	will	
provide	the	specific	expertise	that	you	need	for	this	project	and	will	work	seamlessly	with	your	
solid	waste	department.	If	you	have	any	questions,	please	contact	us	at	828.252.0575.	Thank	you	
for	your	consideration.

Sincerely,
MCGILL	ASSOCIATES,	PA	

ANDY	C.	LOVINGOOD,	PE	 	 	 	
President

MCGILL ASSOCIATES 55 BROAD STREET, ASHEVILLE, NC 28801 / 828.252.0575 / MCGILLASSOCIATES.COM

Shaping Communities Together



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

3

B | Experience of Firm and References

NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF EXAMINERS

FOR ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS

4601 Six Forks Rd  Suite 310

Raleigh, North Carolina 27609

C-0459

McGill Associates, P.A.

PO Box 2259

Asheville, NC 28802

This is to Certify that: 

This authorization must be renewed annually, and expires on June 30, 2023

License No. :

McGill Associates, P.A. is licensed with the North Carolina Board of Examiners for Engineers and Surveyors, and 

is authorized to practice engineering and land surveying under the provisions of Chapter 89C and 55B of the 

General Statutes of North Carolina.

Issued 06/07/2022

POST IN PLACE OF BUSINESS

THE NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF 

EXAMINERS FOR ENGINEERS

AND SURVEYORS

Executive Director

Telephone

(919) 791-2000

FAX

(919) 791-2012

EMAIL Address

ncbels@ncbels.org

WEB Site

www.ncbels.org

State Licenses

Note:  McGill is no longer licensed to provide surveying services in North Carolina  
(a copy of the new license will be issued soon).



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

4

C-284

06/30/202302/01/1999

Bunnell-Lammons	Engineering,	Inc.

NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF EXAMINERS

FOR ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS

4601 Six Forks Rd  Suite 310

Raleigh, North Carolina 27609

C-1538

Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc.

Attn: Richard Hall

6004 Ponders Court

Greenville, SC 29615

This is to Certify that: 

This authorization must be renewed annually, and expires on June 30, 2023

License No. :

Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc. is licensed with the North Carolina Board of Examiners for Engineers and 

Surveyors, and is authorized to practice  engineering under the provisions of Chapter 89C and 55B of the General 

Statutes of North Carolina.

Issued 06/13/2022

POST IN PLACE OF BUSINESS

THE NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF 

EXAMINERS FOR ENGINEERS

AND SURVEYORS

Executive Director

Telephone

(919) 791-2000

FAX

(919) 791-2012

EMAIL Address

ncbels@ncbels.org

WEB Site

www.ncbels.org

NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF EXAMINERS

FOR ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS

4601 Six Forks Rd  Suite 310

Raleigh, North Carolina 27609

C-2806

Ed Holmes and Associates Land Surveyors, PA

PO Box 17335

Asheville, NC 28816

This is to Certify that: 

This authorization must be renewed annually, and expires on June 30, 2023

License No. :

Ed Holmes and Associates Land Surveyors, PA is licensed with the North Carolina Board of Examiners for 

Engineers and Surveyors, and is authorized to practice  land surveying under the provisions of Chapter 89C and 

55B of the General Statutes of North Carolina.

Issued 06/29/2022

POST IN PLACE OF BUSINESS

THE NORTH CAROLINA BOARD OF 

EXAMINERS FOR ENGINEERS

AND SURVEYORS

Executive Director

Telephone

(919) 791-2000

FAX

(919) 791-2012

EMAIL Address

ncbels@ncbels.org

WEB Site

www.ncbels.org



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

5

Client Reference
Chris Stahl 
Solid Waste Director
828.349.2100

Macon County
Design and Permitting: Phase 3 of MSW Landfill 
McGill and BLE prepared plans to permit and construct an eight-acre 
Subtitle D waste area. The project consisted of preparing a master plan 
for the new area, detailed design, and permit modifications requiring 
expansion of the leachate collection system, environmental review and 
permitting, updating the site study, and preparing an alternative site 
analysis. Phase 3 of the MSW landfill was designed and permitted and 
construction was completed in 2018.

MSW Landfill Site Study
McGill and BLE prepared an updated site study to expand the existing 
Macon County MSW Landfill to add additional properties and expand the 
landfill footprint.

Landfill Master Plan
McGill prepared a long-term site plan for the Macon County MSW 
Landfill. The plan considered alternatives for the development of the 
site, recommended additional property acquisitions, and proposed the 
sequencing of Subtitle D cell development and the location of other 
facilities, including leachate collection, recycling, waste transfer facilities,  
and waste baling facilities.

Relevant Project Examples



Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Closure Cap
Haywood County
The Francis Farm Landfill (FFLF) assessment of corrective measures (ACM) resulted in a corrective 
action plan (CAP) being prepared for the landfill. The selected corrective action was the installation of a 
synthetic cover over the closed, unlined landfill and purchase of neighboring properties to increase the 
waste area buffer and compliance boundaries. This CAP project was designed and permitted by McGill 
and BLE in 2017 and construction began in June 2020. The project included placement of a synthetic cover, 
relocation of access to a bus maintenance garage that supports the county school system, installation 
of a new gas collection system to replace the existing system — which will be abandoned during cap 
placement — refurbishment of landfill gas collection wells, leachate dewatering pumps, and leachate 
collection systems. 

Client Reference
David Francis 
Program Administrator
828.356.2602

Francis Farm Landfill — Gas-to-Energy System 
Haywood County
McGill designed and provided permitting services to a landfill gas collection and combustion system at 
the closed FFLF. The project consisted of landfill gas collection piping and appurtenances, a skid-mounted 
landfill gas blower and flare package, and an engine and generator unit complete with utility compliant 
switchgear. The system allows Haywood County to capture methane gas and power the engine and 
generator unit to produce electricity for sale to the local Electric Membership Corporation. The project 
was funded in part by a $1 million grant from the North Carolina State Energy Office as a part of its Energy 
Efficiency and Conservation Plan.

Client Reference
David Francis 
Program Administrator
828.356.2602

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

6



EXISTING CONDITIONS, DEMOLITION, &

SHEET LAYOUT PLAN55 Broad Street

Asheville, NC 28801

828.252.0575

NC Firm License # C-0459

mcgillassociates.com CATAWBA COUNTY,  NORTH CAROLINA

BETHANCY CHURCH ROAD LANDFILL

CAP IMPROVEMENTS

M. CATHEY

S. BURWELL

A. WALDROUP

S. BURWELL JANUARY, 2021 17.00707 N/A

L
:\

B
R

O
A

D
S

T
R

E
E

T
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\2
0

1
7

\1
7

.0
0

7
0

7
 -

 N
E

W
T

O
N

 L
A

N
D

F
IL

L
\D

E
S

IG
N

\S
O

L
ID

 W
A

S
T

E
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\2
0

2
0

 -
 C

A
P

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

\1
7

.0
0

7
0

7
 -

 B
C

R
L

 C
A

P
 P

R
O

J
E

C
T

.D
W

G
 P

L
O

T
 D

A
T

E
 1

/2
2

/2
0

2
1

 1
:5

6
 P

M
 A

D
A

M
 W

A
L

D
R

O
U

P

NO. DATE BY DESCRIPTION

SHEET

OFFICE MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

DESIGNER

REVIEWER DATE PROJECT # FUNDING #

EW-37,EW-16, EW-15, EW-17, EW-14R, EW-36, EW-35, EW-100, EW-13R, EW-19, EW-20, 
EW-101, EW-109, EW-12R, EW-21, EW-110, EW-102, EW-11R, EW-103, EW-22, EW-112,
EW-10, EW-104, EW-9, EW-18

-

Scott Burwell 
2021.01.22 
14:22:37 -05'00'

Bethany Church Road (Newton) Landfill — Closure Cap
Catawba County
McGill assisted Catawba County by developing conceptual plans and cost estimates to permit and 
construct repairs and reconstruction of the landfill cap on a 60-acre closed landfill. Our detailed 
preliminary analysis included topographic and property survey, a soil borrow study, and a detailed report 
to address cap improvements at the closed landfill.

Client Reference
Rodney Hamby
Landfill Supervisor
704.462.1348

Construction and Demolition (C&D) Landfill Expansion
Rutherford County 
McGill is working with the County on the development of a ten-year capacity construction and demolition 
waste landfill. Our services include all phases of development, including site study update; design and 
permitting; permit to construct application to North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality 
(NCDEQ); construction bid documents; construction advertising, bidding, and award assistance; construction 
administration and construction quality assurance; and permit to operate documentation. The project is 
located in a challenging topographic setting typical of landfill development in western North Carolina.

Client Reference
Jim Kilgo
Director of Solid  
Waste Services
Rutherford County
828.287.6002

David Odom, PE 
President / Founder of  
Odom Engineering, PLLC 
828.247.4495

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

7



Stoney Mountain Road Landfill Convenience Center
Henderson County
McGill prepared the redesign of the entrance facilities and citizens’ convenience center at the Stoney 
Mountain Road Landfill facility, including the addition of new entrance permitting with the North 
Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). The new entrance included new inbound and outbound 
scales and a bypass lane for commercial tared customers, which greatly increased traffic efficiency and 
eliminated previous congestion on Stoney Mountain Road. The entrance also included a new scale 
house to serve the County’s transfer station facility. The relocation of the citizens’ convenience center 
away from the commercial waste collection vehicle traffic was of prime importance to the County for 
safety and access reasons. The new convenience center site was ultimately chosen on top of an adjacent 
closed landfill cell. The site includes a covered structure for the collection of such items as waste oil and 
oil filters, antifreeze, batteries, and electronics. The existing pre-fabricated household hazardous waste 
(HHW) collection facility was relocated to a designated location within the site. 

Client Reference
Marcus Jones, PE
Director of Engineering 
and Facility Services
828.694.6526

Facility Stormwater Pond 
Improvements
Watauga County 
The County utilized a single stormwater pond located at the lowest 
elevation of its utilized property to manage stormwater that flowed 
from its property. The pond was in desperate need of repair and was also 
showing signs of maintenance neglect, relative to the riser structure being 
non-existent and the emergency overflow not being properly constructed. 
We designed an expanded capacity pond inclusive of a new combined 
outlet / emergency overflow outlet structure. The pond also included 
a forebay for improved treatment and ease of maintenance, which will 
act as a temporary structure during rebuild of the primary pond. The 

Client Reference
Rex Buck 
Operations Services 
Director 
828.264.5305

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

8



CoGeneration Facility General Services
Catawba County
Client Reference: Rodney Hamby, Landfill 
Supervisor; 704.462.1348

McGill developed the civil site plan for the 
addition of future gas generators. The site plan 
was developed to avoid area of gas condensate 
contamination in case future remedial action was 
required at the location of a leak.

Blackburn Resource Recovery Facility 
— Landfill Design, Permitting, and 
Construction, Multiple Phases
Catawba County
Client Reference: Rodney Hamby, Landfill 
Supervisor; 704.462.1348

McGill prepared design and permitting documents 
for the first Subtitle D cell and the first piggy-back 
MSW cell in the County. This has included 4 separate 
landfill expansion projects for Units 2 and 3 from 
1998 to 2009.

MSW Transfer Station
Madison County
Client Reference: Sam Lunsford, Solid Waste 
Director; 828.649.2311

McGill designed a solid waste transfer station to 
permit the County to close its landfill and haul its 
waste to another disposal site. The project included 
site design, transfer station design, erosion control, 
stormwater, on-site utilities, bidding services, 
construction administration, and financial services. 

MSW Landfill Closure: McGill designed, permitted, 
and provided construction administration services 
for Subtitle D landfill closure.

Construction / Demolition Design and Permitting: 
McGill performed testing, field investigation, and 
developed design drawings for permitting a new 
landfill cell.

Highway 209 Convenience Center
Haywood County
Client Reference: David Francis, Program 
Administrator; 828.356.2602

Our team developed a new convenience center 
on property owned by Haywood County Schools 
to replace the existing convenience center along 
Highway 209. McGill proposed a site with a new 
entrance to provide vehicle storage and avoid 
highway congestion, two MSW compactors, 
a recycling material compactor, an open-top 
roll-off container for bulky material, an oil drop-
off station, attendant hut, site lighting, and a 
portable toilet — all within a paved fenced in 
area. For this project, McGill provided design, 
permitting, bidding and award, and construction 
administration and observation.

C&D Landfill Phase 5 and 6
Buncombe County
Client Reference: Dane Pedersen, Director of Solid 
Waste, 828.250.5460

McGill prepared permit drawings for modifying 
phase 5 and the development of phase 6 of the 
County’s construction and demolition landfill, 
including design hydrogeological report for 
phase 6. The project  also included updating 
the operations plan and the closure and post 
closure plan narratives, as well as updating 
the engineering drawings. Our services also 
included detailed design of vertical expansion, 
stormwater management system update, slope 
stability analysis, new access road, construction 
administration, and construction quality assurance. 

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

9



History of Litigation
We are a large and diversified consulting firm with multiple offices spread over three 
states, handling hundreds of projects throughout the Southeast. Although litigation 
is an increasing fact of life in the construction industry, McGill’s claim to project ratio 
is extremely low. Over the past five years, McGill has been involved with six claims set forth below. 
Three claims have been resolved out of court, one is currently pending, and two are in negotiations 
of settlement without legal suits being filed. All claims resolved by mediation contain non-disclosure 
language that prevents us from releasing the actual terms of settlement.

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

10

References 

Catawba County
Rodney Hamby, Landfill Supervisor
Post Office Box 389 
Newton, NC 28658 
rhamby@catawbacountync.gov 
704.462.1348

Haywood County
David Francis, Program Administrator
215 North Main Street 
Waynesville, NC 28786 
david.francis@haywoodcountync.gov 
828.356.2602 

Watauga County
Rex Buck, Operations Services Director
336 Landfill Road 
Boone, NC 28607 
rex.buck@watgov.org 
828.264.5305

Buncombe County
Dane Pedersen, Solid Waste Director
81 Panther Branch Road 
Alexander, NC 28701 
dane.pedersen@buncombecounty.org 
828.250.5460  

North Carolina Department of 
Environmental Quality
Allen W. Gaither, PE, Environmental Engineer
2090 US Highway 70 
Swannanoa, NC 28778 
allen.gaither@ncdenr.gov 
828.296.4703

Henderson County
Marcus Jones, PE, Director of Engineering
1 Historic Courthouse Square, Suite C 
Hendersonville, NC 28792 
mjones@hendersoncountync.gov 
828.694.6526



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

11

C |  Team Organization, Management, 
and General Qualifications

Contact
Mark Cathey, PE
Principal / Vice President /  
Solid Waste Practice Area Lead 
mark.cathey@mcgillassociates.com

Locations 

What We Do
Solid Waste 

Water and Wastewater

Civil Engineering

Water Resources

Electrical Engineering

Mechanical, Electrical, and Plumbing

Construction Administration

Land Planning and Recreation

Environmental

Consulting Services

How We’re Different 
McGill serves public and private clients throughout 
the Southeast. The range and depth of McGill’s 
expertise includes a wide spectrum of engineering 
services, land planning and recreation, as well as 
consulting services. 

Our foundation is built on creating comprehensive 
solutions in a personal way. Collaboration is the 
key to our success and clients are an integral part 
of every project at McGill. By building lasting 
relationships with communities, we understand 
our clients’ visions and project goals. Our dedicated 
project team focuses on delivering a customized 
solution for each unique community.

We help our clients identify challenges, formulate 
responsive solutions, and manage successful project 
completion. Through partnership, we shape the best 
results for each client and community.

Local Office:
55 Broad Street 
Asheville, NC 28801 
828.252.0575

Shallotte

Hickory Raleigh

Williamsburg

Knoxville
Asheville

Pinehurst

At a Glance
Legal Name: McGill Associates, PA
Incorporated / Year: 1984
Business Type: Corporation
Number of Offices: 7
Number of Employees: 144



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

12

Subconsultants

Macon County Landfill 

Contact
Andrew Alexander, PG, RSM 
BLE Services Lead 
andy.alexander@blecorp.com

Office Location
130 Oval Road, Suite 200, Arden, NC 28704 
800.249.0176   |   blecorp.com

BLE provides engineering and environmental solutions for projects in 
commercial, industrial, institutional, and infrastructure markets. The 
firm’s services include environmental consulting and engineering, 
geotechnical engineering, construction engineering and inspections, 
and construction materials testing. Utilizing a team approach, BLE 
provides clients with the technical expertise required to successfully 
complete each project. Founded in 1996, the firm is headquartered in 
Greenville, South Carolina, with offices in Columbia, South Carolina, 
Charleston, South Carolina, and Arden, North Carolina.

BLE is staffed and equipped to provide trained, experienced, and 
courteous inspectors and engineering technicians to perform all required 
testing. The firm also provides prompt engineering consultation, when 
requested, and has technicians certified by AWS, ACI, ASNT, ICC, SC LLR, 
and NICET.

Geotechnical Services

• Site exploration
• Soil and rock testing
• Shallow and deep 

foundation design
• Settlement evaluation 

of foundations and 
embankments

• Seismic evaluation
• Slope stability and 

seepage modeling
• Instrumentation and 

special testing
• Reinforced earth and 

mechanically-stabilized 
(MSE) wall design

• Construction 
engineering and 
inspection (CE/I)

Other Services

• Construction quality 
assurance 

• Landfill gas monitoring 
and reporting

• Groundwater 
monitoring and 
reporting

• Hydrogeological 
engineering

• Environmental 
monitoring

• Environmental 
compliance

• Environmental 
corrective action



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

13

Survey team members Chris Jordan and Dallas Gordon

Contact
Joshua Holmes, PLS 
President 
josh@edholmessurveying.com

Office Location
200 Ridgefield Court, Suite 208, Asheville, NC 28806 
828.225.6562   |   edholmessurveying.com

Ed Holmes & Associates Land Surveyors, PA (Ed Holmes & Associate) 
was founded on principles of service and client loyalty in Asheville, 
North Carolina 17 years ago. Those principles continue to drive the 
company today with over 50 employees of which 14 are Licensed 
Professional Land Surveyors in 4 states with over 200 years of 
combined experience. We develop strong working relationships 
with our clients, earning their confidence and respect by exhibiting 
professionalism, personal integrity, innovation, and character.

In addition to the key personnel listed, Ed Holmes & Associates’ 
resources include CAD operators, field technicians, and multiple 
licensed mapping professionals that all comprise the largest surveying 
firm in the region.

Services

• Boundary surveys
• Subdivision platting
• Condominium surveys
• High definition laser 

scanning
• Topographic location 

surveys
• ALTA surveys
• GPS services
• Construction surveying
• Elevation certificates
• Settlement monitoring
• As built surveys
• Utility easements
• Conservation easements
• Route surveying
• Right-of-way 

retracement
• Recombination surveys
• UAVs
• Photogrammetry
• Aerial mapping
• High-order geodetic 

survey control



Team Overview
Our goal in assembling the proposed team outlined below is matching the individual and team 
qualifications with the expertise and experience appropriate for this project. Our comprehensive project 
team approach is particularly appropriate for projects where coordination, scheduling, and efficiency are 
important considerations.  

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

14

SOLID WASTE  
ENGINEERING GEOTECHNICALLAND SURVEYING

McGill

BLE

LANDFILL GAS

CONSTRUCTION

Ed Holmes & 
Associates

Jeff Bishop, PE
Solid Waste Consultant

Office: Asheville

Collin Selman, PE
Project Engineer

Office: Asheville

Scott Burwell, PE
Senior Project Manager

Office: Asheville

Nathan Sawyer, EI
Planner

Office: Asheville

Larry Simonson, PE
Geotechnical Engineer

Office: Arden

Anna Franklin, PE
Air Permitting Engineer

Office: Arden

J Meliski, PE
Senior Project Manager

Office: Asheville

Adam Waldroup, EI
Construction 
Administrator
Office: Asheville

Eddie White
Construction Field 

Representative
Office: Asheville

Mark Cathey, PE
Principal / Asheville Office Manager / 

Solid Waste Practice Area Lead

Office: Asheville

Andrew W. Alexander, PG, RSM
Consultant Hydrogeologist /  

Project Director / BLE Services Lead
Primary Office: Greenville, SC /  

Local Office: Arden

Dallas Gordon, PLS
Surveyor

Office: Asheville

Chris Jordan, PLS
Surveyor

Office: Asheville



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

15

Availability
McGill works within strict schedules to meet project deadlines and objectives. We want to work on this 
important project and are prepared to adjust our work program to meet your project’s scheduling needs. 
We understand how important it is to stay on schedule and on budget. This proposal is intended to 
demonstrate that:

• We have the qualifications and expertise to plan, design, permit, and execute this project.

• We have the capability and availability to achieve the tasks outlined in our proposal, within a prescribed 
time frame.

• We have a proven record of success for similar previous projects.

• Our personnel and resources are accessible and our proximity to the project can facilitate timely and 
efficient working conditions and communication.

Workload Chart

Project Name Client
Expected 
Completion 
Date

Project 
Type

Bethany Church Road Landfill Cap 
Improvements

Catawba County November 2022
Solid 
Waste

Madison County Solid Waste Permit 
Renewal

Madison County November 2022
Solid 
Waste

Landfill Gas Phase 2 Corrective Action Clay County December 2022
Solid 
Waste

Dam Restoration and Reconstruction
City of Boiling  
Spring Lakes

December 2022 Public

C&D Landfill Lateral Expansion Rutherford County December 2022
Solid 
Waste

FY 2022 Landfill Gas Collection System 
Expansion

Catawba County December 2022
Solid 
Waste

Hazelwood Convenience Center Haywood County June 2023
Solid 
Waste

Scale Improvements Watauga County July 2023
Solid 
Waste

Jonas Ridge Convenience Center and 
Park Phase 1

Burke County October 2023
Solid 
Waste

Bobby N. Setzer State Fish Hatchery
North Carolina Wildlife 
Resource Commission

June 2024 Public

Cell 2 Closure Macon County December 2026
Solid 
Waste



Education
BS, Civil Engineering,  
Clemson University

Professional Licensure
PE NC #24993 
PE TN #00114634 
PE SC #28749  
PE VA #054639

Professional Associations

• Solid Waste Association of North 
America (SWANA) 

• American Public Works Association 
(APWA)

• American Water Works Association 
(AWWA)

Years of Experience
28

Years with McGill
23

Specializations

• Solid waste engineering
• Solid waste planning
• QA / QC

D | Individual Qualifications

Mark Cathey, PE
Principal / Asheville Office Manager /  
Solid Waste Practice Area Lead
Mark Cathey is the lead for all solid waste projects 
completed by McGill and will be your primary contact for 
all solid waste projects and operational questions. He has 
over 25 years of design, permitting, planning, construction 
quality assurances (CQA), regulatory, and quality assurance 
and quality control (QA / QC) experience in the solid waste 
industry. Mark is actively involved in every solid waste 
project to confirm that the project objectives and approach 
are well defined and achieved. 

Related Experience
• Design and Permitting: Phase 3 of MSW Landfill,  

Macon County

• MSW Landfill Site Study, Macon County

• Landfill Master Plan, Macon County

• Construction and Demolition (C&D) Landfill Expansion, 
Rutherford County 

• Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Cover Cap,  
Haywood County

• Francis Farm Landfill — Gas-to-Energy System,  
Haywood County

• Bethany Church Road (Newton) Landfill, Catawba County

• Highway 209 Convenience Center, Haywood County

• Blackburn Resource Recovery Facility — Landfill Design, 
Permitting, and Construction, Multiple Phases,  
Catawba County

• MSW Transfer Station, Madison County

• 2021 Landfill Capacity Analysis, Catawba County

• Landfill Gas Remediation Plan, Clay County

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

16



Education
Graduate Studies, Geology and 
Hydrogeology, Texas A&M University
BS, Geology, University of South 
Carolina

Professional Licensure
PG NC #1475 
PG SC #2028 
PG TN #3726 
PG GA #1485 
PG IN #2131 
PG AL #1431 
PG LA #1101 
PG MS #0924 
PG FL #1934 
Registered Site Manager: NC

Years of Experience
32

Years with BLE
26

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

17

Andrew W. Alexander, PG, RSM
Consultant Hydrogeologist / Project Director / 
BLE Services Lead
Andrew Alexander currently serves as a consultant 
hydrogeologist specializing in solid waste facility siting, 
environmental assessments, remediation and compliance. 
Projects include landfill siting and expansions, soil and 
groundwater contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons, 
chlorinated solvents, and metals by landfill gas and landfill 
leachate, and also include numerous ACM and CAP projects.

In addition, Andrew has prepared permits and other 
regulatory documents including alternate source 
demonstrations (ASD), water quality monitoring plans 
(WQMP), landfill gas monitoring plans (LFGMP), alternate 
groundwater protection standards (AGWPS), storm water 
pollution prevention plans (SWPPP), and spill prevention, 
control, and countermeasure plans (SPCC) for a wide variety 
of industrial, private, and public-sector clients.

Related Experience
• Landfill Cap Borrow Study and CQA, Haywood County

• ACM, Haywood and Macon County

• CAP, Haywood and Macon County

• Water Quality Monitoring Plan,  
Macon and Buncombe County

• Landfill Gas Monitoring Plan,  
Macon and Buncombe County

• Site Hydrogeological Report, Macon County

• Design Hydrogeological Report, Macon County

• Design Hydrogeological Report, Rutherford County



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

18

Jeff Bishop, PE
Solid Waste Consultant
Jeff Bishop has extensive engineering experience with a wide range of 
solid waste projects. One of his greatest assets is his unique knowledge 
and experience in landfill planning and design. Jeff has a broad range 
of experience in water, wastewater, site planning and design, and 
stormwater management. He is a valued member of McGill’s professional 
management team. Jeff has demonstrated his innate capacity for 
effective client communication and responsive service. His extensive 
background with a multitude of civil engineering projects provides 
his clients with a unique blend of experience in both design and 
management of projects.

Professional Licensure
PE: NC #023574

Related Experience
• Design and Permitting: Phase 3 of MSW Landfill, Macon County

• C&D Landfill Expansion, Rutherford County 

• Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Cover Cap, Haywood County

• Francis Farm Landfill – Gas-to-Energy System, Haywood County

Scott Burwell, PE
Senior Project Manager
Scott Burwell has experience providing engineering design and 
construction administration services for a wide range of projects, 
including solid waste and civil engineering. His construction engineering 
and management education and design experience enables him 
to fully understand the design aspects with the many construction 
coordinating and oversight issues related to projects. Scott understands 
the importance of protecting the client’s interest during design and 
construction, and he ensures that plans and specifications are developed 
that can be constructed.

Professional Licensure
PE: NC #039177

Related Experience
• Design and Permitting: Phase 3 of MSW Landfill, Macon County

• C&D Landfill Expansion, Rutherford County 

• Francis Farm Landfill — Gas-to-Energy System, Haywood County

• Bethany Church Road (Newton) Landfill, Catawba County

• Highway 209 Convenience Center, Haywood County

Education
BS, Construction 
Engineering and 
Management, North 
Carolina State University

Professional Associations

• SESWA
• SWANA

Education
BS, Civil Engineering 
Technology, Southern 
College of Technology
Coursework, School of 
Architectural Engineering, 
University of Georgia 

Professional Association

• SWANA



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

19

Collin Selman, PE
Project Engineer

Dallas Gordon, PLS
Surveyor at Ed Holmes & 
Associates

Nathan Sawyer, EI
Planner

Chris Jordan, PLS, CFS
Surveyor at Ed Holmes & 
Associates

Collin Selman has valuable experience in solid waste 
planning and enjoys working alongside consultants 
and local governments on the county and regional 
level. He is skilled in data management and 
geographic information systems (GIS).  
Education
MBA, University of Arkansas 
BS, Chemical Engineering, University of Arkansas
Professional Licensure
EI: MS #28045 (NC PE pending) 
Related Experience
• C&D Landfill Expansion, Rutherford County 

• Bethany Church Road (Newton) Landfill,  
Catawba County

Nathan Sawyer has proven his value through his 
keen attention to detail and contribution to various 
significant projects.
Education
BS, Engineering Technology,  
Western Carolina University

AAS, Engineering, Cuesta College
Professional Licensure
EI: CA #116992
Related Experience
• Design and Permitting: Phase 3 of MSW Landfill,  

Macon County 

• C&D Landfill Expansion, Rutherford County 

• Blackburn Resource Recovery Facility — Landfill 
Design, Permitting, and Construction, Multiple 
Phases, Catawba County

Chris Jordan has 18 years of experience in surveying 
and geographical mapping systems.
Education
AAS, Surveying Technology, Asheville-Buncombe 
Technical Community College

AAS, CAD Systems Management, Asheville-
Buncombe Technical Community College
Professional Licensure
PLS: NC #L-4956, SC #29903; CFS #3930319
Professional Associations
NCSOS, NSPS
Related Experience
• C&D Landfill Expansion, Rutherford County 

• Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Cover Cap, 
Haywood County

Dallas Gordon oversees the daily administrative and 
technical activities within the survey division. 
Education
BS, Building Construction, Auburn University
Professional Licensure
PLS: NC #L-4626, TN #1985, AL #24018
Professional Associations
ALSPLS, NCSOS, NSPS, TNAPS
Related Experience
• Design and Permitting: Phase 3 of MSW Landfill,  

Macon County

• Landfill Design, Permitting, and Construction: 
Blackburn Resource Recovery Facility (Multiple 
Phases), Catawba County



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

20

Larry Simonson, PE
Geotechnical Engineer at BLE

J Meliski, PE
Senior Project Manager

Anna Franklin, PE
Air Permitting Engineer at BLE

Adam Waldroup, EI
Construction Administrator

Larry Simonson has nine years of experience 
and specializes in geotechnical engineering and 
construction quality assurance.
Education
MS, Civil Engineering, Clemson University

BS, Civil Engineering, Clemson University
Professional Licensure
PE: NC #044736 (plus 7 other states)
Professional Associations
ASCE, INGSS, SWANA
Related Experience
• Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Closure Cap, 

Haywood County

• Landfill Geotechnical Analysis, Private Landfill, SC

• Landfill Slope Stability Analysis,  
Private Landfill, SC

Anna Franklin has over 19 years of regulatory and 
environmental consulting experience. 
Education
MS, Environmental Engineering and Science, 
Clemson University

BS, Atmospheric Sciences, University of North 
Carolina at Asheville
Professional Licensure
PE: NC #046824 (plus 3 other states)
Professional Association
CAPCA
Related Experience
• Public Utility and Industrial Facility, Greenville, SC

• Concrete Batch Plants, Indian Land, SC

• Industrial Facilities, Greenville, SC

Adam Waldroup is an effective communicator, 
exhibits a high degree of professionalism, and has a 
strong work ethic, which allows him to successfully 
complete the most difficult projects.
Education
BS, Civil Engineering Technology and Construction 
Management, University of North Carolina at 
Charlotte
Professional Licensure
EI: NC #A-29634
Professional Associations
NCAFPM, SESWA
Related Experience
• Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Closure Cap, 

Haywood County 

J. Meliski provides over 13 years of in-depth 
experience with municipal infrastructure design and 
construction projects.
Education
BS, Civil and Environmental Engineering, Georgia 
Institute of Technology
Professional Licensure
PE: NC #029887
Related Experience
• Francis Farm Landfill – Synthetic Closure Cap, 

Haywood County 

• Bethany Church Road (Newton) Landfill,  
Catawba County

• Sediment Basin Improvements, Watauga County



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

21

Eddie White
Construction Field Representative

Eddie White has more than 25 years of experience 
directly related to the design and construction 
of civil and solid waste projects, in addition to 
water and wastewater projects. His experience in 
this region has enabled him to fully understand 
the many construction issues related to municipal 
projects in western North Carolina.
Education
IMSA Work Zone Temporary Traffic Program, 
Charlotte, NC 

High school Diploma, Clyde A. Erwin High School
Related Experience
• Bethany Church Road (Newton) Landfill,  

Catawba County

• Francis Farm Landfill — Synthetic Closure Cap, 
Haywood County

We provide 
consistent 
and effective 
coordination 

throughout all steps of 
project development.

Quality Assurance / Quality Control 

Project 
Kickoff

Project 
Completion

Constructability Review
• Obtain input from construction 

administrator

• Ensure ability to be built  
in a cost-effective manner

• Determine impact on surroundings

QA / QC Peer Review
• Obtain input from peers

• Confirm accuracy and 
completeness of designs



E | Insurance Requirements

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

22



10/17/2022

Brown & Brown of South Carolina, Inc.

10 Falcon Crest Dr., Suite 100

Greenville SC 29607

Kellianne Covil

(864) 234-8889

285.CERTIFICATES@bbrown.com

Bunnell Lammons Engineering, Inc.

6004 Ponders Ct

Greenville SC 29615

The Phoenix Insurance Company 25623

Travelers Property Casualty Company of America 25674

The Travelers Indemnity Company of Connecticut 25682

Continental Casualty Company 20443

22-23 Master

A 6301R773755 10/01/2022 10/01/2023

1,000,000

500,000

5,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

B 8101R773675 10/01/2022 10/01/2023

1,000,000

B

10,000

CUP1R774776 10/01/2022 10/01/2023

1,000,000

1,000,000

C N UB1R773386 10/01/2022 10/01/2023
1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

D
POLLUTION / PROFESSIONAL
LIABILITY EEH113981079 10/01/2022 10/01/2023 EACH CLAIM 1,000,000

AGGREGATE 2,000,000

Cyber Liability – policy #C-4LWN-102259-CYBER-2022 with Swiss Re Corporate Solutions America Insurance Corporation. $1,000,000 liability limit

Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc

6004 Ponders  Court

Greenville SC 29615

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on

this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,

EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB
$EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

23



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

24



F | Proposed Schedule

2022 2023
Project Task Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov

1 Kickoff  
meeting

2 Topographic  
survey

3 Global stability  
analysis

4 Preparation of vertical 
expansion permit 
documents

5 Permit review  
and issuance

Project Scheduling
McGill understands the critical nature of solid waste projects to maintain current operations. McGill will 
develop a project timeline with collaborative consideration of the County’s current milestone dates and 
will then appropriate the necessary resources to achieve that schedule. This schedule does not include 
environmental justice as part of the design and permitting process. If required by NCDEQ, a revised 
schedule will be provided.

Anticipated Project Schedule

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

25



G | Non-Collusion Affidavit

10 

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT 
 

MACON COUNTY 
RFQ 03‐4712q 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING PERMITTING AND DESIGN 
SERVICES FOR THE VERTICAL EXPANSION TO PHASE 2 WASTE AREA AT MACON COUNTY MSW 

LANDFILL  
 
 

The undersigned affirms that the proposal made herein is made without any connections with any 
other person, or persons, making any other proposal for the above item(s): that it is in all respects 
fair and without collusion or fraud: 
 

That______________________________________________ (Firm Name) is not connected in any 
official capacity with Macon County, and that no person, or persons, acting in such a capacity are 
directly, or indirectly, interested herein or in any of the profit arising or anticipated from this 
transaction. 
 

In making this proposal, it is understood and agreed, that the conditions set forth in the 
advertisement for bids, instructions to bidders, terms and conditions and specifications together 
with the proposal shall form a part of and be construed with the contract under the same. 
 

The acceptance of this proposal by Macon County, as evidenced by the issuance of a Macon County 
Purchase Order, will be held to be a mutual agreement as to each and every clause of this proposal 
and to constitute a contract between the parties hereto. 
 
 

FIRM NAME:  __________________________________________________________________ 
 
ADDRESS:   ____________________________________________________________________ 
 
BY:  ___________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
            State of North Carolina 
            County of: _______________ 
 
            Sworn to and subscribed  
            before me, this  
            __________day of _____________, 20______. 
 
                   
                        _______________________________________ 
            Notary Public 
 
            My commission expires: __________________ 

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

26



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

27



Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

28



H | Proposed Hourly Rates

Expenses
• Mileage – $0.70 / mile

• Flow Monitoring Equipment: 

• Pressure Flow Meter- $400 / week

• Gravity Flow Meter - $1,000 / deployment

• Telephone, reproduction, postage, lodging, and other incidentals shall be a direct charge per receipt.

Associated Services
Associated services required by the project such as soil analysis, materials testing, etc., shall be at cost plus 
ten (10) percent.

Professional Fees I II III IV
Senior Principal  $ 245
Principal – Regional Manager – Director  $ 210 $ 215  $ 230  $ 235
Practice Area Leader $ 180 $ 195 $ 210 $ 220
Senior Project Manager  $ 195 $ 205  $ 210  $ 215
Project Manager  $ 165  $ 175  $ 180  $ 185
Project Engineer  $ 125  $ 135  $ 150  $ 160
Engineering Associate  $ 110  $ 115  $ 120  $ 125
Planner – Consultant – Designer  $ 110 $ 120  $ 145  $ 160
Engineering Technician  $ 100  $ 115  $ 120  $ 130
CAD Operator – GIS Analyst  $ 80  $ 90  $ 100  $ 105
Construction Services Manager  $ 130  $ 150  $ 170  $ 180
Construction Administrator  $ 105  $ 120  $ 130  $ 135
Financial Services Manager  $ 125  $ 135  $ 145  $ 155
Grant Administrator  $ 110  $ 120  $ 135  $ 145
Construction Field Representative  $ 85  $ 100  $ 105  $ 115
Environmental Specialist  $ 85  $ 95  $ 100  $ 105
Administrative Assistant  $ 75  $ 80  $ 90  $ 105

McGill’s Hourly Rates

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 02-4712q)

29



2022-2023 FEE SCHEDULE
ENGINEERING, HYDROGEOLOGIC,

& LABORATORY SERVICES

Engineering & Hydrogeologic Services

1. Staff Technician, per hour................................................................................ $63.00
2. Project Technician, per hour ............................................................................ $79.00
3. Senior Technician, per hour............................................................................. $84.00
4. Chief Technician, per hour ............................................................................ $104.00

5. Support Specialist, per hour............................................................................. $74.00
6. Draftsperson/CAD Operator, per hour............................................................. $92.00

7. Staff Technologist, per hour .......................................................................... $147.00
8. Senior Technologist, per hour........................................................................ $182.00
9. Chief Technologist, per hour ......................................................................... $221.00

10. Staff Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour. ................................................ $143.00
11. Project Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour.............................................. $170.00
12. Senior Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour............................................... $193.00
13. Chief Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour ................................................ $227.00
14. Consultant Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour........................................ $227.00
15. Principal Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour........................................... $248.00

Mileage / Expenses

1. Mileage, per mile ............................................................................................... $0.90
2. Per Diem, per day .......................................................................................... $205.00
3. Expendable Materials & Supplies..............................................................Cost +20%
4. Subcontracts ..............................................................................................Cost +20%

2022-2023 FEE SCHEDULE
ENGINEERING, HYDROGEOLOGIC,

& LABORATORY SERVICES

Engineering & Hydrogeologic Services

1. Staff Technician, per hour................................................................................ $63.00
2. Project Technician, per hour ............................................................................ $79.00
3. Senior Technician, per hour............................................................................. $84.00
4. Chief Technician, per hour ............................................................................ $104.00

5. Support Specialist, per hour............................................................................. $74.00
6. Draftsperson/CAD Operator, per hour............................................................. $92.00

7. Staff Technologist, per hour .......................................................................... $147.00
8. Senior Technologist, per hour........................................................................ $182.00
9. Chief Technologist, per hour ......................................................................... $221.00

10. Staff Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour. ................................................ $143.00
11. Project Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour.............................................. $170.00
12. Senior Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour............................................... $193.00
13. Chief Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour ................................................ $227.00
14. Consultant Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour........................................ $227.00
15. Principal Engineer/Geologist/Scientist, per hour........................................... $248.00

Mileage / Expenses

1. Mileage, per mile ............................................................................................... $0.90
2. Per Diem, per day .......................................................................................... $205.00
3. Expendable Materials & Supplies..............................................................Cost +20%
4. Subcontracts ..............................................................................................Cost +20%

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

30



P.O. Box 17335 – Asheville, NC 28816 – Telephone 828-225-6562 – Facsimile 828-225-6579 
 

 
W. Edwin Holmes, PLS (1950-2022) 

C.M. Edgerton, PLS       Lisa Simmons, PLS 
Christopher F. Jordan, PLS       Martin A. Barnes, PLS 
J. Dallas Gordon, PLS       Marvin E. Secrest, PLS 
J. Daniel Henry, PLS       Phillip B. White, PLS 
Jason N. Gasperson, PLS       Robert C. Brown, PLS 
Joseph Kane,PLS        Robert J. Earley, PLS 
Josh Hodges, PLS        Ronnie L. Davis, PLS  

 
 
 
 

Thursday, September 15, 2022 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

2022 STANDARD HOURLY RATE SHEET AND FEE SCHEDULE 
 
 
 

 
Principal      $145 
 
Project Manager     $120 
 
Office Staff     $100 
 
Administration/Clerical    $60 
 
Professional Licensed Surveyor, PLS   $120 
 
2 Person Survey Crew    $150 
 
3 Person Survey Crew    $175 
 
GPS Surveyor     $150 
 
Survey Crew – Robotic    $150 
 
1 Person Survey Crew    $105 
 
Survey Crew – Laser Scanner    $170 
 
UAS FAA Certified Drone Pilot   $170 
 
Underground Utility Investigator   $155 

P.O. Box 17335 – Asheville, NC 28816 – Telephone 828-225-6562 – Facsimile 828-225-6579 
 

 
W. Edwin Holmes, PLS (1950-2022) 

C.M. Edgerton, PLS       Lisa Simmons, PLS 
Christopher F. Jordan, PLS       Martin A. Barnes, PLS 
J. Dallas Gordon, PLS       Marvin E. Secrest, PLS 
J. Daniel Henry, PLS       Phillip B. White, PLS 
Jason N. Gasperson, PLS       Robert C. Brown, PLS 
Joseph Kane,PLS        Robert J. Earley, PLS 
Josh Hodges, PLS        Ronnie L. Davis, PLS  

 
 
 
 

Thursday, September 15, 2022 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

2022 STANDARD HOURLY RATE SHEET AND FEE SCHEDULE 
 
 
 

 
Principal      $145 
 
Project Manager     $120 
 
Office Staff     $100 
 
Administration/Clerical    $60 
 
Professional Licensed Surveyor, PLS   $120 
 
2 Person Survey Crew    $150 
 
3 Person Survey Crew    $175 
 
GPS Surveyor     $150 
 
Survey Crew – Robotic    $150 
 
1 Person Survey Crew    $105 
 
Survey Crew – Laser Scanner    $170 
 
UAS FAA Certified Drone Pilot   $170 
 
Underground Utility Investigator   $155 

Macon County   |   Permitting and Design Services for the Vertical Expansion to Phase 2 Waste Area at Macon County MSW Landfill (RFQ No. 03-4712q)

31



McGill Associates, PA
55 Broad Street, Asheville, NC 28801
828.252.0575  |  mcgillassociates.com



MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

CATEGORY – CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 

MEETING DATE:  November 8, 2022  

 

Item 12A.  Draft minutes from the October 11, 2022 regular meeting and the 

October 18, 2022 continued session are attached for the board’s review and 

approval. (Mike Decker/Tammy Keezer) 

 

Item 12B.  Budget Amendments #86-98 are attached for your review and 

approval (Lori Carpenter). 

 

Item 12C.    Approval of the Macon County Transit Driver Handbook 

(Darlene Asher).  The handbook is attached. 

 

Item 12D.  Approval of the Scaly Mountian Recreation Agreement for FY 

22-23 (Lori Carpenter).  The agreement is attached. 

 

Item 12E.  Approval of tax releases for the month of October 2022 in the 

amount of $682.34 (Delena Raby).  This list of releases is attached.  

 

Item 12F.  Approval of delinquent tax relief for 2011 (ten years delinquent) 

in the amount of $35,775.46 (Delena Raby).  See attached supporting 

documentation. 

 

Item 12F.    A copy of the ad valorem tax collection report, which shows an 

overall collection of 46.09% as of October 31, 2022.  No action is necessary.  

(Delena Raby) 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 1 of 8 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 11, 2022 
MINUTES 

 

 
 

Vice-Chairman Beale called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. All Board 
Members (with the exception of Chairman Tate), County Manager Derek 
Roland, Finance Director Lori Carpenter, County Attorney Eric Ridenour, 

Tammy Keezer (sitting in for Deputy Clerk Mike Decker), and members of 
the news media were present, as were a number of county employees and 

citizens.   
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

(A) Vice-Chairman Beale announced that a joint meeting with the 
Macon County Board of Education is scheduled for Tuesday, 
October 18, 2022 at 6 p.m. at the Fine Arts Center on the 

Franklin High School campus for an update and discussion on 
the Franklin High School project.  Mr. Roland stated there are a 

few other items that will be discussed including the Highlands 
Pre-K renovation, Macon Middle School locker room project, 
and possible projects that can be funded with the Repair and 

Renovation Fund. 
(B) Discussion regarding the November 8, 2022 (Election Day) 

regular meeting – Mr. Roland stated a regular meeting is 

scheduled on this day and would be held as scheduled unless 
there was a need to reschedule.  The board members agreed to 

meet as scheduled. 
 

MOMENT OF SILENCE:  Vice-Chairman Beale asked for remembrance of 

the family of Janet Anderson, who passed away and previously retired 
from the Town of Franklin, as well as several community members who 

lost their lives in tragic events in the past couple of weeks.  Vice-
Chairman Beale requested all in attendance rise and a moment of 
silence was observed.   

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGINANCE:  Led by Commissioner Shields, the pledge 
to the flag was recited. 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 2 of 8 

 

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING(S):  None 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:  Narelle Kirkland spoke about the Little Tennessee 
River Greenway and indicated she was pleased to hear that discussion 
regarding some repairs were on the agenda this evening. 

 
ADDITIONS, ADJUSTMENTS TO AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  
Upon a motion by Commissioner Shields, seconded by Commissioner 

Young, the board voted 4-0 to approve the agenda, as adjusted, as 
follows: 

 To add Item 9C update on Cowee School Heritage Center, per Mr. 
Roland 

 To add Item 10D amendment to J&B Franchise Agreement, per Mr.  
Roland 

 
REPORTS/PRESENTATIONS:  

(A) Vecinos, Inc. Community Health Hub – Executive Director 

Marianne Martinez shared a PowerPoint presentation about the 
new services that will be provided in Macon County.  She 

indicated that Vecinos is a free clinic, which has served six 
Western North Carolina counties for 20 years providing primary 
and mental health care focused on agricultural workers.   She 

stated that 38 percent of patients reside in Macon County.  Ms. 
Martinez said that in 2021 Vecinos expanded their focus from 
farm workers to include adults only in family households at or 

below 200 percent of federal poverty level with no health 
insurance.  She shared they operate both mobile and outpatient 

clinics, and provide lab and pharmacy services.  Ms. Martinez 
said Dogwood Health Trust helped assist in purchasing the old 
Smoky Mountain Systems building, which is currently being 

renovated with plans to reopen as a community health hub 
providing integrated care (physical and behavioral health), free 

dental care, domestic violence services, health care enrollment, 
legal services, and community advocacy in 2024.  She indicated 
the clinic would have unlimited hours, seven exam rooms, and 

four dental operatories. 
 

(B) Barbara McRae Memorial Project – Rita St. Clair, representing 

Friends of the Greenway, Inc. stated she was requesting 
approval of the proposed site for the memorial.  She shared that 

the chosen site at the wetlands at Big Bear Park is where Ms. 
McRae spent a lot of time.  Ms. St. Clair provided a handout 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 3 of 8 

 

and referred to an approval letter and permits from the Town of 
Franklin, which were included in the handout.  She said there 

are no utility issues and no Corps of Engineer issues.  Ms. St. 
Clair indicated Friends of the Greenway has applied for a 

building permit with plans to start construction in February or 
March, but know this board has to approve the site.  She said 
they are planning the opening for April.  Upon a motion by 

Commissioner Shields, seconded by Commissioner Young, the 
board voted 4-0 to approve the site contingent upon a favorable 
review by Mr. Ridenour. 

 
(C) Cowee School Heritage Center – Former Executive Director 

Stacey Guffey gave an overview of the history of the Heritage 
Center including having served approximately 22,000 people 
since opening which is approximately 7,500 people per year.  He 

said approximately 2,500 people are outside the area with the 
remaining 5,000 as local residents.  Mr. Guffey stated there has 

been a good private-public partnership, and the heritage center 
has been able to match and leverage county contributions to 
the maximum benefit.  He introduced Laura Brooks as the new 

Executive Director and indicated she will continue working on 
ways to move further toward the center being self-sufficient and 
independent.  Ms. Brooks shared an award received at 

Mountain Heritage Day for “Mountain Heritage Organization of 
the Year.” 

 
OLD BUSINESS 

(A) Schedule of Values, Standards, and Rules - Tax Administrator    

Abby Braswell requested approval of the Schedule of Values, 
Standards, and Rules as presented at the August 9, 2022 
regular meeting followed by the public hearing conducted on 

September 13, 2022.  She said the standards have been 
available in the office and on the website for public inspection 

since August and there has only been one change in the dates 
for publishing the Notice of Adoption to October 19, 2022 and 
November 2, 2022 in the Franklin Press, and October 27, 2022 

and November 10, 2022 in the Highlander.  Upon a motion by 
Commissioner Shields, seconded by Commissioner Young, the 

board voted 4-0 to approve the Schedule of Values, Standards, 
and Rules as presented.  The Schedule of Values, Standards, 
and Rules is available for review in the Deputy Clerks office. 

 
(B) Discussion Regarding the Nantahala Library and 

Community Center – Mr. Roland provided an update on the 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 4 of 8 

 

Nantahala Library and Community Center and said that at the 
last meeting Commissioner Higdon requested we look into the 

need for architectural services.  Mr. Roland stated a bid in the 
amount of $28,000 had been received in September from an 

architect, but they could not start work until at least January.   
He reminded the board members that in June, they approved to 
exempt architectural services and that exemption still stands 

even though that architect withdrew their proposal.  Mr. Roland 
shared that Jack Morgan has looked at the requirements for 
architectural services and asked Mr. Morgan to explain his 

finding.  Mr. Morgan referred to North Carolina General Statute 
(N.C.G.S.) § 83, which allows an exemption for commercial 

building projects of less than $300,000 and under 3,000 square 
feet until December 31, 2024.  Mr. Roland said the 2,400 
square foot building can be divided into two separate areas with 

each area designed individually, but the work will have to be bid 
out.  Mr. Morgan said it will be hard to get a general contractor 

to take the whole project as it is a smaller cost project, and feels 
we will need to bid out separately for electrical, plumbing, 
HVAC, etc. Mr. Roland stated he had a punch list he previously 

developed as a generic remodel that is up to code and can be 
used for the scope of work.  He further reminded board 
members that one of the first issues was internet access, with 

an original estimated cost of $300,000, but we now know there 
are more and less expensive options.  He said the Broadband 

Committee has been looking at ways to bring internet service to 
the Nantahala community, and has a proposal in front of you 
tonight that will allow us to work with Little T Broadband for 

broadband expansion in Nantahala.  Mr. Roland indicated that 
the money for the expansion is already in the budget, and once 
the building is renovated we can put out a Request For 

Qualifications (RFQ) for internet much like the south Macon 
area project where the County put up funds and told them what 

we wanted.  He suggested mapping out all county facilities in 
Nantahala that need broadband access as well as residences 
and businesses in that area.  Mr. Roland reminded board 

members that Nantahala is covered by the Rural Digital 
Opportunity Fund (RDOF) and is controlled by Charter 

Communications, who will not be in Macon County for three to 
four years from now.  He said we have an opportunity to utilize 
the money that has been set aside and see if we can get a 

provider willing to do the work.  Mr. Roland recommended we 
enter into agreement with Little T Broadband and let them put 
together a Request for Proposals (RFP) [Attachment 1].  Jeff Lee 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 5 of 8 

 

with Little T Broadband said he feels there will be interest from 
two providers – Frontier and Balsam West.  He estimates it will 

take a couple of months to get proposals back and once the 
Request For Proposals (RFP) is developed, the board will have to 

decide how much county money will be allocated.  Mr. Roland 
said there is currently $700,000 allocated to the building 
project and again stated he is suggesting we look at the 

proposal as a building renovation and community broadband 
expansion.  He requested consensus to move forward with the 
$6,400 agreement.  Mr. Morgan said he would make sure both 

the Nantahala Community Club and the Macon County Library 
Board are both informed and included in the renovation 

decisions.  He said the last estimate was $200,000 for 
renovations, but will price again due to the length of time that 
has passed.  Mr. Roland indicated he would have a project 

budget for review at the November 8, 2022 meeting. 
 

(C) Discussion Regarding Deed for Pine Grove School – Mr. 
Ridenour provided an update on the ownership and lease 
options of the property.  He stated that in 2003, there was a 

deed transfer from the Macon County Preservation Society and 
in 2005, the property was again deeded to the same 
organization.  Mr. Ridenour stated the Macon County 

Preservation Society would like to turn the property back over 
to the county.  He said that with consensus, he will present a 

deed to the Macon County Preservation Society, and after 
ownership is transferred back to the county, the county can 
enter into a short-term lease (1 year) renewable annually.  Mr. 

Ridenour clarified that if the county enters into a long-term 
lease it will have to put the lease out to bid.  There was 
consensus for Mr. Ridenour to prepare the deed and present it 

to the Macon County Preservation Society.   
 

(D) Amendment to J&B Disposal Agreement – Mr. Ridenour 
reminded the board that the resolutions to extend the term of 
the Franchise Agreement and the Service Center Haul 

Agreement had been passed at the May 10, 2022 and June 4, 
2022 meetings.  He stated the Extension of Modification 

agreement had some language changes, but no changes were 
made regarding the terms or costs.  Upon a motion by 
Commissioner Higdon, seconded by Commissioner Young, the 

board voted 4-0 to approve the agreement as presented.  Copies 
of the Ordinance Granting Exclusive Franchise Agreement to 
J&B Disposal, Inc., for the Collection and Disposal of Solid 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 6 of 8 

 

Waste [Attachment 2], Extension and Modification of the 
Exclusive Franchise Agreement for the Collection and Disposal 

of Solid Waste Outside of the Incorporated Cities and Towns 
within Macon County, North Carolina [Attachment 3], and 

Extension and Modification of Agreement to Collect and Haul 
Solid Waste from County Convenience Center Sites and 
Highlands Transfer Station and to Maintain County 

Convenience Center Sites [Attachment 4] are attached and 
hereby made a part of these minutes. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
(A) Foreclosed properties acquisition and budget amendment – 

Tax Administrator Abby Braswell requested approval of a 
budget amendment related to the foreclosure and acquisition of 
three properties.  She gave a summary of Lot O in Watauga 

Vista in the amount of $1301.08 from 2009, lots 1 and 2 in 
Cartoogechaye Creek Campground in the amount of $15,725 

from 2019, and lot 307 in Wildflower subdivision in the 
amount of $16,300, for a total of $33,327.  A copy of the 
budget amendment is included in the Consent Agenda.  Ms. 

Braswell stated that this is an accounting matter to show taxes 
have been paid and then the properties become county 
property, after which the properties can be sold.  

Commissioner Young stated he did not feel the property in 
Wildflower was in the best interest due to the fees charged by 

the Home Owners Association.  Mr. Ridenour said we do not 
have to pay those fees and can sell the properties once they are 
deeded to the county.  Upon a motion by Commissioner Young, 

seconded by Commissioner Shields, the board voted 4-0 to 
approve the foreclosure and acquisition as well as the budget 
amendments as presented.  Budget Amendment #79 is 

attached and made a part of these minutes [Attachment 5].   
 

(B) Consideration for Partial Release of Performance            
Guarantee for Mountain Breeze Subdivision – Planning 
Director Joe Allen requested approval of a partial release of the 

cash performance guarantee being held by Macon County in 
conjunction with Mountain Breeze Subdivision. The said the 

performance guarantee was in the amount of $51,025, which 
was 125 percent of the estimated cost of improvements yet to 
be completed by the developer including paving of roads and 

installation of shared septic systems. Mr. Allen stated that Old 
Mud Creek, LLC is requesting that $32,125 be released, which 
is the amount estimated to install the shared septic systems 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 7 of 8 

 

plus 125 percent. Mr. Allen provided supporting 
documentation including a letter from Macon County 

Environmental Health stating the shared systems have been 
installed and inspected, as well as an email from Scott Cole in 

the packet.  Upon a motion by Commissioner Young, seconded 
by Commissioner Higdon the board voted 4-0 recommending 
the release of funds as requested.   

 
(C) Consideration of Performance Guarantee for Munro Estates    

Subdivision – Planning Director Joe Allen requested 

consideration and approval of a cash performance guarantee 
with developer Tom Murdoch associated with Munro Estates 

Subdivision. The performance guarantee will be in cash, in the 
amount of $37,500, which is 125 percent of the estimated cost 
to complete required paving of roads within the subdivision.  

The supporting documentation is included in the packet 
[Attachment 6].  Upon a motion by Commissioner Shields, 

seconded by Commissioner Young the board voted 4-0 to 
approve the performance guarantee as presented.   

 

 
(D) Resolution Exempting Engineering Services for the   

Greenway Project – Finance Director Lori Carpenter 

presented a resolution exempting engineering services for 
bank stabilization on the Little Tennessee River Greenway.  A 

copy of that resolution is included in the packet [Attachment 
7].  Mrs. Carpenter shared that $250,000 for greenway 
improvements was received a couple of months ago for use to 

stabilize banks in two sections of the greenway. She stated 
that Headwater Engineering has given a proposal not to 
exceed $5,200 for which they will review the sites and submit 

a construction proposal, which can then be put out to bid.  
Ms. Carpenter said this will get the banks stabilized and then 

we can move forward with paving in spring.  Upon a motion by 
Commissioner Shields, seconded by Commissioner Young the 
board voted 4-0 to approve the resolution to exempt 

engineering services under the $50,000 threshold as 
presented.   

 
(D) Approval of Agreement and Fund Appropriation for   

Courtroom Cabling Project – Mr. Roland requested approval of 

an agreement with CRAVE and an appropriation of $20,000 
from fund balance for the courtroom cabling project.  A copy of 
the agreement to install cabling in two courtrooms so that audio 



Minutes 

10.11.22 
Page 8 of 8 

 

and video court transmissions can occur is included in the 
packet [Attachment 8].  Mr. Roland indicated that the estimated 

cost of approximately $8,613 per courtroom could not be 
included in the agreement and has been rounded up for the 

appropriation request.  He said the North Carolina 
Administrative Office of the Courts will install the equipment 
and the county will pay for the cable and the installation of the 

cable.  Upon a motion by Commissioner Shields, seconded by 
Commissioner Beale, the board voted 4-0 to approve the 
Memorandum of Agreement and budget amendment as 

requested.   
        

CONSENT AGENDA:  Upon a motion by Commissioner Higdon, seconded 
by Commissioner Shields, the board voted 4-0 to approve the Consent 
Agenda as presented which includes:  (A) Minutes of the September 13, 

2022 regular meeting and the September 22, 2022 continued session, (B) 
Budget Amendments #66-70, (C) 2023 County Holiday Schedule, (D) 

Service contract for Franklin Chamber of Commerce, (E) Service contract 
for Highlands Chamber of Commerce, (F) Tax releases for the month of 
September in the amount of $10,287.24, and (G) Monthly ad valorem tax 

collection report  for which no action necessary 
 
APPOINTMENTS:  None 

 
CLOSED SESSION:  None   

 
ADJOURN:  With no other business, at 7:42 p.m., upon a motion by 
Commissioner Higdon, seconded by Commissioner Young, the board 

voted 4-0 to recess until Tuesday, October 18, 2022 at 6 p.m. at the Fine 
Arts Center on the Franklin High School campus for the purpose of 
holding a joint meeting with the Macon County Board of Education. 

 
 

 
 
 

_____________________________   _____________________________ 
Derek Roland     Jim Tate 

Ex Officio Clerk to the Board   Board Chair 
 



Minutes 

10.18.22 
Page 1 of 4 

 

 
 

 
 

 
MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JOINT MEETING WITH THE 

MACON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 
OCTOBER 18, 2022 

MINUTES 

 
Chairman Tate called the meeting to order at 6:07 p.m. All Board Members, 

County Manager Derek Roland, Tammy Keezer (sitting in for Deputy Clerk Mike 
Decker), Finance Director Lori Carpenter, County Attorney Eric Ridenour, 
members of the Macon County Board of Education, and news media were 

present, as were a number of citizens.    
 

INTRODUCTIONS:  Chairman Tate welcomed everyone in attendance.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:   

(A) Richard Lightner spoke in favor of the new Franklin High School 
stating the current facility is inefficient and outdated.  He said the 
county held the deed to the old drive-in and suggested the deed be 

transferred to the high school.  Mr. Lightner also stated that there are 
other properties adjacent to the current high school that could be 

purchased to expand the area needed for the new school. 
(B) Hazel Norris spoke in favor of the new high school and 

encouraged support for the new facility needed to be for the kids 

and not to win elections.  Ms. Norris also suggested inclusion of 
a trade school facility. 

 

LS3P FRANKLIN HIGH SCHOOL PROJECT UPDATE – Architect Paul Boney 
gave a brief update on the presentation provided at the last joint meeting and 

the schematic design in a PowerPoint presentation.  He stated that a new school 
of this magnitude would be a driver of economic development, safe and inviting 
for students and faculty, provide energy savings, and support community pride.  

Senior Project Manager Emily Kite reviewed the site design presented at the last 
meeting, and Architect Jaime Henderson reviewed the ADA, circulation, security, 

and location of functions for the design.  Mr. Boney requested authorization for 
LS3P to present the schematic design package for Franklin High School, 
including the design development for the stadium, to the North Carolina 

Department of Public Instruction and other local and state agencies for review.  
Commissioner Shields informed those in attendance that an interactive version 
of the design could be found on the county website at www.maconnc.org, along 



Minutes 

10.18.22 
Page 2 of 4 

 

with a video about the ADA challenges at the current facility.  After viewing the 
ADA video and a brief question and answer period, the board reached a 

unanimous consensus for LS3P to submit the plans for review as requested.    
 

Macon Middle School Locker Room Bid Acceptance – County Manager 
Derek Roland gave a brief review of the project including bids for construction, 
which were received September 28, 2022, and requested approval to award the 

bid to Carolina Specialties Construction for the base bid plus alternatives 5 
and 6 in the amount of $2,519,250. He reminded the board that the project 
had been identified in the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for completion in FY 

’23, that funding appropriated in the FY ’23 budget was in the amount of 
$2,640,000, and that the liaison committee recommended awarding the bid to 

Carolina Specialties Construction.  Motion by Commissioner Young, seconded 
by Commissioner Shields, to award the bid to Carolina Specialties 
Construction for the base bid plus alternates 5 & 6 in the amount of 

$2,519,250, and to authorize the County Manager to enter into contract 
negotiations with Carolina Specialties Construction.  Vote was unanimous. 
  
Macon Middle School Track Discussion -  Mr. Roland gave a review of the 

request for this project which was not identified in the CIP, but was identified in 
the FY ’23 School System Capital Outlay Request.  He reported that the liaison 
committee discussed issues with the Franklin High School track including 

numerous attempts to repair the track, inability to hold track meets at FHS, and 
the upcoming planned construction at FHS that would further delay holding 

track meets locally.  Mr. Roland stated the school system has acquired a quote 
which is now over one year old.  Board of Education Chair Jim Breedlove stated 
the track at MMS has been an issue for years as have the funding options.  He 

indicated that the Board of Education will invest grant money they have received 
as well as contingency funds from the MMS locker room project to construct a 

regulation field.  After discussion, it was decided that the Board of Education 
will submit a Request for Proposals (RFP) to receive a formal bid. 
 

Highlands Soccer Field Liaison Report - Mr. Roland gave a review of the 
request for this project, which was not identified in the CIP nor in the FY ’23 
School System Capital Outlay Request.  He indicated that the liaison 

committee discussed the project on October 13, 2022 after a quote for 
$840,000 had been submitted to the Board of Education at its September 26, 

2022 meeting.  Mr. Breedlove said the project was not included in the Capital 
Outlay Request because they were not fully aware of the details of the issues.  
He said the board fully supports the request to resurface the field.  Mr. 

Breedlove said the board was not aware until this meeting that the quote 
received in March 2022 included a warranty.  Commissioner Higdon stated 

that from the agenda it appears there is a need to prioritize the track, soccer 
fields, Pre-K program, and the failing septic system at Nantahala School, and 



Minutes 

10.18.22 
Page 3 of 4 

 

that none of these items were included in the budget request for this fiscal 
year.  Chairman Tate said he sees these items as emergencies for Macon 

County with students missing track and soccer season due to the condition of 
the facilities.  After further discussion, motion by Commissioner Young, 

seconded by Commissioner Beale, to request bids for resurfacing the Highlands 
School soccer field.  Vote 4-1 with Commissioner Higdon opposed. 
 

Architect Recommendation – Highlands Pre-K Project – Mr. Roland 
reminded the board that the project was not identified in the county CIP, but 
that on March 8, 2022 Advance Highlands Education Committee presented a 

Novus Planning Study to the board and on May 10, 2022 the board voted 
unanimously to release a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for architectural 

services.  He said the liaison committee received the RFQ evaluation on 
October 13, 2022 and selected LS3P, and is requesting authorization and 
approval to move forward.  Board of Education member Hilary Wilkes shared 

some details of the estimated costs of the project and included renovations to 
Highlands Middle School.  Superintendent Dr. Chris Baldwin shared 

information about how staff can be funded through private pay students and 
eligible funding programs.  Commissioner Young read the projects and 
concerns that the Board of Education had submitted with their Capital Outlay 

Requests which do not match up with the requests presented tonight.  
Commissioner Higdon said these requests were not in the CIP and are huge 
costs and that we must exhibit better planning.  After additional discussion, 

motion by Chairman Tate, seconded by Commissioner Beale, to authorize the 
county manager to enter into contract negotiations with LS3P for the Highlands 

Pre-K project.  Vote 3-2, with Commissioners Tate, Beale and Shields voting in 
favor of the project and Commissioners Young and Higdon opposed. 

 

Repair and Renovation Fund application – Mr. Roland provided information 
on the fund that was established in 2021 by the North Carolina General 
Assembly as a way to distribute proceeds from the NC Education Lottery to all 

100 counties in equal allotments.  He said Macon County has received the Year 
1 allotment of $300,546.59 (amount includes interest) and that Year 2 is 

estimated to be approximately $500,000.  Mr. Roland stated that the funds 
must be used for repair, renovation, and expansion of classroom facilities and 
that the Board of Education has identified renovations to Highlands Middle 

School as the top priority for this funding in FY ’23.  He indicated that 
Highlands Middle School renovations have been identified in CIP for FY ’27, 

and that some renovations were included in the Highlands Pre-K project, but 
did not include a new roof, windows, flooring and HVAC system.   After 
discussion, motion by Commissioner Beale, seconded by Commissioner Shields 

to submit the Repair and Renovation Fund application to the North Carolina 
Department of Public Instruction (NCDPI) for Highlands Middle School 
renovations.  Vote 4-1 with Commissioner Higdon opposed.  



Minutes 

10.18.22 
Page 4 of 4 

 

 
Other business as needed – None. 

 
ADJOURN:  With no other business, at 8:30 p.m., upon a  motion Commissioner 

Higdon, seconded by Commissioner Young, the board voted unanimously to 
adjourn. 
 

 
 
 

_____________________________    _____________________________ 
Derek Roland      Jim Tate 

Ex Officio Clerk to the Board    Board Chair 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 



















 
 

 

OPERATOR’S HANDBOOK 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Property of Macon County Transit (Macon County) 
 
 
 
 
 



  2   

 
 

Table of Contents 
 

PREFACE .............................................................................................................................. 4 

HOW WE OPERATE ............................................................................................................ 4 

KEY GOALS ......................................................................................................................... 4 

GENERAL STANDARDS OF CONDUCT .......................................................................... 4 

OPEN DOOR POLICY ......................................................................................................... 5 

DUTIES OF OFFICE PERSONNEL TO TRANSIT DRIVERS .......................................... 6 

ADDRESS/TELEPHONE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES .................................................... 9 

EMERGENCIES OR DISASTERS ....................................................................................... 9 

PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS ..................................................................................... 9 

JOB OPPORTUNITIES ....................................................................................................... 10 

OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................................ 10 

CELL PHONE USAGE ....................................................................................................... 10 

LUNCH PERIODS .............................................................................................................. 10 

VEHICLE ASSIGNMENT .................................................................................................. 11 

BOARDING AND DISCHARGING PASSENGERS ........................................................ 11 

PACKAGES AND BAGGAGE .......................................................................................... 12 

CITIZEN COMPLAINTS .................................................................................................... 12 

APPEARANCE AND UNIFORM POLICY ....................................................................... 12 

DISCIPLINARY MEASURES IN REGARD TO NON-COMPLIANCE WITH APPEARANCE CODE 

AND UNIFORM POLICY ...................................................................................................... 13 

PART-TIME TRANSIT DRIVERS AVAILABILITY FOR WORK ................................. 14 

ATTENDANCE POLICY ................................................................................................... 14 

TIME OFF REQUEST ......................................................................................................... 14 

INCLEMENT WEATHER .................................................................................................. 15 

PRE-TRIP INSPECTIONS AND VEHICLE START-UP .................................................. 16 

TRANSIT VEHICLE PARKING AND SHUTDOWN ...................................................... 16 

TOBACCO USE ON VEHICLES ....................................................................................... 17 

DRIVER LICENSE REQUIREMENTS & REIMBURSEMENT ...................................... 17 

OPERATOR’S HANDBOOK ............................................................................................... 1 

Property of Macon County Transit (Macon County) ..................................................... 1 



  3   

UNAUTHORIZED USE OF MACON COUNTY TRANSIT VEHICLES ........................ 17 

FEDERAL COMMUNCIATION COMMISSION (FCC) RULES .................................... 17 

RADIO DISCIPLINE ...................................................................................................... 17 

RADIO FUNCTIONS AND ETIQUETTE ...................................................................... 18 

STATEMENT OF SAFETY ................................................................................................ 18 

ACCIDENT PROCEDURES ........................................................................................... 19 

TO REQUEST POLICE ................................................................................................... 20 

HANDLING CONFLICTS WITHIN THE VAN ................................................................ 20 

KEY PRINCIPLES ................................................................................................................ 20 

WAYS THE DRIVER CAN MODIFY PASSENGER BEHAVIOR ................................................ 20 

DEALING WITH THREATS OF VIOLENCE ............................................................................ 20 

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY ................................................................... 21 

Comments ............................................................................................................................ 21 

Appendices ........................................................................................................................... 21 

APPENDIX A ...................................................................................................................... 23 

LEAVE REQUEST FORM .............................................................................................. 23 

APPENDIX B ...................................................................................................................... 25 

PRE-TRIP INSPECTION FORM .................................................................................... 25 

ACCIDENT FORM ......................................................................................................... 29 

APPENDIX F ....................................................................................................................... 31 

INCIDENT FORM ........................................................................................................... 31 

 
 



  4   

 
PREFACE 
 
Each Transit Operator is to become familiar with the rules and regulations that are 
addressed in this handbook.  It is essential to become thoroughly familiar with its contents 
and with every policy issued.  Instructions may be issued periodically in the form of 
memorandums, bulletins, or Handbook revisions. 
 
Notification of such rules and instructions will, as a general rule, be placed in the Operator 
boxes, on the white board or by email.  All Macon County Transit Policies and Procedures 
are saved on the desk top for all Operators to access. All employees must read all 
memorandums, email in order to stay aware of current policies and procedures.  If any 
doubts exist regarding the exact meaning of any rules or regulation, the employee should 
prompt assistance from the Transit Asst. Director for interpretation and clarity. 
 
Ignorance of any rule or regulation is not an excuse, and each employee is held 
accountable for knowing and adhering to all rules, regulations, and instructions. 
 
HOW WE OPERATE 
 
Macon County Transit operates by providing a high degree of motivation and efficiency in 
our transportation services. This is accomplished by: 

• Having safety on our minds at all times. 
• Providing on-time service to passengers 
• Maintaining a good atmosphere and working together as a team-oriented service. 
• Providing regular feedback on performance 
• Providing the most efficient and safest transportation services to our most 

important resource “Our Passengers.” 
• Following the Macon County Transit policies and procedures. 
• Providing EXCELLENT customer satisfaction. 

 
KEY GOALS 
 

• To provide the safest and most efficient transportation service in the industry. 
• To have the best trained employees in the transportation industry. 
• To operate the most cost effective transportation service. 
• To optimize a return on investment, that will adequately fund our commitment to 

employees and citizens of Macon County. 
• To maintain flexibility to support growth. 

 
 
GENERAL STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 
 



  5   

For the benefit of Macon County Transit and our passengers, all employees shall follow 
these standards to promote a positive relationship with our passengers and to work together 
as a team to fulfill our commitment and goals. 
 
All employees must promptly follow the instructions of their supervisor(s).  If the 
employee feels the instructions given were in error, they are still to follow those 
instructions and seek clarification later. 
 
Employees are required to: 

• Obey all traffic laws. 
• Use seatbelts. 
• Be polite, respectful, and patient. 
• Be honest at all times. 
• Keep dispatch informed of location and situation at all times. 
• Collect all fares, fare cards, and/or passes. 
• Perform all required vehicle inspections. 
• Be punctual for scheduled reporting time. 
• Maintain a professional standard while in performance of duties. 
• Make complete and truthful statements in all reports pertaining to duties. 
• Be neat and clean in appearance and wear regulation uniform while on duty. 
• Always be alert, careful and competent in terms of driving ability and habits and 

perform all work in a safe manner, adhering to the principal that safety is always 
our number one goal. 

• Promptly report to supervisor any traffic citation received, any conviction, and any 
other legal action, including arrest, received on or off duty immediately. 

• Assist in keeping vehicles, work areas and facility areas clean and free of litter. 
• Attend training provided by Macon County Transit.  Failure to attend required 

training may result in suspension from duty, without pay, until training is complete 
and/or disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. 

•  Complete pre-trip/post trip inspection form when using any vehicle.  All defects 
must be promptly and properly reported to the Transit Asst. Director. 

 
 
OPEN DOOR POLICY 
 
You are encouraged to discuss concerns you may have with the Transit Asst. Director.  
This ensures proper communication and allows for an immediate resolution to any 
problems that may occur. 
 
If you feel the Transit Asst. Director is not handling your situation satisfactorily, you then 
have the option to discuss the situation with the next level of management, the Transit 
Director. 
 
Success relies on communication and is important.  By following this chain of command, 



  6   

you will have participated in the communication process.  However, the Transit Director’s 
door is always open. 
 
 
DUTIES OF OFFICE PERSONNEL TO TRANSIT OPERATORS 
All office personnel have the responsibility and duty to instruct any Transit Operator of 
Macon County Transit on operation of equipment and other procedures pertaining to 
his/her job.  The office personnel have the responsibility to regulate the service and to 
issue instructions to Transit Operators of Macon County Transit to ensure that service 
operates in an orderly manner.  The office personnel have the responsibility, when or if 
necessary, to relieve a Transit Operator from duty.     
 
Admin Support Asst. I –  
 
Acts as a receptionist; greets visitors; answers multi-line telephone; provides information regarding available 
transit services; forwards calls to appropriate party; assists the public with the completion of standardized 
records or documents; directs visitors to appropriate party. 
Evaluates and determines eligiblility of funding supplements for transit services for callers/visitors; registers 
new passengers and enters information into data system. 
Notifies Transit Operators of trip cancellations using, automated scheduling software, two-way radios, and/or 
cell phones. 
Receives and verifies passenger fares collected by Transit Operators on a daily basis; receives and documents 
payments from contracting agencies and/or the general public. 
May occasionally be required to operate a transit vehicle on an assigned route and schedule; assist passengers 
entering and leaving the vehicle, when necessary; carries packages for passengers when necessary; operates 
wheel chair lift. 
 
Admin Asst. II 
 
Verifies driver manifests for month end billing; checks items for clerical accuracy and completeness; enters 
information into data system; reviews and verifies timesheets, prepares payroll documents and submits to 
Human Resources for payment. 
Assists the Transit Scheduler/Dispatcher with schedules, answering phones, making appointments for 
passengers, and provides lunch coverage. 
Performs a variety of support and administrative tasks such as ordering supplies and uniforms. 
Assists with the implementation of the  marketing plan for transit services. 
Maintains drug and alcohol files and ensures random testing is conducted and reported. 
Reviews and maintains personnel training records; prepares and submits quarterly and annual reports. 
Enters and submits workers compensation claims; maintains records and files; notifies Transit Director and 
Human Resources of any changes. 
Sells, invoices and collect of payment for the advertising program for MCT vehicles under the direction of 
the Asst. Director and Director 
May be required to operate a transit vehicle on an assigned route and schedule; assists passengers entering 
and leaving the vehicle, when necessary; carries packages for passengers when necessary; operates wheel 
chair lift. 
 
 



  7   

 
Transportation Coordinator 
 
Oversees and provides scheduling and dispatching of vehicles and transit operators. 
Develops daily routes and Transit Operator manifests using automated software. 
Plans and projects routes based on passengers needs; monitors routes for efficiency and effectiveness; 
ensures coordination of trips. 
Coordinates passenger pick-up and drop-off times within allowed timeframes. 
Coordinates route and Transit Operator schedule changes with the Transit Operations Manager. 
Maintains effective working relationships with Transit Operators and Administrative Support Assistant. 
Answers multi-line telephone; provides information regarding available transit services; forwards calls to 
appropriate party. 
Works with contracting agency representatives to schedule transportation for agency clients. 
Notifies Transit Operators of changes and cancellations using automated software, two-way radios and/or 
cell phones.  
Receives and verifies passenger fares collected by Transit Operators. 
May be assigned to manage or coordinate with others on projects relating to Operations of the Transit 
Department. 
Receives inquiries, complaints and service requests and resolves them according to established policies and 
procedures; changes or cancels passenger trips upon request. 
May be required to operate a transit vehicle on an assigned route and schedule; assists passengers entering 
and leaving the vehicle, when necessary; carries packages for passengers when necessary; operates wheel 
chair lift. 
 
Transit Assistant Director 
 
Assists in the recruitment and selection of  operating personnel; assigns, directs, trains and inspects the work 
of operations staff; disciplines, coaches, counsels and evaluates staff performance; assists with developing 
staff schedules; recommends reward, suspension, termination and demotion. 
Responsible for training, orientation and instruction of all operations employees in safe practices and 
procedures. 
Supervises all Transit Operators and Transportation Coordinator;  
Reviews daily schedules for efficiency with Transportation Coordinator prior to distribution to Transit 
Operators. 
Maintains effective working relationships with Transit Director, Transportation Coordinater, Administrative 
Assistant,  and Administrative Support Assistant. 
Maintains confidentiality of all information relating to customers and personnel. 
Assists Transit Director in preparing annual Operating Budget for Transit Department. Recommends to 
Transit Director, number of Operators required to provide service effectively.  
Assists the Transit Director in preparing and submitting grants, related invoices and tracking; enters monthly 
trips for Block Grant payment; prepares quarterly and/or yearly reports as required by the North Carolina 
Department of Transportation. 
Ensures equipment is used properly to meet useful life and recommends replacement. 
Prepares necessary reports, bids, and grants for projects relating to Operations of the Transit Department.  
Performs daily review of trip inspection reports; reports and corrects safety issues; prepares work orders for 
and schedules vehicle maintenance and repair. 
Uses web based software for recording and reporting of vehicle information as well as service, repair, and 



  8   

warranty records. 
Inspects transit vehicles, safety equipment, hatches, windows, doors, wheel chair lifts, etc.to ensure 
cleanliness of vehicles and safe operation of equipment; ensures all vehicles have correct notices required 
information available;  
Investigates and documents incident and accident reports. Prepare documents and reports to be submitted for 
any reportable incident or accident. 
Maintains first aid and fire suppression equipment on all vehicles. 
Operates two-way radio and/or cell phone;  informs Operators of unusual traffic conditions, bus condition, or 
other problems. 
Acts as liaison between Transit Operators, Transportation Coordinator, and Transit Director. 
Resolves passenger and citizen complaints regarding transit service. 
May occasionally be required to operate a transit vehicle on an assigned route and schedule; assist passengers 
entering and leaving the vehicle, when necessary; carry packages for passengers when necessary; operate 
wheel chair lift. 
Serves as the designated Transit Safety Officer and is responsible for planning and conducting safe 
operations for the Transit Department.   
Periodically works extended hours, including weekends, early morning and/or late afternoon/evening. 
 
Transit Director 
 
Researches federal and state sources for available funding assistance; oversees and/or prepares grant 
applications; determines staffing and capital needs; prepares related financial and statistical reports and 
invoices. 
Assigns, directs, trains and inspects the work of departmental personnel; disciplines, coaches, counsels and 
evaluates staff performance; develops staff schedules; recommends reward, promotion, suspension, 
termination and demotion. 
Prepares and administers transit services budget; monitors grant and budget expenditures and revenues. 
Develops and implements department policies and procedures; ensures compliance with government 
regulations; identifies short and long term goals for transit services 
Prepares contracts for contracting agencies; monitors transit contractor performance; provides feedback and 
communication on performance with the contractor. 
Oversees federal and state programs required for public transit including the Federal Transit Administration 
Drug and Alcohol testing, system safety and training requirements, etc. 
Attends the quarterly Macon County Transportation Advisory Board meeting; reports on services and 
recommends grant applications, service changes, etc. 
Develops and oversees the implementation of marketing plans including advertising and public outreach; 
analyzes data and evaluates transit services. 
Serves on a variety of special boards and committees involving transportation issues. 
Coordinates transit services with other transportation agencies. 
Assists with incident and accident investigations, resolving passenger and citizen complaints regarding transit 
service and prepares appropriate reports. 
Serves as Accountable Executive and is responsible for carrying out the Safety Management System of the 
Transit Department including carrying out transit asset management practices; and control or direction over 
the human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain both the Public Transportation Safety Plan, 
in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5329(d), and the agency’s Transit Asset Management Plan in accordance with 
49 U.S.C. 5326.  
 
 



  9   

 
 
 
 
 
ADDRESS/TELEPHONE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 
Employees must keep Macon County Transit advised of their correct and current address 
and telephone number by promptly reporting any changes to the Transit Admin Asst. II.  
 
 
EMERGENCIES OR DISASTERS 
 
In case of a declared state of emergency or disaster situation in Macon County, all vehicles 
and Operators will be at the disposal of the Macon County Emergency Services.  All routes 
will be subject to change depending on the nature and severity of the emergency.  All 
Operators will report to the Macon County Transit office for appropriate dispatching from 
the Transit Director. In the event of an emergency, Macon County Transit is on call 24 
hours a day, by request of the Emergency Management Department. 
 
Macon County Transit will follow the Macon County Disaster Preparedness Plan and fully 
participate as specified in the County Plan. A copy of the plan can be obtained by asking 
the Transit Director or contacting Macon County EMS 
 
It is a requirement that all employees maintain a telephone number for emergency response 
if needed. 
 
All Transit vehicles are required to be parked at the end of the day with a fuel level no less 
than ¾ of a tank. 
 
 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS 
 
Macon County Transit employees will have a job performance evaluation annually as 
required by the Macon County Personnel Policy- located on the Macon County website or 
in the drivers room.  New employees will have an evaluation at months 3 and 6 from their 
hire date in addition to their annual evaluation. Periodic or special performance evaluations 
are subject to determination by the Transit Director. 
 
Macon County Transit employees will receive a completed evaluation sheet at least 
annually, and the immediate supervisor and the employee will sign and date the evaluation 
sheet in the appropriate places after personally reviewing it with him or her.  The employee 
may attach comments to explain or clarify any points made in the evaluation.  It will then 
be filed in the employee’s personnel record in a confidential manner. 
 



  10   

Evaluation results may be used as the basis for promotion, salary actions, demotions, 
suspensions, dismissals, and other actions. 
 
JOB OPPORTUNITIES 
 
Macon County Transit is committed to filling positions with the best-qualified internal 
applicants whenever possible.  All consideration for promotion or transfer to another 
department is based on skills, qualifications and abilities. Job openings will be posted by 
the Macon County Human Resources department.     
 
OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT 
 
The subject of outside employment is addressed in Article V, Section 6 of the Macon 
County Personnel Policy located on the Macon County website. 
 
 
CELL PHONE USAGE 
 
Employees must adhere to all federal, state or local rules and regulations regarding the use 
of cell phones while driving. Transit Operators are not permitted to use cell phones while 
the Macon County Transit vehicle is in motion. Use of cell phones distracts your attention 
from driving safely. The use of a cell phone with an earpiece is also prohibited. Do not 
wear your earpiece while in the driver’s seat. 
 
You may use a cell phone if you are stopped during a period of down time. STOPPED 
does not mean at a red light while in service, stopped in a line behind other vehicles, 
stopped waiting to turn, or waiting behind a stopped school bus. 
 
If the dispatcher requests that you call them, you should stop at an area that is out of the 
flow of traffic and call the office.  
 
The only exception to this policy is the use of a cell phone in a Macon County Transit 
related emergency situation when the radio on the Macon County Transit vehicle is not 
working. Even in an emergency situation, you should make sure that your vehicle is 
stopped to avoid the possibility of an incident/accident. When the emergency situation has 
ended, Operators are expected to turn off their cell phones and put them away. 
 
Anyone seen or suspected of using a cell phone while operating a Macon County Transit 
vehicle is in violation of this policy and may be suspended. Repeated incidents of cell 
phone use while the vehicle is in motion may result in termination of employment. 
 
 
LUNCH PERIODS 
 



  11   

All Transit Operators who are outside of Macon County while transporting passengers 
during lunch periods are considered “on-duty” 11 AM – 2 PM and are not required to show 
this time as a break on your time sheet. Every effort will be made for all full-time 
Operators or part-time Operators working more than seven hours per day to be given a 
lunch period. If necessary, an office staff may relieve the Operator for a lunch break 
 
 
VEHICLE ASSIGNMENT 
 
Vehicle assignments will be made by the Transportation Coordinator while he/she is 
preparing manifests for the next day’s trips.  These assignments are made based on several 
factors which may include: vehicle capacity and/or configuration, specific needs dictated 
by the route, vehicle mileage, utilization, and other factors.  
 
Vehicle assignment will be changed only if there is a mechanical or safety defect that 
dictates the vehicle be placed out of service. If an Operator requests a change in vehicle 
assignment based on a safety defect, the Transit Asst. Director should be notified 
immediately. A final decision on whether or not to change the assignment will then be 
made by the Transit Asst. Director.  Making an intentional false, misleading, or inaccurate 
report of a safety defect in an effort to obtain a different vehicle will result in appropriate 
disciplinary action. The safety of our Transit Operators and passengers is of paramount 
importance to our success. 
 
  
BOARDING AND DISCHARGING PASSENGERS 
 
The following guidelines will be used when boarding and discharging passengers from all 
Macon County Transit vehicles: 

• Always place vehicle in park, set parking brakes, and engage hazard lights when 
passengers are entering or exiting vehicle. 

• Provide passenger assistance from door-to-door. 
• Be patient and courteous. 
• Be sure to collect the appropriate fare or tickets (if needed) 
• Treat all passengers with respect. 

 
• Assist the passenger into a seat and buckle them unless the passenger indicates the 

desire to buckle themselves. 
• When leaving the vehicle to retrieve a passenger, turn off the vehicle and take the 

keys with you.  (Never leave a vehicle running and exit the vehicle with passengers 
on board). 

• Never allow passengers to get up and move when the vehicle is in motion. 
• Never pull away from a passenger’s stop until you have insured every passenger 

and wheelchair is properly secured (all passengers must wear seatbelts, this is not 
an option, no seatbelt, no ride). 



  12   

• Always check your mirrors and clearance around vehicles to ensure all passengers 
have cleared the vehicle before pulling away (at least five feet from vehicle). 

• All passengers under the age of 8 years of age and/or less than 80 lbs will only be 
transported in a booster seat/car seat. This is the law; there are no exceptions to this 
policy. The seat will be provided by the parent/guardian or sponsoring agency. 

 
 
PACKAGES AND BAGGAGE 
 
Packages, articles, and baggage, which because of their size, would restrict free movement 
of passengers or become dangerous or offensive to other passengers are not permitted in 
the vehicle.  All items that are permitted in the vehicle must be placed where it will not 
interfere with the operation of the vehicle or with other passengers. 
 
Transit Operators should not allow passengers to bring more bags into the vehicle than 
they can carry themselves.  Passengers should not expect the Operator to help them carry 
baggage on or off the vehicle (some consideration will go to those passengers that are 
Disabled or Elderly).   
 
CITIZEN COMPLAINTS 
 
Complaints received by Macon County Transit concerning employees unsafe driving 
habits (speeding, reckless driving, running a sign or light, etc) as well as complaints 
concerning inappropriate conduct or treatment toward citizens or passengers, will be 
handled using progressive disciplinary procedures on a case by case basis. All complaints 
will be investigated in accordance with Macon County policy. 
 
 
 
APPEARANCE AND UNIFORM POLICY 
 
Transit Operators are professionals, and must always present a professional appearance 
when in uniform. As uniforms are an important part of Macon County Transit image, 
uniforms shall always be neat, clean, and in good repair. Transit Operators are personally 
responsible for maintaining their uniforms in this condition. 
 
All Transit Operators will be required to sign a detailed receipt for the uniform clothing 
which is issued to them. 
 
Transit Operators are required to be in uniform when performing duties for Macon County 
Transit and/or anytime you are conducting business within the Macon County Transit 
offices.  Proper uniform attire includes (but is not necessarily limited to) the following: 
 
Shirts must be Macon County Transit issued uniform shirts. Undershirts, T-shirts, etc., may 



  13   

be worn UNDER the Macon County Transit uniform shirt and should be white, tan, navy, 
or black in color.  No writing, graphics, slogans, logos, etc., on the T-shirts should be 
visible through the uniform shirt. 
 
Pants must be clean and free of any holes or tears, while being denim, navy, khaki or black 
in color. “Capri” style pants are acceptable but must be hole free and denim, navy, khaki or 
black in color.  
Shorts may be worn but must be clean and hole free, denim, navy, khaki or black and no 
shorter in length than 3” above the knee.  
 
Shoes should have slip-resistant soles.  No open-toed shoes, shoes with heels over 1”, 
boots, or house slippers will be worn with the Macon County Transit uniform. Shoes must 
be kept clean. 
 
Jackets or other outerwear should be Macon County Transit issued apparel.  If weather 
conditions dictate that you wear additional clothing for warmth, any non-issue clothing 
should be worn underneath the Macon County Transit issued jacket. 
 
Hats/caps if worn should be free of political slogans or anything that the Transit Director 
would deem derogatory. 
 
Hair shall be kept washed, neat, and trimmed.  If hair is long, for safety reasons, it must be 
kept tied back or up and out of the eyes.  Unclean hair may not be “hidden” under a cap or 
scarf.  
 
Men with facial hair must report for duty each day neatly trimmed.   
 
Jewelry must be kept to a minimum.  No long chains or necklaces may be worn which 
could become entangled in the steering or lift.   
 
Any Transit Operator who transfers to another department or upon his/her termination of 
his employment with Macon County Transit must return to the Transit Asst. Director, all 
uniform clothing purchased and issued by Macon County Transit. 
 
 
Disciplinary Measures In Regard To Non-Compliance with Appearance Code and 
Uniform Policy 
 
The Appearance and Uniform Policy is provided to all Transit Operators at the time of hire 
and/or when uniforms are issued.  All Transit Operators are expected to understand the 
policy governing appearance and dress that is listed above. 
 
A Transit Operator that is found to be in violation of any section of the Appearance and 
Uniform Policy will be informed to return home and not to report back to work until he/she 
is wearing a complete uniform. Repeated such incidents will result in disciplinary action 



  14   

up to and including the Operator’s termination.  
 
PART-TIME TRANSIT OPERATORS AVAILABILITY FOR WORK 
 
Macon County Transit’s goal is to provide a consistently high level of safe service for our 
passengers and the citizens of Macon County.  As a county department, we are also tasked 
with the burden of accomplishing this mission as efficiently and cost-effectively as 
possible.  As a part-time Transit Operator, an integral part of our team, you will be 
required to supplement our full-time Operator staff, and provide vital support when 
demand for our service is greatest. For this reason, it is imperative that all part-time Transit 
Operators be available for work when needed 
 
 
ATTENDANCE POLICY 
 
Employee attendance directly impacts service quality, morale, and other areas of operating 
efficiency.  If you are absent or late to work, others must become responsible to ensure that 
service to the Macon County community continues uninterrupted.  It is the employee’s 
responsibility to be on the job, on time, every scheduled workday.  Each employee must be 
aware that failure to meet Macon County Transit standards for attendance will result in 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
Provisions for absences are addressed in the Macon County Personnel Policy located on 
the Macon County website and will be followed according to the established guidelines. 
 
 
TIME OFF REQUEST 
 
All employees wanting to request time off from work will be required to complete a Leave 
Request Form.  The leave request form for annual leave should be filed at least 2 weeks 
advance. Any time off for annual leave requested less than 2 weeks will be considered as 
untimely and may be disapproved.  The Transit Asst. Director will notify you of his/her 
decision regarding your request within 3 working days.  The employee should not assume 
that his/her request is automatically approved when submitted.  The employee must 
understand that the day-to-day demands of Macon County Transit may preclude Macon 
County Transit from approving all submitted time off requests. 
 
 
 
TRANSIT OPERATOR CALL-IN FOR NEXT DAY ASSIGNMENT 
AFTER ABSENCE FROM WORK  
 
Following absence from illness, Transit Operators will be required to notify the 
Transportation Coordinator by 12:00 NOON if they will be returning to duty the next day. 



  15   

It is the Transit Operator’s responsibility to contact the Asst. Director. If the Asst. Director 
has not heard from the Transit Operator by 12:00 NOON, the Operator will NOT be 
scheduled for the following day and will be required to use sick or annual leave for the 
day.   
 
INCLEMENT WEATHER 
 
The Transit Director will contact the Macon County Emergency Management Director (or 
designee) at 6:00 am for a recommendation on safe transportation operation for the day.   
 
The Transit Director (or designee) will call the Franklin radio station (WFSC/WNCC) by 
6:30 am with any inclement weather announcements, cancelations or closer will also be 
posted on Facebook.  These announcements may involve complete cancellation of service, 
delay of the start of service, or cancellation of specific routes. A recording regarding the 
availability of transportation services will be available on the main Macon County Transit 
telephone line (828-349-2222) by 6:30 am. Transit Operators should listen to the Franklin 
radio station or call the Macon County Transit main telephone line for information 
regarding service availability. 
 
If inclement weather occurs in midday, the same procedures will apply.  Transportation 
take-home procedures may have to be modified and will be determined by Macon County 
Transit staff. 
 
Since Macon County Transit is a department of Macon County, the administrative office 
opening/closing schedule will follow the Macon County schedule.  
 
When operations are cancelled, Full-Time Transit Operators have the option to report to 
work in the administrative office on the regular County schedule, Part-time Transit 
Operators should not report to work. The Full-time Transit Operator will then be given 
alternate duties. If the Full-time Transit Operator chooses not to report to work, he/she will 
be required to use accrued compensatory time or annual leave as stated in the inclement 
weather policy of Macon County located on the Macon County website. 
 



  16   

 
PRE-TRIP INSPECTIONS AND VEHICLE START-UP 
 
Performing a pre-trip inspection before beginning a route is of the utmost importance in 
safety to Macon County Transit passengers and Transit Operators.  
 
At the beginning of each workday or when transferring to a different vehicle during the 
workday, all Operators will perform a thorough pre-trip inspection of their assigned 
vehicle and note any defects or problems on the Pre-Trip Inspection Form.  Transit 
Operators will notify the Transit Asst. Director of any safety and/or mechanical 
defect/problem that requires immediate attention before leaving Base. If the Transit Asst. 
Director is not available, the Operator must notify him/her as soon as possible.  Pre-trip 
inspection forms that have no noted problems may be submitted at the end of the transit 
Operator’s shift. 
 
During cold weather, the vehicle should not require more than 10 minutes of “warm-up” 
time before beginning your trip.  Obviously, if there is snow or ice on the van more time 
will be required for clearing the windshield, steps, lifts, mirrors and other windows.   
 
Failure to conduct a pre-trip inspection, submit the pre-trip inspection form, may result in 
disciplinary action. Repeated failure to perform these tasks will result in disciplinary action 
up to and including termination of employment. 
 
 
 
TRANSIT VEHICLE PARKING AND SHUTDOWN 
 
All Operators will park transit vehicles in secure parking lot designated for Macon County 
Transit vehicles and will use proper vehicle shutdown procedures when ending their shift.  
All lights, radios, heaters, air conditioning switches, lift switches, and any other electrical 
systems will be turned off upon arrival back to the base, complete the post trip inspection 
form. All doors and windows will be closed and secured, all trash will be removed, the 
vehicle shall be swept and mopped.  
 
The Transit Asst. Director (or designee) will randomly conduct an inspection of all 
vehicles to ensure that they are being properly shut down.  Any vehicle found not properly 
shutdown or pre-trip inspections not conducted correctly will be written up, and the 
Operator will receive written warning/coaching for each violation. Repeated failure to 
perform these tasks will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of 
employment. 



  17   

 
TOBACCO USE ON VEHICLES 
 
The use of tobacco products is prohibited on all Macon County Transit vehicles.  This 
includes all forms of tobacco products as well as the use of “smokeless” products, for 
example, chewing tobacco, snuff, “dipping”, Vape etc.  Failure to comply will result in 
disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of employment. 
 
OPERATOR LICENSE REQUIREMENTS 
 
All Macon County Transit Operators are required to have a valid North Carolina Class C 
Operator’s License. All Transit Operators are required to have their license in their 
possession while on duty.  Macon County Transit reserves the right to randomly check for 
licenses at any time. It is the transit Operator’s responsibility to ensure that these required 
documents remain current and valid.  When license are renewed, a copy of the new license 
must be given to the Transit Admin Asst. II or Transit Asst. Director. 
  
Transit Operators must notify the Asst. Director/Director immediately if they receive a 
citation while driving a Macon County Transit vehicle or their personal vehicle.  
Periodically, a spot check of all Transit Operator’s driving records and licenses will be 
conducted.  Any Transit Operator that does not show a valid Operator’s license will not be 
allowed to work until the appropriate documents are retrieved. 
 
Loss of License: 
Any Transit Operator that receives a revocation, cancellation, loss of privileges, 
suspension, or disqualification must report it to the Transit Director immediately. Any 
failure to make proper notification will result in disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination. 
 
UNAUTHORIZED USE OF MACON COUNTY TRANSIT VEHICLES 
 
All Macon County Transit vehicles are for official county business only.  Employees are 
not to conduct any personal business while in a Macon County Transit vehicle. 
Unauthorized persons are not allowed to ride these vehicles at any time including relatives, 
personal friends, employees who are not on duty, and suspended employees. 
 
FEDERAL COMMUNCIATION COMMISSION (FCC) RULES 
 
All radio communications are under the jurisdiction of the Federal Communication 
Commission therefore Macon County Transit falls under these guidelines. All Transit 
Operators are given training on proper radio communication at time of employment. 
 
RADIO DISCIPLINE 
 



  18   

A radio system is limited by the availability of airtime when it is needed.  If the air waves 
are overloaded with unnecessary radio traffic to the point that vital/important information 
cannot be transmitted, the value of the radio communication system is greatly diminished. 
 
 
RADIO FUNCTIONS AND ETIQUETTE: 

• Transit Operators must answer the radio when called. 
• Transit Operators must sign out (10-7) and in (10-8) when leaving the vehicle for 

longer than 5 minutes. 10-6 (Busy) may be used when leaving to vehicle to check 
on or assist a passenger. 

• Transmissions should not interrupt another transmission. 
• Professional language must be used at all times.  Terms of endearment are 

inappropriate. 
• No profanity will be tolerated/allowed on the radio. 
• Personal or derogatory comments about the public, the system, or any other person 

or agency are strictly prohibited. 
• Radios must be used only to transmit Macon County Transit business. 
• Operators shall not transmit confidential passenger information by radio, including 

the use of first and last names of passengers. When referring to a specific 
passenger, LAST name only must be used. 

 
 
STATEMENT OF SAFETY 
 
Macon County Transit recognizes its responsibility to provide training, proper working 
conditions, and appropriate forums to identify and resolve any safety problems. 
 
Meetings are periodically conducted for the purpose of reviewing safety data and to 
provide an open forum for employees to raise issues concerning safety and to inquire about 
policy. 
 
Macon County Transit requires employees to work without causing injury to themselves, 
passengers, pedestrians, or occupants of other vehicles. 
 
When an accident occurs, it is the responsibility of the employee to report it to their 
immediate supervisor as soon as possible, with all facts available. 
 
 
ACCIDENTS/INCIDENTS 
Employees involved in an accident or incident in a Macon County Transit vehicle must 
immediately check the condition of all passengers, if present, and then call dispatch.  All 
Operators must make a written report by the close of the workday, unless injury prevents 
the Operator from doing so.  Failure to make a report and or notify the Transit Asst. 
Director or Admin Asst. II, except due to injury, will result in disciplinary action, up to and 



  19   

including termination of employment.  All accident and/or incident reports must be turned 
in to the Transit Asst. Director or Transit Director. 
 
For clarification purposes, the following should serve as a guideline in determining 
whether the occurrence is defined as an accident or incident. 
 
Accident – an occurrence where there is physical property damage caused by or to a 
Macon County Transit Vehicle. Examples of an accident include but are not limited to: 
running over objects that cause damages to tires or undercarriage backing into vehicles, 
objects, or property or other occurrences which result in dollar value vehicle damage. 
 
Incident – an occurrence that involves passenger behaviors. Examples of incidents include 
but are not limited to: passenger falls, passenger injuries, difficulties with passengers such 
as use of profanities, throwing objects, etc. 
 
Accidents are evaluated based on the information in your accident report, police report, 
witnesses, and any other pertinent information. 
 
A preventable accident is one in which the Transit Operator failed to do everything he/she 
reasonably could have done to prevent the accident. 
 
A non-preventable accident is an accident where the Transit Operator has no control over 
the situation and any action taken by him/her could not prevent the accident from 
occurring.  
 
When reporting an accident all Transit Operators will report it immediately by radio or 
nearest telephone, if physically able.   
 
Transit Operators are required to report all incidents of passenger falls and injuries etc. as 
soon as possible. 
 
ACCIDENT PROCEDURES: 
 
Stop immediately after contact with any object, whether damage occurs or not, this will 
prevent any further damages and protect you against charges of hit and run. You must 
notify dispatch immediately from the scene, by radio or call the Asst. Director by 
phone. 
 
Any Transit Operators that have an at-fault accident within the first (90) ninety days of hire 
will automatically be terminated from employment with Macon County Transit.  
 
Where an accident involves a wheelchair securement, backing, or preventable accident, the 
Transit Operator may be suspended until an investigation is conducted by his/her 
supervisor. When the investigation is completed and if the Transit Operator is found to be 
at-fault, disciplinary action will be taken, up to and including termination of employment. 



  20   

 
TO REQUEST POLICE 

1. State that you want the police. 
2. State the problem. 

a. Number of people involved 
b. Weapon present or not. 

3. State exact location. 
 
HANDLING CONFLICTS WITHIN THE VAN 
 
Key Principles: 

• Maintain self-control. 
• Listen and respond with empathy. 
• Offer suggestions in question form. 
• Be respectful of others self-esteem. 

 
Ways the Operator Can Modify Passenger Behavior: 

• Stay Neutral. 
• Don’t make it personal. 
• Respect the passenger. 
• Try to understand what pushes peoples’ buttons. 
• Find something to agree on. 
• Offer an explanation. 
• Offer a solution. 
• Divert attention. 
• Try a compliment. 
• Ask a question. 
• Put the issue in the context of safety. 
• Let it go and forget about it. 

 
Dealing with Threats of violence: 

• Stay calm and maintain self control. 
• Try to diffuse the situation. 
• Park the vehicle in a public place and remove the keys. 
• Open vehicle doors. 
• If a weapon is involved do not attempt to grab it. 
• Make assailant feel you are cooperating. 
• If violence is directed towards another passenger, do not intervene, but immediately 

contact Dispatcher. 
• Provide Dispatcher with location and nature of incident, including description of 

assailant and/or any weapons involved. 
• Complete Accident/Incident Report. 
• Notify dispatch as soon as possible. 



  21   

 
 
DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY 
 
Macon County Transit has a Zero Tolerance Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy located in 
the Macon County Transit Policy and Procedures Manual which affects all Macon County 
Transit employees.  The serious consequences of drugs and substance abuse are recognized 
by Macon County Transit and the impact it can have on the safety of employees and the 
public community.  We are committed to maintaining a drug-free workplace. 
 
The manufacture, use, sale, distribution, possession of prohibited drugs, alcohol, drugs not 
medically prescribed, or any other substance which impairs job performance, or poses a 
danger to safety is strictly prohibited and may result in termination.   
 
Upon employment, each employee (full-time and part-time) receives a copy of the Macon 
County Transit Zero Tolerance Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy and is required to sign an 
acknowledgement of receipt. Employment as a Transit Operator for Macon County Transit 
requires a signed consent that you are aware that you can and will be tested for impairing 
substances. 
 
 
Comments 
 
The rules and regulations as set forth in this handbook are believed to be reasonable and 
necessary to provide the public with safe, efficient and high quality service.  Each Macon 
County Transit Operator is expected to read the handbook and if he/she has any issues, 
he/she should contact the Transit Director. 
 
From time to time, as changes occur in operating conditions and procedures and new needs 
arise, it will be necessary to clarify, update or expand various segments of this handbook.  
When changes in the handbook do become necessary, adequate notice will be provided to 
all employees and new revised pages to the handbook will be issued. 
 
 
Appendices 
The following items have been included in this handbook so that you can become more 
familiar with the forms used by Macon County Transit Operators. Please familiarize 
yourself with these forms. 
 

A. Leave Request Form 
B. Pre-Trip Inspection Form 
C. Accident Form 
D. Incident Form 

 



  23   

APPENDIX A 
 
 
 

LEAVE REQUEST FORM 



  24   

 
                          LEAVE REQUEST FORM

NAME:  

DEPARTMENT:    Transit Services

TYPE OF LEAVE Annual Sick Other

 Hours
 Month   Day   Year  Taken   Comments

TOTAL HOURS TAKEN Annual Sick Other

____________________________                                      __________________
Employee's Signature                                                         Date

________ Approved _______ Disapproved ___________________________
Department Head/Supervisor

Employees should submit leave request forms to Department Heads as far in advance as
possible.  Department Heads should submit to the Human Resources Office.

Approved forms must be attached to timesheets.

DUPLICATE AS NEEDED BUT DO NOT USE ANY OTHER FORM
(Revised January, 1998)  



  25   

APPENDIX B 
 
 

PRE-TRIP INSPECTION FORM 
 



  26   

ODOMETER READING DATE
SERVICE DUE MILEAGE VEH #:

Maintenance due within 500 miles   YES   OR   NO 

ENGINE INTERIOR
FLUID LEAKS UNDER VAN GAUGES/INSTRUMENTS/DASH LIGHTS
LOOSE WIRES/BELTS/HOSES INTERIOR LIGHTS/DOME LIGHTS
OIL LEVEL RADIO (TWO WAY)
TRANSMISSION FLUID LEVEL AC & HEAT CONTROLS
POWER STEERING LEVEL INSIDE MIRRORS
BRAKE FLUID LEVEL HORN
RADIATOR/WATER LEVEL SEAT BELTS 
BATTERY & CONNECTIONS CONDITION OF FLOOR

CLEANLINESS OF INTERIOR
VIDEO EQUIPMENT
 

EXTERIOR OF VEHICLE EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT
BRAKES & PARKING BRAKE FIRE EXTINGUISHER
FRONT WINDSHIELD & WIPERS FIRST AID KIT
HEADLIGHTS & PARKING LIGHTS BIO-HAZARD KIT
TURN SIGNALS & EMERGENCY FLASHERS WARNING TRIANGLES
BRAKE LIGHTS WEB CUTTER
MIRRORS BACK-UP ALARM
LEFT FRONT TIRE & PRESSURE HANDICAPPED PLACARD
LEFT SIDE OF VAN   
LEFT REAR TIRE & PRESSURE ACCESSIBILITY EQUIPMENT
REAR OF VAN - WINDOW  (Use N/A if NOT applicable)
TAIL PIPE & EXHAUST OPERATION OF SERVICE DOORS
RIGHT REAR TIRE & PRESSURE ENTRANCE STEPS
RIGHT SIDE OF VAN WHEEL CHAIR LIFT (run 1 complete cycle)
RIGHT FRONT TIRE & PRESSURE BELTS & SECUREMENT DEVICES
CLEANLINESS OF EXTERIOR   
  

NUMBER ITEM AND DESCRIBE DEFECT:

OPERATOR'S SIGNATURE

TRANSIT OPERATOR'S VEHICLE PRE-TRIP INSPECTION REPORT

 



  27   

                TRANSIT DRIVER'S VEHICLE POST-INSPECTION REPORT 

          
√ Indicates OK 

 

Ending 
Mileage         

  

          
   

Lift Count         
  

          
 

EXTERIOR 
  

  BRAKES 
      HEADLIGHTS 

   
SOFT (MUSHY) 

     TURN SIGNALS  
   

SCRAPING 
   

  
EMERGENCY 
FLASHERS 

   
TOO SENSITIVE 

     CLEANLINESS 
        

    
  TRANSMISSION 

   
 

FUEL 
   

NOISY 
      RUNS ON PROPANE 

   
SLOW SHIFT 

     Gasoline Level 
   

  
      Propane level (use N/A if not applicable)   ENGINE 
    

 
  

   
KNOCKS 

    
 

INTERIOR 
   

HARD TO START 
     CONDITION OF FLOOR 

   
MISSING 

      CLEANLINESS 
          SEAT BELTS 
  

  TIRES 
    

 
  

   
FLATS 

      STEERING 
   

LEAKS 
    

 
HARD 

   
DAMAGED 

   
 

SHIMMY 
        

 
FREE PLAY 

        
            NEW DAMAGE 

        
 

EXTERIOR 
        

 
INTERIOR  

        
          
          
 

NUMBER ITEM AND DESCRIBE DEFECT:           
 

 
                

 
 

                
 

 
                

 
 

                
 

          
 

Driver Acknowledgment:  I have personally inspected this vehicle and have indicated areas  
 

 
requiring attention and/or damage found by me.  I understand failure to report an accident or  

 
 

vehicle damage is a violation of Macon County Transit Policy. 
    

          
  

DRIVERS SIGNATURE:         
 

          
 

             OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE:         
 

   
  

      



  28   

√ Indicates OK ODOMETER READING:____________________

EXTERIOR BRAKES
HEADLIGHTS SOFT (MUSHY)
TURN SIGNALS SCRAPING
EMERGENCY FLASHERS TOO SENSITIVE
CLEANLINESS
  
INTERIOR TRANSMISSION
CONDITION OF FLOOR NOISY
CLEANLINESS SLOW SHIFT
SEAT BELTS  
 ENGINE
STEERING KNOCKS
HARD HARD TO START
SHIMMY MISSING
FREE PLAY  

TIRES
NEW DAMAGE FLATS
EXTERIOR LEAKS
INTERIOR DAMAGED

NUMBER ITEM AND DESCRIBE DEFECT:

Acknowledgment:  I have personally inspected this vehicle and have indicated areas 
requiring attention and/or damage found by me.  I understand failure to report an accident or 
vehicle damage is a violation of Macon County Transit Policy.

OPERATOR'S SIGNATURE:

OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE:
 

 TRANSIT OPERATOR'S VEHICLE POST-TRIP INSPECTION REPORT

 

Commented ["G1]: In accurate pre trip form 

Commented ["G2]: Inaccurate post trip form 



  29   

 
 

APPENDIX C 
 
 

ACCIDENT FORM 



  30   

MACON COUNTY 
5 WEST MAIN STREET 
FRANKLIN, NC  28734 

 
 

ACCIDENT REPORT FORM 
 

 
1) Date of Accident:         Time:             am    pm 

 
2) Location of Accident:               

 
3) Description of Accident:              

 
                 
 
                 
 
                 
 
 

4) Name, Address, and Phone Number of Individual(s) involved: 
 

1)                 
 

2)                 
 

3)                 
 

 
5) Reported By:                

 
6) Reported To:                

 
Date:              Time:         am  pm 
 

7) Additional Comments:              
 

                 
 
                 
 
 

ALL ACCIDENTS MUST BE REPORTED TO THE COUNTY MANAGER’S 
OFFICE ON THIS FORM WITHIN 24 HOURS  



  31   

APPENDIX D 
 

INCIDENT FORM 
 



  32   

INCIDENT REPORT FORM 
 
 
Date of Incident:                                Time:                am   pm (circle one) 
 
Individual Involved: (Use backside of form for additional information)  
 
Name: __________________________________________________________________ 
 
Address: _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Phone Number: ____________________________ 
 
Sponsoring Agency (funding source): _____    ___      
 
Was Medical Attention Required?                    YES                                NO 
 
Complete Details of Incident :(Use backside of form for additional information)   
 
______________________________         
                        
                       
 
                                 
 
                         
 
 
Reported To: ___            Date:                    Time:_________        
 
____________________ 
Employee Signature      Date:________ 
 
 
 
_______________________     ________________________      
Assistant Transit Director     Transit Director 
 
 
 
 
 



  33   

  

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  
 

I have received a copy of the Macon County Transit Operator’s Handbook.  
 
I have read this policy and understand its contents as they apply to my employment by the 
Transit Services Department of Macon County.  
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________ 
Employee’s Signature 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 1

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA  
COUNTY OF MACON 
 

AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE RECREATION OPPORTUNITIES 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this the 8th day of November, 2022, by and 
between Macon County (hereinafter "County"), a North Carolina Body Politic and Corporate, 
and Scaly Mountain Historical Society, Inc., (hereinafter "Historical Society"), a North Carolina 
non- profit corporation. 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 THAT WHEREAS the State of North Carolina by way of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-351 
has established the following as policy for the State of North Carolina concerning recreation: 
 

"The lack of adequate recreational programs and facilities is a menace to the 
morals, happiness, and welfare of the people of this State.  Making available 
recreational opportunities for citizens of all ages is a subject of general interest 
and concern, and a function requiring appropriate action by both State and local 
government.  The General Assembly therefore declares that the public good and 
the general welfare of the citizens of this State require adequate recreation 
programs, the creation, establishment, and operation of parks and recreation 
programs is a proper governmental function, and that it is the policy of North 
Carolina to forever encourage, foster, and provide these facilities and programs 
for all of its citizens."; and 

 
 WHEREAS, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-352 provides that "Recreation" means activities that 
are diversionary in character and aid in promoting entertainment, pleasure, relaxation, 
instruction, and other physical, mental and cultural development and leisure time experiences; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 153A-444, the County is authorized to 
establish parks and provide recreational programs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 153A-449, the County is authorized to 
contract with and appropriate money to any person, association, or corporation, in order to carry 
out any public purpose that the County is authorized by law to engage in; and 
 
 WHEREAS, there is a need for recreation opportunities in the Scaly Mountain area of 
Macon County, North Carolina; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Scaly Mountain Historical Society, Inc., (Historical Society), does own a 
building known as the Old Scaly School House, located at 41 Buck Knob Road, Scaly Mountain, 
North Carolina 28775 ( hereinafter referred to as the Old Scaly School House) and does agree 
with County as provided for hereinafter for such facility to be used in part for public "recreation" 
as that term is defined by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-352 and provide recreational opportunities to 



 2

the general public at such location, and County does agree with Historical Society as provided 
for hereinafter to appropriate and provide funds to Historical Society in accordance with the 
provisions of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 153A-449 to carry out the public purpose of providing recreation 
opportunities to the general public at the Old Scaly School House. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE COVENANTS CONTAINED 
HEREINAFTER, THE PARTIES DO HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. That Historical Society shall make the Old Scaly School House, located at 41 Buck Knob 

Road, Scaly Mountain, North Carolina 28775, open and available to members of the 
general public during reasonable days and hours for recreation as that term is defined by 
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-352 for the period between July 1, 2022, and the end of June 30, 
2023, and it shall provide recreational opportunities to the general public at such location. 

 
2. The Historical Society shall perform its obligations hereunder in a nondiscriminatory 

fashion appropriate for public activity and there shall be no discrimination by it on the 
basis of race, sex or religion in its performance of such obligation. 

 
3. County shall pay Historical Society upon the execution of this Agreement the sum of 

$5,000.00 for making the Old Scaly School House open and available to members of the 
general public during reasonable days and hours for recreation as that term is defined by 
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-352 for the period between July 1, 2022, and the end of June 30, 
2023, and for providing recreational opportunities to the general public. 

 
4. Historical Society shall account to County for its expenditures and uses of the monies 

provided by County to Historical Society in accordance with paragraph number three 
above and Historical Society shall use such monies only for the public purpose of making 
the Old Scaly School House open and available to members of the general public during 
reasonable days and hours for recreation as that term is defined by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 
160A-352 for the period between July 1, 2022, and the end of June 30, 2023, and for 
providing recreational opportunities to the general public. 

 
5. Historical Society shall at all times properly maintain the Old Scaly School House in a 

condition for use as a safe place of public recreation. 
 
6. This Agreement shall not be construed to be a lease.  
 
7.  Historical Society is an independent contractor.  
 
8. Historical society shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement property damage  

insurance and liability insurance in amounts as will protect it against any and all 
damages,  liability, loss and claims to the Historical Society, Old Scaly School House, 
appurtenances   and approaches thereto, in any manner caused directly or indirectly by, 
arising from, incident  to, or in connection with its use or occupancy of the Old Scaly 
School House and its  performance of its duties under this Agreement. 



 3

 
9. County may periodically inspect and monitor Historical Society's performance of its 

obligations hereunder. 
 
10. The laws of the State of North Carolina shall control and govern this Agreement.  Any 

controversy or claim arising out of this Agreement shall be settled by action instituted in 
the appropriate Division of the General Court of Justice in Macon County, North 
Carolina. 

 
11. This Agreement may be modified only by written agreement executed by the parties 

hereto. 
 
12. E-VERIFY.  Each Party hereto shall comply with the requirements of Article 2 of Chapter 

64 of the General Statutes.  Further, if any party hereto utilizes a subcontractor, such 
party shall require the subcontractor to comply with the requirements of Article 2 of 
Chapter 64 of the General Statutes. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have made and executed this Agreement the day 
and year first above written. 
 
Scaly Mountain Historical Society, Inc.   Macon County 
 
 
By: __________________________________  By:       
 President       County Manager 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 
  Secretary 
 
PRE-AUDIT CERTIFICATE 
 
 This instrument has been pre-audited in the manner required by the Local Government 
Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 
 
 This the   day of    , 2022 
 
 
______________________________________ 

Macon County Finance Officer 



ifc6 4'  y

47Macon CountyTax Office i     Qf
ti Phone: ( 828) 349- 2149

5 West Main Street f   - drabv maconnc. or

Franklin, NC 28734
t

1. t  ^ AAlL 12o-rb ,*

TO:       MACON COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

FROM:  Macon County Tax Collector' s Office
Delena Raby, Tax Collections Supervisor

DATE:  November 3, 2022

RE:       Releases for October, 2022

Attached please find the report of property tax releases for real estate and personal property that
require your approval in order to continue with the process of releasing these amounts from the
tax accounts. Please feel free to contact me if you should have any questions. The report of
releases in alphabetical order is attached.

AMOUNT OF RELEASES FOR OCTOBER 2022:     682. 34









MACON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

CATEGORY – APPOINTMENTS 

 

 

MEETING DATE:  November 8, 2022  

 

13A.     Planning Board (2 seats) – Please see the attached applications 

from Barry Breeden and Ben Laseter.  Mr. Allen will be present to answer 

any questions. 

 

 

 

    

  

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

         






	BOC Agenda Packet 11 08 22 - Part 2.pdf
	MCT Driver Handbook - 2022.pdf
	OPERATOR’S HANDBOOK
	Property of Macon County Transit (Macon County)


	McGill_Macon_Vertical_Expansion_to_Phase_2_Waste_Area_(RFQ_No._03-4712q).pdf
	A | Introductory Letter
	B | Experience of Firm and References
	C |  Team Organization, Management, and General Qualifications
	D | Individual Qualifications
	E | Insurance Requirements
	F | Proposed Schedule
	G | Non-Collusion Affidavit
	H | Proposed Hourly Rates


	BOC Agenda Packet 11 08 22 - Part 3.pdf
	MCT Driver Handbook - 2022.pdf
	OPERATOR’S HANDBOOK
	Property of Macon County Transit (Macon County)


	McGill_Macon_Vertical_Expansion_to_Phase_2_Waste_Area_(RFQ_No._03-4712q).pdf
	A | Introductory Letter
	B | Experience of Firm and References
	C |  Team Organization, Management, and General Qualifications
	D | Individual Qualifications
	E | Insurance Requirements
	F | Proposed Schedule
	G | Non-Collusion Affidavit
	H | Proposed Hourly Rates


	BOC Agenda Packet 11 08 22 - Part 4 - Reduced.pdf
	McGill_Macon_Vertical_Expansion_to_Phase_2_Waste_Area_(RFQ_No._03-4712q).pdf
	A | Introductory Letter
	B | Experience of Firm and References
	C |  Team Organization, Management, and General Qualifications
	D | Individual Qualifications
	E | Insurance Requirements
	F | Proposed Schedule
	G | Non-Collusion Affidavit
	H | Proposed Hourly Rates


	BOC Agenda Packet 11 08 22 - Part 5.pdf
	MCT Driver Handbook - 2022.pdf
	OPERATOR’S HANDBOOK
	Property of Macon County Transit (Macon County)


	McGill_Macon_Vertical_Expansion_to_Phase_2_Waste_Area_(RFQ_No._03-4712q).pdf
	A | Introductory Letter
	B | Experience of Firm and References
	C |  Team Organization, Management, and General Qualifications
	D | Individual Qualifications
	E | Insurance Requirements
	F | Proposed Schedule
	G | Non-Collusion Affidavit
	H | Proposed Hourly Rates





